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Selected FinanciaI Hightights
(In l4ittions, Except Per Share Amounts)

Year ended September 30, 1999 1998 75570) 1996(1)

Year Ended

December 31,
Three

Months Ended

December 37,1997

Year Ended

September 30,

(As Restated - See Note 19 to consolidated financial statements)

Revenues

0perating income (loss)

Income (toss) from continuing operations

before cumulative effect of accounting change

Income (Loss) from continuing operations

Net income (loss)

Per share of common stock:

Income (toss) from continuing operations

before cumulative effect of accounting change:

Basic

Dituted

Net income (Ioss)

Basic

Diluted

$ 4,546.7

206.8

52.3

52.3

33.3

$ 5,820.6

(117.2)

(280.e)

(280.e)

(2e6.1)

$ 1,449.0

794.0

106.5

106.5

774.2

$ 4,957.9

474.4

171..8

759.7

25.4

$ 4,093.0

427.0

232.3

232.3

303.7

1.06

1.04

.34

.33

.36

.35

76

16

10

10

(.87)

(.87)

57

56

08

08

81

80

(.e2)

(.e 2)

Working capital

Total assets

Total debt

Stockhotders' equity

Total debt/equity ratio

7,329.6

7,039.8

?,874.7

$ 3,071.1

92To

7,569.9

7,632.9

2,770.7

$ 3,165.1

88%

1.,594.6

7,040.3

7,782.6

$ 3,483.4

510k

7,484.8

6,897.1

1,580.0

$ 3,455.7

460/o

7,897.5

5,663.9

1.,774.4

$ 3,163.6

37o/o

Number of shares:

0utstanding at year end

Average during year

329.8

328.2

327.1.

321..7

316.8

376.2

376.5

299.5

289.5

287.7

Number of employees (thousands) 27.3 32.3 33.4 31..6 25.6

Income (toss) from continuing operations

before cumulative effect of accounting change

Nonrecurring items, net of tax (2)

$ 52.3

20.7

$ (280.e)

677.4

$ 106.5 $ 171.8

764.7

$ 232.3

2.7

Operating profit after tax $ 73.0 $ 330.5 $ 106.5 $ 336.5 $ 234.4

Per share of common stock:

0perational net income

Basic

Diluted

$.22$ 1.03

1.01

7.1.2

1.10

$.34$ $ .81

$?2$ $ $$.32 81

(1) Fiscal year (Baker Hughes resutts for the 12 months ended September 30 plus Westem Atlas results for the 12 months ended December 31)

(2) Inctudes merger and acquisition retated costs, spin-off related costs, unusual and nonreNrritrg items.



Cha[[enges and 0pportunities

For Improved Performance

Letter to Stockhotders,

From Joe B. Foster,

Chairman, President and

Chief Executive 0fficer

0n January 28,2000, the Baker

Hughes Board of Directors asked me

to serve as interim chairman, president

and CEO until the appointment of a per-

manent chief executive for the corpora-

tion. I accepted the assignment for a

number of reasons. I was about to retire

as CEO of Newfietd Exploration Company

I had been on the Baker Hughes board

for ten years. And, I strongly betieve

that Baker Hughes has the potential to

response of employees and key man-

agers. There is a great desire at aII levels

of Baker Hughes to effectively serye our

customers and to benefit our stockhold-

ers as we enter a period of increasing

demand in the oilfietd services business.

Baker Hughes faces many challenges

in the year 2000. Forecasters from inside

and outside our company predict a

market recovery, but its timing is

uncertain. 0i1 company consolidations

have resulted in reduced dritLing activi-

ties for the merged entities and have

introduced new dynamics into our rela-

tionships with our clients. Baker Hughes

must plan for growth while maintaining

a low fixed-cost structure. We must

create more value for its stockholders

and its customers.

I do not intend to be merely a care-

taker during this interim. My mandate

from the board is to address issues.

make decisions and improvements. and

gain momentum - not lose it - during

this time. I have been gratified by the

introduce capital-intensive new tech-

nologies while effectively managing our

balance sheet. We must retain our work-

force and be prepared to expand it in a

fult-employment economy. We have cus-

tomer challenges. people challenges,

and financial challenges.

The chairman's leter above contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of

the Secuities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Secuities Exchange Act of 19j4, as amended.

The words "will", "must", "to be", "expect", "is expected to", "should", "would", "believe", and similar expres'

sions are intended to identifu these forward-looking statements. No assurance can be given that acfual results

may not differ mateially Irom those in the forward-looking statements. For a discussion of the factors that could

affect these results, see the section titled "Forward-Looking Statements" in ltem 7 - Management's Discussion

and Analysis oJ Einancial Condition and Results of lperations in Baker Hughes' Annual Report on Form 10-K

contained herein.



I am convinced. however, that Baker

Hughes has the people and the resources

to significantly improve financial perfor-

mance and to take advantage ofthe new

opportunities for growth and profitabil-

ity we expect during the year.

Financial Results

1999 was a difficult year for Baker

Hughes. Low oit prices in the first half
drove drilling activity down 2L% to

record [ows, white the largest major oil
companies consolidated, diverting their
attention from finding oil and gas. In
this environment, Baker Hughes revenue

dectined 22%to $4.5 bittion for 1999,

compared to $5.8 biltion in 1998.

or $(0.92) per share in L998, when

$769.4 million of unusual and nonrecur-

ring charges were taken related to the

Western Attas acquisition and oi[-

field restructuring.

Signif icant Accomplishments

Despite market pressures in 1999.

Baker Hughes achieved some significant

accomplishments during the year. To

size the business to the lower market

volume. Baker Hughes reduced staff
by approximatety 10,000 employees

from peak 1998 levels. and cut nearly

$1 bitlion in fixed and variabte costs.

This included cost savings of $135 mil-

lion achieved after the Western Atlas

A major construction project, to be

completed in the summer of 2000, witt

add roofline to INTEQ's headquarters

to create a Houston Technology Center.

This 15-acre faciUty will have more than

70,000 square feet of research, engineer-

ing and laboratory space, devoted to

Baker Atlas, INTEQ and Baker Oil

Toots programs.

Throughout the wortd, our operating

divisions are sharing service facilities

and administrative offices wherever

appropriate, saving tens of millions

in field operating costs. Collocation

enables experts from our various

product lines to work more closely

together. exchange information on
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Operating profit after tax was

$73.0 million, or $0.22 per share diluted

for the year, compared to $330.5 million,

or $1.01 per share dituted in 1998.

Results were impacted by reduced indus-

try activity, Iower prices and decreased

utilization of fixed overhead, partially

offset by cost reductions.

Bottom Line results in 1999 were

adjusted for a number of non-recurring

items, including a write-off to adjust

capacity at our Western Geophysical divi-
sion. an Internal Revenue Service settle-

ment, and the sale of real estate

properties. Net income for the year was

$33.3 million or $0.10 per share, com-

pared to a net loss of $(296.1) million

merger by combining facilities and

administrative functions.

The merger also has created synergies

between operating divisions that witt

have lasting benefits. Baker Attas and

INTEQ are combining their engineering

and manufacturing organizations to
develop. test and build their comple-

mentary software. electronic and forma-

tion evaluation systems. With a Leading

position in cased hole togging services,

Baker Atlas also has developed impor-

tant synergies with Baker Oil Tools prod-

uct lines for workover, stimulation and

production enhancement.

client needs, and share ideas on provid-

ing more complete technology sotutions

to meet them.

Product Line Focus

While Baker Hughes discovered many

synergies in 1999. the company renewed

its commitment to focus on its strong

product lines. Throughout my career, I
have noticed that the most successfui

businesses have maintained strong focus

on a particular technology. geographic

area or customer area. Our simple orga-

nizational structure, unique among the
major oilfield service companies, is

comprised of divisions that concentrate

on the specific areas of activity that
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Baker 0il Toots increased its sand

control business with two new tech-
nology vessets, and buitt synergy with
Baker Attas cased hote seruices.
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occur over the life of an oil or natural

gas fietd - namety, seismic services,

drilUng systems, drill bits, formation

evaluation, completions. electric sub-

mersible pumps, and specialty chemicals

Technology focus in defined areas

has helped Baker Hughes maintain

strong market positions in an adverse

market, with most oilfietd divisions

delivering solid performance over the
past year.

For exampte, Baker Oil Tools gained

market share in the GuIf of Mexico by

introducing two sand control and frac-

turing vessels, the Republic lide and the

R.C. Baker. The new technology vessels

augmented Baker Hughes' leadership in

exploration wetts in deepwater prospects

off Angola.

Baker Petrolite became a leading

speciatty chemical provider to the deep-

water market by supplying chemical pro-

grams to assure flow and prevent

corrosion at important development

fields in Eastern Canada and the Gulf

of Mexico. Baker Petrolite revenues

and operating margins improved both
sequentially and year over year in the

fourth quarter, based on improvement in
North America.

Shared Services

\4lhile our strategy depends on

distinct product lines, we also under-

sourcing effort now has all U.S. busi-

ness units using common suppliers for

15 major commodities.

Based on current market conditions

and to ensure a more orderly phase-in

of the SAP processes. we have adjusted

our implementation plan for the rest of
the company. More than half ofthe
potential benefits from the project are

expected to be gained at Baker Oit Tools,

INTEQ, and Baker Atlas. so worldwide

impiementation witl be accelerated in
these divisions to achieve these effi-
ciencies as quickty as possibte. Project

Renaissance implementation for Western

Geophysical. Hughes Christensen and

Centrilift wiII be delayed untit 2001.
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deepwater completions and contributed

to year on year growth in the sand con-

trol product line.

Hughes Christensen's activity showed

strong recovery in the fourth quarter.

particularly in North America, with

strong customer demand for its

Spectrum@ line of apptication-specific

dritt bits.

Baker Atlas also finished 1999 with

a strong fourth quarter. based on

improved cased hole activity and firming
prices in North America. Baker Atlas

scored technical and marketing suc-

cesses with its fluid sampling and wire-

line logging services by logging 8 of 13

stand the need to reduce our costs in
supporting them. Baker Hughes Business

Support Services. Iaunched in the

first quarter. has combined accounting,

information technology and payroll

functions into a single group of 175

employees who serve corporate head-

quarters and five operating divisions.

Project Renaissance

Our process redesign and SAP

implementation initiative, Project

Renaissance, proceeded on schedute

in 1999, with 3,500 U.S. employees at

164 Baker OiI Toots and INTEQ locations

using the new system and new business

processes at year-end. The strategic

Baker Vatue Added

In 1999, Baker Hughes adopted

Baker Value Added (BVA), a financial
performance measure that integrates

operating results with the balance sheet

and measures performance in relation to

the cost of invested capital. Baker

Hughes now applies BVA to evatuate all

significant investments and to measure

the performance of individual business

units. During 1999, Hughes Christensen

and Centrilift were BVA positive. that is,

they returned their cost of capital for

the year. Indeed. we must do a better
job of recognizing the cost of capital in

running each of our businesses.
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INTEo is a leader in the growing
rotary steerable dritting market
with its Autolrak! system.
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0utlook
In the first hatf of 1999, oil prices

sank near $11 per barrel and oitfield

service activity declined to historic

Iows. By the fourth quarter, oil prices

had recovered and have remained com-

fortably above $20 per barrel. Aside from

gas dritling in North America, oil compa-

nies still have not re-invested their cash

flows to substantially revive their explo-

ration and production programs. We

betieve that this will change by the sec-

ond half of 2000, when oil companies

will resume their devetopment in off-
shore and international markets where

Baker Hughes technologies add the

most value.

customers' approaches toward relation-

ships with suppliers. Our largest cus-

tomers have consotidated into Super

Majors, and more than ever they are

using their global size and market power

to seek economies of scale and pricing

concessions. We expect the other majors

and independent oil companies to

increase their activity more quickly,

particutarly in North America, while

retaining a much lower cost structure.

As activity levels improve, we must be

disciplined in our efforts to recover our

costs and to restore adequate levels of
profitability. And we must be diligent in
continuing to provide premium quatity

and service.

IMEQ's new president, Ray Ballantyne,

has refocused the unit on executing its

business plan and has engaged the orga-

nization in improving performance

throughout the division. The accounting

probtems announced in December have

been resotved, and the division is insti-
tuting better management controls.

INTEQ's measurement-while-dritting

business is expected to gain market

share in 2000 with introduction of new

nuctear and acoustic Logging technology

as well as through access to Baker Atlas'

formation evaluation expertise. The divi-

sion made significant investments

in its AutoTrak@ system in 1999, which

allowed for global deployment and
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The pending recovery will not happen

for all of our product lines at once. We

expect our drilling-retated products and

services to gain momentum first, with
completion and production lines to

recover by the third quarter and the
seismic sector beginning to grow in the
fourth quarter. Timing will be critical,

and our organization must be ready to
respond when our customers' programs

resume. This can be a precarious bal-

ance. We must retain an adequate com-

plement ofpeople during this uncertain
phase of the rycle without carrying

unnecessary costs.

We must deal with a fundamental

shift in our customer base and in our

Opportunities
We see solid opportunities for

improved performance in 2000. Year-end

surveys of oil company E&P budgets

indicated that spending would be up

around 10% in 2000 compared to 1999

levels. Already some of our larger cus-

tomers have said that - with sustained

higher oiL prices - they would spend

more than they originally ptanned.

The increased funding should hetp revive

dritting in deeper, offshore, directional,

and international wells, where Baker

Hughes is a market leader.

In 2000, we expect the biggest

improvements to come from our INTEQ

and Western Geophysical divisions.

acceptance of this new technotogy.

With next generation technology in fietd

triats, INTEQ should solidify and profit
from its lead in the growing rotary steer-

able market. Finally, atl INTEQ

product lines should benefit from the

resurgence in offshore, directional, and

horizontal drilting.
Western Geophysical and the entire

seismic industry suffered in 1999, with
the sector's revenue dropping 25o/o from

1998 levels. Pricing plummeted along

with the seismic crew count, and the

industry as a whole tost $500 million
for the year. Under Gary Jones, Western

Geophysical has responded by withdraw-

ing 16 seismic vessels ftom service,
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The'innovative F0RMation
JunctionrM from Baker 0it Toots

is a breakthrough in muttitaterat
completions. Western GeophysicaI

is a leader in seismic data process-

ing and mutti-ctient data
[icensi ng.



reducing overhead and restructuring

the organization to improve focus on the
company's worldwide marine, Iand, and

data processing service lines. The com-

pany. which has one ofthe largest and

most attractive data libraries in the

wortd. witt continue to invest in a num-

ber of multiclient suweys, especially

when oil companies subscribe in advance

to purchase the data.

In my many dealings with Western

Geophysical as a purchaser of seismic

data. I have always been impressed by

the technology and professionalism that
have made the company the premier

seismic service supplier. I am confident

that Western Geophysical has the talent,

In February 2000. we announced

our decision to sell the Baker Process

division and to classify it as a discontin-

ued operation. We have retained Credit

Suisse First Boston to manage the sale

process. Baker Process is a leading sup-

plier of equipment for Liquid/sotid and

tiquid/Uquid separation in the environ-

mental, chemical. minerats, pharmaceu-

ticat, municipai, oilfietd, and refining
markets. l,fhile Baker Process is an excel-

Ient company. it has few s5mergies with
the rest of Baker Hughes. We wilt be a

patient seller and witt wait for a fair
offer. The sale of Baker Process wili per-

mit us to reduce debt and focus more

intenseiy on what we do best: provide

Iead Baker Hughes. In the meantime.

I will do my best to push for simple

results: value to the customer and vatue

to stockholders.

In closing, I express my appreciation

to the dedicated employees who have

stuck with Baker Hughes through the

downturn, made sacrifices, and who

are now bringing the company into
recovery. Their hard work has kept our

operations focused on delivering value

to our customers. I have challenged the

organization to double pre-tax earnings

in 2000 to create more value for stock-

holders, as well. While its attainment is

subject to factors in the marketplace

beyond our control, this is a tough.
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technology, and the focus to maintain

this position as the seismic industry

recovers late in 2000.

During 2000, we intend for Baker

Hughes to become a more focused oil-
field services company. In January 2000,

we placed all of our oilfield service divi-

sions. including both the Discovery and

Recovery Groups, under the direction of
Andy Szescila. We believe this wilt result

in better interaction among the vari-

ous divisions and provide a clearer

Baker Hughes message to our employ-

ees and clients.

high quaUty products and services to

the oil and gas industry.

The search for a new chief executive

is another significant opportunity for
Baker Hughes. The search committee is

comprised of board members Victor G.

Beghini, Richard D. Kinder, H. John

Riley, Jr. and Charles L. Watson - att of
whom are or have been CE0s of success-

ful companies. They have a deep under-

standing of the kind of leadership Baker

Hughes requires in today's competitive

market. Baker Hughes is a strong com-

pany, and it will attract strong candi-

dates. The committee witt take the time

necessary to find the right person to

but achievable goai. I believe we have a

reasonable chance to meet or exceed it.
Baker Hughes is a great company.

I am honored to be part of it, during

this interim period. I ptedge to do what

I can to make it a greater. and more

profitable, company.

Sincerely,

Joe B. Foster,

Chairman, President and

Chief Executive 0fficer
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PART I

ITEU 1. BUSINESS

Baker Hughes Incorporated ("Baker Hughes" or the "Company') is a Delaware corporation engaged in the oiUield and process

industries. In addition, the Company manufactures and sells other products and provides services to industries that are not related
to the oiUietd or continuous process industies. Ttre Company conducts certain of its operations throughjoint ventures, partrrer-

ships or alliances.

Ihe Company was formed in connection with the combination of Baker Internationat Corporation and Hughes Toot Company that
was consunmated on April3, 1987. The Company acquired Western Atlas Inc. ("I/Vestern Atlas") in a merger (the "Merger') compteted

on August 10, 1998. As used herein, the "Compan/ refers to Baker Hughes Incorporated and its subsidiaries, unless the context
clearly indicates otherwise.

For additional industry segment information for the two years ended December 31,7999, the three month period ended
December 37,7997 and for the one year in the period ended September 30, 7997, see Note 13 ofthe Notes to Consolidated Financiat
Statements in Item 8 herein.

0itftetd

Ttre Company is a leading supplier of reservoir-centered products, services and.qlstems to the worldwide oil and gas indusfry.
Ttrrough its eight oilfietd service divisions, the Company provides equipment, products and services for oil and gas exploration,
drilting, completion and production of oil and gas we[s.

Balcer Atlas. lhe Company, through its Baker Attas division, is a leading provider of a broad range of well logging and data analysis

services for various phases of drilting and production. In well-logging, the Company places an instrumentation package in the oit and
gas well bore. this instrumentation equipment measures rock and fluid propefies of subsurface geologic formations. Erom these

measurements, the Company produces graphs of the measurements, known as well togs, that are reviewed to determine the extent to
which oit and gas may be found in the well. lhe Company uses new-generation high-resolution logging insEuments, coupled with
faster data transmission techniques, to provide for the transfer oflarger amounts of data from the borehote to the surface in tess

time. Ttrese new generation tools, used in combination with other logging instuments and sensors to obtain simultaneous multiple
measurements, have often resulted in more 4ccurate reservoir evaluation while reducing logging turnalound, and consequently low-
ering dritting costs and risks. Ihe Company's largest competitors in this market include Schtumberger Limited ("schlumberge/') and

Halliburton Company ("Haltiburton").

Baker Attas and the Companfs Baker OiI Tools division also provide wireline and tubiirg conveyed perforating sewices, respec-

tivetV, to provide paths through the casing and cement sheath in wells so that oil and gas can enter the well bore from the forma-
tion. Perforating competitors include Schlumberger and Halliburton.

Baker lil lools. The Company, through its Baker OiI Tools division, is a leading provider of completion, workover and fishing
equipment and services. Its product lines include packer systems, fishing senrices, tiner hangers, sand control, service tools and

subsurface safety rystems. Packers are used in the well hole to seal the space between the production tubing and the casing, to
protect the casing from resewoir pressurcs and corrosive formation fluids, and to maintain the separation of productive zones.

Casing is steel pipe used in the outer perimeter inside of the wett bore to keep the watl of the hole from caving in, to prevent

fluids from moving from one formation to another, and to improve the efficiency of extracting petroleum from productive wells.

Production hrbing is the pipe through which the oil and gas flows from the producing zone under the ground to the surface of
the well. The Company has recently offered its customers new technology, including multi-lateral comptetion systems and remote

actuated, downhole completion tools. Ttre Company believes that it is a teading wortdwide producer of packers and that its princi-
pat competitors for sate ofpackers are Halliburton, Schlumberger and llleatherford International Inc. ("1/Veatherford").

the Company provides fishing services using speciatized toots to t6cate, distodge and retrieve twisted off, dropped or damaged
pipe, tools or other objects from inside the well bore, potentiatty hundreds or thousands offeet under the ground. The Company's

major fishing compedtors are Weatherford and Smith International, Inc. ("Smith").

The Company also provides inflatable and mechanical packers that its customers use in testing the potential of a well during
the dritling phase prior to installation of casing, and under-reamers, which enlarge the well bore at any point below the surface to
form a production cavity. In addition, the Company provides whipstock and mitting toots that are used to mitt windows in the cas-

ing to dritt sidetack wells or multi-laterat wetls.
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ftre Company manufactures and sells liner hangers. The Compant's customers use these toots to suspend and set stings of cas-

ing pipe in wells, The Company believes that it is a leading worldwide producer of tiner hangers and its primary competitor in this
area is Weatherford.

Ttre Company offers sand controt products and services.that prevent sand from entering the well bore and reducing productiv-

ity. Major sand controt competitors inctude Schtumberger antl Haltiburton. Certain of the Company's sand contol products and ser-

vices (gravel packing) also compete with frac-pack services that pressure pumping companies, such as BJ Services Company,

Schlumberger and Halliburton, provide.

Ttre Company also provides other comptetion, remedial and production products and services, including controt qTstems for sur-

face and subsurface safety valves and surface flow tines and flow regulators and packers used in secondary recovery waterflood

projects. Ttre Compant's primary competitors for these products and services are Halliburton and Schlumberger.

Baker Petrotite. Ttre Company, through its Baker Petrotite division, is a teading provider of oitfietd specialty chemicals and inte-
grated chemical technology solutions for petroleum production, transportation and refining. Chemicals that the Company provides

include specialty chemicals that production segments of the petoleum industry use, as wetl as industriat chemicals that cus-

tomers use in refining, wastewater treatment, mineral handting and cooling and boiler water processes. The Company also pro-

vides chemical technotogy solutions to other industrial markets throughout the world including petochemicats, fueI additives,
ptastics, imaging, adhesives, steel and crop protection. Ttre Company believes that its primary competitor is the Nalco-E:q(on joint
venture. The Company designs and manufactures systems for the teatment of produced water and its reinjection.

Centrilift. The Company, tfuough its CentriUft division, is a leader in technology for oilfield electric submersibte pumping

GSn systems, which help raise oil to the surface. these pumping systems consist of an electric submersible pump placed inside

the oil well near the productiv6 formation, power and control cables between the pump and the surface, and a surface contol sys-

tem. The Companf manufactures the criticat components of the qTstems, inctuding variable speed motor contollers and specialty

armored power cables designed for offietd use. the Company has recently offered its customers new technology, inctuding down-

hote hydrocyctone oil,/water separation systems. Its major competition in ESPs is Schlumberger.

E&P Solutions. The Company, tfuough its E&P Solutions division, has acquired equity positions in oil and gas properties and

functions as the operator of some of these properties. The.Company has acquired many of these oil and gas interests, at the request

of its customers, in connection with providing its customers products and services. The Company is organized into project teams of
geophysicists, geologists and reservoir engineers that offer a wide range of experience in e:rploration and production techniques,

inchaing integrated geoscience, nrbsurface analysis, reservoir characterization, economic and risk anatysis, dritting recommenda-

tions, and project management and implementation. Itre Company provides services for project management and the integration of
products and services from the Company and other service providers. Halliburton and Schlumberger are the principal competitors

with this capabitity.

Hughes Clvistensen. Ttre Company believes that, through its Hughes Christensen division, it is a teading manufacturer and

marketer of Triconeil rolter cone drill bits and potycrystaltine diamond compact (PDC) fixed cutter bits for the worldwide oif gas,

mining and geothermal industries. lhe Company betieves that its principal competitors in this iuea .ue Smith, Halliburton and

Schlumberger for oil and gas applications, and Smith and Sandvik for other applications.

Baker Hugha IILTEQ. Ttre Company, tfuough its Baker Hughes IMEQ division, believes, that it is a leading supptier of directional

and horizontat drilling seryices, drilting fluid sSrstems, coring sewices, subsurface surveying, togging-while-drilting, and measure-

ment-white-rlritling services to the oil and gas industry. The Company provides products and senrices that its customers use to drilt
oil and gas wells. Ilany ofthese wells are not straight into the ground, but rather are guided on planned kajectories towards

potential oit and gas resewoirs. these cuwing well bores are horizontat or directional wells. lhe Company's speciatized positive

disptacement downhole motors help operators to steer the well bore while drilting into pay zones using conventional directional

drilling, measurement-while drilling, logging-while-drilting and directional drilting services. A full range of measurement-while-

dritling and togging-while-drilting qlstems provided by the Company use mud-pulse telemdtry to detiver real-time downhole infor-
mation on the dri[ing process anil physical features down in the hole. Mud-pulse telemetry uses encoded pressure pulses sent from

instruments near the tldll bit and decoded by a computer at the surfaqe of the well. This information is use{ to steer the dritl bit
towards geotogic formations that are more tikely to produce oil and gas. The Erstems are availabte for a wide rarrge of applications,

from directionat-onty drilting through real-tirne logging-while.drilling. In logging-while-drilting, information from the dritting
assembty is corweyed to the surface, measured and graphed on a tog for analysis. The Company has recently offered its customers

new technology, including the rotary closed-toop alri[ing Erstem, which combines a downhole guidance Erstem and togging-while-

driiling sensors to guide the well bore to programmed targets without using a downhote motor. lVith regard to these products and

services, the Company competes principallywith Haltiburton and Schtumberger.



The Company atso produces and markets dri[ing fluids (muds) for oil and gas well drilling, as well as chemical additives and
specialty chemicats, and provides technicat services in connection with their respective formulation and use. Dritting fluids, that
are usuatly comprised of barite and bentonite combined with other chernicals in a water, chemical or oil base, are used to clean
the bottom of a hole by removing cuttings and transporting them to the surface, to cool the bit and dritl string, to control forma-
tion pressures and to seat porous wetl formations. Ihe Company also furnishes on-site, around-the-ctock laboratory analysis and
examination of circutated and recovered drilling fluids and recovered dritt cuttings to detect the presence ofhydrocarbons and
identifu the formations penetrated by the ddlt bit. The Company's princlpal competitors with regard to these products and services
are Smith and Halliburton.

Western GeophysicaL lhe Company, t}rough its Western Geophysical division, is a leading provider of seismic data acquisition and
processing services to assist oil and gas companies in evalua'ting the producing potential of sedimentary basins and in tocating pro-
ductive zones. Seismic data are acquired by producing a sound wave. The sound wave moves through the qround and is recorded by
audio instruments. The sound waves on the recordings are then anatyzed to determine the characteristics ofthe geologic formations
through which they moved and the extent that oit and g:as may be kapped in or moving through those formations. Ttris anatysis is
known as a seismic ilrve5l. Ttre Company conducts seismic surveys on tand, in deep waters and across shallow-water transition zones
worldwide. Itrese seismic swveys encompass high-resolution two-dimensional and three-dimensiona[ suweys for detineating orplo-
ration targets. They also may integrate seisrnic data with'information derived from the we[ bore to describe petophysical properties
ttuoughout a reservoir. lhe Company also conducts time-tapse four-dimensional seismic surveys for monitoring reservoir fluid move-
ment over time. Seismic information can reduce field development and production costs by reducing turnaround time, towering
drilting risks and minimizing the number of wells necessary to orplore and develop reservoirs. Ttre Company's major competitors in
provrding these services are Schlumberger, Compagnie G6n6rale de Geophysique, Veritas DGC, Inc. and Petroleum Geo-Services ASA.

Process

Ihe Company has announced its intention to sell its Baker Process division. Itre Company, through its Baker Process division,
provides a broad range.of separation equipmentand systems to concentrate product or separate and remove waste material in the
mineral, indusbiat, pulp and paper and municipat industies. Ihe Company's product lines include vacuum fitters (drum, disc and
horizontal belt), filter presses, belt presses, granular media filters, thickeners, clarifiers, flotation cells and aeration equipment.
Ttre Company's principal competitors for sales for mineral and industrial apptications are Ikauss Maffei, 0utokumpu and Svedata;
the Company's principal competitors for sales for municipal applications are Vivendi and Walker Process; and the Company's princi-
pal competitor for sates for pulp and paper applications is Ahlstom.

The Company designs and manufactures process solutions for the oilfietd and refinery markets. These solutions inctude equip-
ment for the processing and conditioning of seawater for injection, desalting oil steams and separating oil from water in oil pro-
dustion streams, with products consisting offine filters, coarse filters, nutshell filters, flotation units, hydrogrclones, coatescers,
deaeration towers, etectrochtorinators and electrostatic desalters. The primary competitors in this area are Kvaerner, Serck Baker
and Vivendi.

ltre Company manufactures a broad range of continuous and batch centrifuges and speciatty filters which are each widely used
in the municipal. industrial, chemical, minerals and pharmaceutical markets to dewater or classiff process and waste steams. Ihe
Company's principal competitors in its continuous centrifuge product tine are Alfa-Lava/Sharples, Tomoe and Ftottweg. there are
numerous smatl and large companies that compete in the batch centrifuge and filter product lines.

The Company provides parts and service for alt of its process equipment product lines through a gtobal network of personnel
and facilities sbategically tocated to sewe the customer community. Ttre Company also offers facilities operation services for
processes that utilize many of the Company's process equipment product and service lines.

Marketing. Competition and Economic Conditions

the Company markets the products of each of its principal industry segments primarity through the Company's own sales organi-
zations on a product tine basis, although certain of its products and services are marketed through suppty stores, independent
distributors or sates representatives. Ihe Company ordinarily provides technical and advisory services to assist in its custome/s use
ofthe Compant's products and services. Stockpoints and service centers for oilfield products and services are located in areas of
dri[ing and production activity throughout the world. ltre Company markets its oilfietd products and services in nearly all of the oit
producing countries. Stockpoints and service centers for process products and services are located near the Company's customers'
operations, and the Company markets process products and services throughout the world. In certain areas outside the United
States where direct product sales efforts are not practicable, the Company udtizes licensees, sates representatives and distnbutors.
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Ihe products of each of the Company's principat industry segments are sold in highty competitive markets, and its reverures iutd

earnings can be affected by changes in competitive prices, fluctuations in the level of activity in major markets, generat economic

conditions and governmental regutation. The Company competes effectively with the oit and gas indusbrt's targest integrated oil-
field service providers. Ttre Company believes that the principal competitive factors in the industries that it serves are product,and

service quality, avaitabitity and retiability, health, safety and environmental standards, technical proficienry, and price.

Further information concerning marketing, competition and economic conditions is contained under the eaption "Business

Environment" in "Item 7. llanagement's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations".

International 0perations

Ttre Company's operations are subject to the risks inherent in doing business in multipte countries with various legal and polit-
ical policies. These risks inctude war, boycotts, political. changes, expropriation, currenclfrestictions, taxes and changes in cur-

rency exchange rates. Atthough it is impossible to predict the likelihood of such occurences or their effect on the Company,

management believes these risks to be acceptable. However, there can be no assurance that an occurrence of any one ofthese
events woutd not have a materiat adverse effect on its operations.

Research and Devetopmeng Patents

The Company is engaged in research and development activities directed primarily toward improvement of existing products and

services, design of specialized products to meet specific customer needs and devetopment of new products and processes. For infor-
mation regarding the amounts of research and development s(pense for the two years ended December 31, 1999, the three month
period ended December 37, 1997 and for the year ended Septemb er 30, 7997 , see Note 17 of the Notes to Consotidated Financial

Statements in Item 8 herein. Research and devetopment e:rpense for Baker Process for the two years ended December 31, 1999, the
three month period ended December 31, 7997, and for the year ended September 30, 1997 is $1.5 miltion, $2.7 miltion, $2.1 million
and $2.0 million, respectively.

The Company has fotlowed a poticy of seeking patent protection both inside and outside the United States for products and

methods that appear to have commerciat significance. The Company betieves its patents and trademarks to be adequate for the
csnduct of its business, and while it regards patent and trademark protection important to its business and future prospects, it
considers its established reputation, the reUability of its products and the technical skills of its personnel to be more important.
Ttre Company aggressively pursues protection of its patents against patent infringement wortdwide.

Business Developments

0itfietd

OiUietd 0perations consists of eight operating divisions: Baker Atlas, Baker Hughes IMEQ, Baker Oil Tools, Baker Petrolite,
Centrilift, E&P Solutions, Hughes Christensen and Western Geophysicat.

In August 1998, the Company completed its acquisition of Western Atlas, which specializes in land, marine and transition-zone
seismic data acquisitions and processing services, well.-togging and completion services and reservoir characterization and project

management seryices. With the combination of the Company and Western Atlas, the Company has enhanced its strategic position

in providing integrated "tife of field" and "reservoir managemenf retated products and services. Itrese products and services span

the planning, e:rploration, devetopment and production phases of an oil and gas reservoir, integrating the Company's drilling,
completion and production technologies with Western Atlas' reservoir information technologies. During 1999, the Company has

focused its efforts towards achieving its goals arising from its acquisition of Western Atlas.

Process

Baker Process provides separation technologies, continuous process solutions and centrifuges and filters for the minerat,
intlustrial. pulp and paper, municipal and petroleum industries. In February 2000, the Company announced its intention to sell
Baker Process to focus the Companls attention on its oilfield businesses.



Employees

At December 37, Tggg,the Company had a total of approximat ely 27,326 employees, of which approximately 1,653 were attrib-
utable to the Baker Process division, as compared to approximatety 32,300 emptoyees at December 31, 1998 and a 1998 peak of
approximately 36,500 emptoyees in May 1998. Approximatety 1,940 employees at December 31, 1999, of which 345 were attribut-
able to the Baker Process division, were represented under collective ba:gaining agreements that terminate at various times
through November 2003. Itre Company believes that its relations with its employees are satisfactory.

Exeortive Officers

The following table shows as of March 7, 2000, the name of each executive officer of the Company, together with his age and
atl offices presentty hetd with the Company.

Name of Individual Age

Joe B. Foster 65 Chairman ofthe Board, President and ChiefExecutive 0fficer since January 2000" Chairman ofthe
Board of Nervfield Exploration Company since 1989. President ofNewfield Exploration Company from
1989 to January 2000. Emptoyed January 2000.

Andrew J. Szescila 52 Senior Vice President ofthe Company since July 1997 and President, Baker Hughes 0itfield
Operations since January 2000. Vice President ofthe Company from 7995-7997; and President of
Hughes Christensen Company from 1989-1997: President, BJ Services Internationat, 1987-1988; and
President, Baler Service Toots, 1988-1989. Employed 7973.

George S. fidey 49 Senior Vice Prebident since 1995; Chief Financial 0fficer since May 1999; and Chief Administrative
Officer of the Company from 1995-1999. Conuoller of the Company, 7987-7993; Vice President of the
Company, 1990-1995; and Chieflinancial 0fficer of Baker Hughes 0ilfietd 0perations, 7993-7995.
Empl.oyed 1982.

Alan J. Keifer 45 Vice President and Controller ofthe Company since July 1999; Western Hemisphere Controller of
Baker Oil Toots from t997-7999. Director of Corporate Audit from 1990-1996. Emptoyed 1990.

there are no family relationships among the executive officers of the Company.

The Company follows the practice of electing its officers annualty in December.

Environmental Matters

The Company iS subject to U.S. federal, state and tocal regulations with regard to air and water quality and other environmen-
tal matters. Ttre Company believes that it is in substantial comptiance with these regulations. Regulation in this area is in the
process of development, and changes in standards of enforcement of existing regulations as well as the enactment and enforce-
ment of new legistation *"y r.quir" the Company, as well as its tustorners, to modifu, supplement or reptace equipment or facili-
ties or to change or discontinue present methods of operation.

During the fiscal year ending December 31, 7999, the Company spent approximately $18.0 miltion to enable the Company to
complywith U.S. federal, state and local provisions that have been enacted or adopted regulating the discharge ofmaterials into
the environment or otherwise retating to the protection ofthe environment (coltectively, "Environmental Regulations"). Based

upon current information, the Company believes that its compliance with Environmental Regulations wiU not have a material
adverse effect upon the capital expenditures, earnings and competitive position of the Company because the Company has ade-
quate resewes for such compliance expenditures or the cost to the Company for such compliance is tikety to be small when com-
pared to the Company's overaU net worth.

Based upon current information, the Company does not believe that it witl incur material capitat expendihrres for environmen-
tal cdnEol equipment during the fiscal years ending December 37, 2000 and 2001. Based upon current information, the Company

betieves that capital expenditures for environmental control equipment for the 2000 and 2001 fucat years witl not have a material.
adverse effect upon the financial condition of the Company because the aggregate amount of these expenditures for those periods

is or is orpected to be small when compared to the Company's overalt net worth.
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"Environmental Matters" contains forward-tooking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933,

as amended, and Section 21E ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The words "will', "betieve", "tobe", "expected"

and simitar erpressions are intended to identiff forward-looking statements. Baker Hughes' e:rpectations regarding its compliance

with Environmental Regutations and its e:rpendihres to compty with Environmental Regulations, inctuding (without limitation) its
capital e:rpenditures on environmental controt equipment, are only its forecasts regarding these matters. these forecasts may be

substantiatly different from achral results, which are affected bythe fottowing factors: changes in Environmental Regulations;

une:rpected, adverse outcomes with respect to sites in which the Company has been nambd a potentially responsible party ("PRP"),

including (without timitation) the sites tisted below; the discovery of new sites of which the Company is not aware where addi.
tional expenditures must be spent to compty with Environmental Regulations; an unorpected discharge of hazardous materials in
the coursE ofthe Companfs business or operations; an unptanned acquisition of one or more new businesses; a catastrophic

event causing discharges into the environment of hydrocubonsi and the allocation to the Company ofliabitity as a PRP with
respect to a site differs from the amount ofvotume of discharge a[ocated to the Company with respect to the site.

Ttre Company and certain of its subsidiaries and divisions have been identified as a PRP as a rezult of substances which may
have been released in the past at various sites more futly discussed betow. The United $tates Environmental Protection Agency
(the "EPA") and appropriate state agencies are supervising investigative and clean-up activities at these sites.

(a) Baker Petrolite Corporation ('BPC"), a subsidiary ofthe Company, and Hughes Christensen Company ("HC"),

Mitpark Drilling Ftuids ("Mitpark") (now known as INTXO), and Baker Oil Toots ("80f1, each divisions of Baker Hughes
0iUietd Operations,Inc. ("BH00"), have been named as PRPs in the Sheridan Superfund Site, Iocated in Hempstead,
Texas. Tlte remedial work at this site is being overseen !y the Texas Natural Resource Conservation Commission
(TNRCC"). A trust (the "sheridan Site Trust") wds formed to manage the site remediation and administrative details
of the project. The Company participates as a member of the Sheridan Site Trust. Totat remedial and adminisEative
costs are estimated by Sheridan Site Trust officials to totat approximately $30,000,000. Contribution of the Company's

subsidiaries and divisions (including Baker Hughes Tubular Services, Inc. ("BHTS"), which was sotd to ICO on
September 30,7992), is estimated to be 1.81% ofthose costs.

(b) Spectrace Instruments, Inc. ("Spectrace"), the assets ofwhich were sold to Thermo-Electron Corporation on
March 15, 1994, is a named respondent to an EPA AdminisEative Order associated with the ME[III Study Area, an eight
squiue mile soit and groundwater contamination site located in Mountain View, California. A group of PRPs estimates
that the total cost of remediation witl be approximately $80,000,000. lhe Compant's environmentat consultants have
conrlucted extensive investigations of Spectrace's operating faciUty located within the MEVf Study Area and have con-
cluded that Spec,trace's activities could not have heen the source of any contarnination in the soil or groundwater at
and around the MEIrV Study tuea. Ttre EPA has informed the Company that no further work needs to be performed on
Spec'lrace's site and indicated that the EPA does not believe there is a contaminant source on the property. However,
the Company continues to be named in the EPlfs Administrative 0rder. The Company continues to betieve the EPffs

Administative 0rder for Remedial Design and Remediat Action is not vatid with respect to the Company's subsidiary
and is seeking the withdrawal of the Administrative Order with respect to the Companfs subsidiary.

(c) In May 1987, Baker Performance Chemicals Incorporated (now known as BPC) entered into an Agreed
Adminishative 0rder with the then Texas Water Commission, now known as the INRCC, with respect to soit and
groundwater contamination at the Odessa - Hillmont site located in 0dessa, Texas. Ttris site was previously used by
BPC as a chemical blending ptant. The contaminated soil has been removed, and the site continues in the groundwa-

ter recovery/treatment phase at an annual cost to the Company ofapproximately $20,000.

(d) Milpark (now known as INIEQ) has been identified as a PRP at the Toups Farm Superfund Site (eligibte for
cleanup under the Texas State Cleanup fund) tocated north of South Lake near Hallettwille, Texas. Itre site consists
of approximatel5T 2l acres and was operated over the years as a municipal landfilt, fence post teating company and a
hog furm. Based on avaitable information, the Company does not betieve that it has any liabiUty for contamination at
the site.

(e) ltitpark (now known as INTXQ) and Baker $and Control (now known as B0T) have been named as PRPs at the
DL Mud Superfund Site located in Abbeville, Louisiana. Ttris site waq used for the disposat of used drilting fluids and
drilUng muds. However, another named PRP is responsible for a majority of the waste votume disposed at this site,
and such PRP is presently engaged in the remediation ofthe site. To date neither the other PRP nor the EPA have
produced any substantive waste disposal or transportation documentation tinking the Company or its subsidiaries or
divisions to the environmental conditions at the site. Ihe Company does not anticipate that it witt have any tiabiUty
for this site.



(f) Milpark (now known as INIEQ),has been named as a PRP at the Mar Services Superfund site located in Crankton,
Louisiana. It has been estimated that the contribution to this site by the Company's subsidiary is approximately .080/o

of the totat volume of sotids at the site (based upon a volumetric calculation). ltre site is now undergoing investiga-
tive studies to determine the remedial action plan as well as a total estimated cost for remediation.

(g) In January 1996, Petolite Corporation (now known as BPC) was named as a PRP by the INRCC at the McBay Oil
and Gas State Superfund Site in Grapevine, Texas. Ttre Company has disputed its invotvement in the site based on the
fact that it has no knowledge of transporting waste to the site. However, the Company has kansacted product sales to
McBay Oit and Gas Company. Documentation of product sales has been sent to the INRCC. Based on avaitable informa-
tion, the Company does not believe that it has any Uabitity for contamination at this site.

(h) In July 1997, Petrolite Corporation (now known as BPC), was named by the EPA as a PRP at the Shore Refinery
Site, Kilgore, Gregg County, Texas. fire Company has completed a thorough search of its documents and records. The

Company has concluded that it has not arranged for the dispgsat, treatment, or transportation of hazardous sub-
stances or used oil at the site. To date, the EPA has not produced any substantive, hazardous substance teatnent,
disposal or transportation documentation linking the Company or any of its subsidiaries or divisions to the environ-
mental conditions at the site. The Company does not betieve that it has any Uabitity for contamination at the site.

(i) In June 1999, Hughes Tool Company (now known as Hughes Christensen) was named as a PRP at the Li
Tungsten Site in Glen Cove, NewYork Ttris site was used to reprocess tungsten, a strategic metal used in the manu-
facture of drill bits. The Company has responded to the EPlfs inquiry and betieves that it has contributed only a de

minimus amount of hazardous substances to the site. Ttre site is novr undergoing investigative studies to determine a

suitable remediat action plan as welt as a total estimated cost for remediation.

While PRPs in Superfund actions have joint and several liabiUty for all costs of remediation in many of the sites described

above, it is not possibte at this time to quantifu the Company's ultimate exposue because the project is either in its earty inves-

tigative or remediation stage. Based upon current information, the Company does not believe that probable and reasonably possi-

ble expendihrres in conneetion with any ofthe sites described above are liketyto have a material adverse effect on the Company's

financiat condition because: (i) the Company has established adequate resewes to cover what the Company presentty beUeves will
be its uttimate liability with respect to the matter, (ii) the Company and its subsidiaries have only timited invotvement in the sites
based upon a volumetric calculation, as described above, (iii) there are other PRPs that have greater involvement on a votumetric
calculation basis who have substantial assets and who may reasonably be expected to pay their share of the cost of remediation,
(iv) where discussed above, the Company has insurance coverage or contractual indemnities from third parties to cover the ulti-
mate liability, and (v) the Company/s ultimate Uability, based upon current information, is small compared to the Company's over-

atl net worth.

Ttre Company is subject to various other governmental proceedings relating to environmental matters, but the Company does

not believe that any of these matters is likely to have a materiat adverse effect on its financiat condition.

IIEM 2. PBOPERTIES

Ttre Company operates 77 manufacturing ptants, almost all of which are owned, ranging in size from approximatety 1,500

square fuet to approximatety 306,700 squ:ue feet of manufacturing space and totating more than 3,915,861 squiue feet. 0f such

total, approximately 2,644,502 square feet (63%) are located in the United States, 269,639 square feet (7%) are tocated in the
Western Hemisphere exctusive of the United States, 832,337 square feet (27o/r) arc located in Europe, and 169,389 square feet
(4o/o) are located in the Eastern Hemisphere exclusive of Europe. Ihese manufacturing plants by industry segment and geographic

area appear in the table below. lhe Company also owns or leases and operates various customer service centers and shops, and

sales and administrative offices throughout the geographic .ueas in which it operates.

United
States

0ther
Western

Hernisphere Europe

0ther
Eastern

Hemisphere Total

0itfietd
Process

37

6

8

2

9

3

77 65

721

The Company betieves that its manufacfuring facilities are well maintained. Ttre Company also has a significant investment in
service vehicles, rental tools and equipment. During 1999 and 1998, the Company recognized permanent impairments and wrote

down to net reatizabte value certain inventory, property, plant and equipment. For further information regarding these write-
downs, see Note 8 ofthe Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 herein.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Ttre Company is sometimes named as a defendant in Utigation relating to the products and services it provides. The Company

insures against these risks to the extent deemed prudent by its management, but no assurance can be given that the nature and

amount of such insurance will in every case fully indemnifu the Company against liabitities arising out of pending and future legat

proceedings relating to its ordinary business activities. Many of these poticies contain seU insured retentions in amounts the

Company deems prudent.

The Company has been named as a defendant in a number of shareholder class action suits fotlowing the Company's announce-

ment on December 8, 1999 regarding the accounting issues it discovered at its INIEQ division. See Note 15 ofthe Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 herein. Ihese zuits witt all be consolidated into one lawsuit pursuant to the Private

Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Itre Company believes the altegations in these zuits are without merit, and the Company

intends to vigorousty defend these lawsuits. Even so, an adverse outcome in this ctass action litigation coutd have an adverse effect

on the Company's results of operations or financial condition.

See also "Item 1. Business - Environmental Matters."

IIEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MAITERS TO AVOTE OE SECT'RIT':T HOLDERS

None.

PART II

TTEM 5. I{ARKET TOR REGISIR.ANYS COMUON EQUITY AND REIAIED STOCKIIOLDER MAITERS

The Common Stock, $1.00 par value per share (the "Common StoclC'), of the Company is principatly traded on The New York

Stock Exchange. Ttre Common Stock is also traded on the Pacific Exchange and the Swiss Exchange. At March 7,2000, there were

approximately 90,000 stockholders and approximately 34,000 stockfiolders of record.

Ior information regarding quarterty high and low sales prices on the New York Stock Exchange for the Common Stock during

the two years ended December 37,7999, and information regardingi dividends declared on the Common Stock during the two
years ended December 37,7999, see Note 20 ofthe Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 herein..
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rlEM 6. SELECIED FINANCIAI DATA

Ttre Selected Financial. Data shoutd be read in conjunction with "Item 7. Managemenfs Discussion and Anatysis of Financiat
Condition and Results of Operations" and with the consolidated financial statements ofthe Company for the years ended
December 37, 7999 and 1998, the three months ended December 31, 1997 and for the year ended September 30, 7997 and the
related Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 herein.

(In millions, exceot oer share amounts) 1999 7998 7997 1996 1995

Year Ended

December 31,
Ttuee

Months Ended

Decenber 31,1997

Year Ended

September 30,

(As Restated - See Note 19 to consolidated financial statemmts)

$ 4,546.7 $ 5,820.6 $ 7,449.0 $ 4,957.9 $ 4,093.0 $ 3,600.8Revenues

Costs and expenses:

Costs ofrevenues
Setting, general and administrative
Merger related costs

Unusual charge, net
Acquired in-process research and

3,677.7

655.0
(1.6)

8.8

4,745.7
778.0
277.5

796.6

7,057.4

797.6

3,907.7

466.7

3,228.7
402.0

2,84.7.8

392.8

51.1 35.9

4,339.9 5,937.9
118.0

.0 4,543.5 3,666.0 3,240.6
0perating income (loss)
Interest expense

Interest income
Spin-off related costs

Gain on sale ofVarco stock

206.8
(1se.o)

5.0

794.0

(23.6)
7.2

360.2
(86.e)

6.6

(742.7)

3.7

474-4

(88.0)
3.6

(8.4)

427.0

(84.7)
4.9

44.3
Unrealized gain on trading securities 31.5
Income (loss) from continuing operations

before income taxes and cumulative
effect of accounting changes 84.3 (256.2) 777.6 327.6 391.5 279.9

Income tax benefit 24.7 749 59 76

operations
before cumulative effect of accounting
changes 52.3 (280.9) 106.5 777.8 232.3 763.7

Cumulative effect of accaqqqllg changes (12.1) (13.5)

Income (loss) from discontinued operations,
net of tax (1e.0) (15.2) 7.7 (134.3) 77.4 54.4

Net income (loss) $ 33.3 $ (296.1) $ 774.2 $ 2s.4 $ 303.7 S 204.6

Per share of common stock:
Income (toss) from continuing operations

before cumulative effect of
accounting changes:

Basic

Dituted
Dividends

Financial Position:
Working capital
Total assets

Long-term debt
Stockholders' equity

$

$ 7,329.6
7,039.8
2,706.0
3,077.7

$ 7,569.9
7,632.9

2,726.3
3,765.7

$ 7,594.6
7,040.3
1,605.3
3,483.4

$

$ 7,484.8
6,897.7

7,473.3
3,455.7

$ 1,897.5

5,663.9
7,724.2

3,763.6

$ 1,852.1
5,323.5
7,295.3
2,845.8

.49

.48

.46

.81

.80

.46

.57

.56

.46

(.87)
(.87)
.46

.16

.16

,46

$ $ $ $.34
.33

.72

NOTXS TO SEIECIED TINANCIAI.ITATA

1) 0n August 27, 7998, the Board of Directors of the Company approved a change in the fiscal year-end of the Company from
September 30 to December 31, effective with the calendar year beginning January 7, 7998. A three-month transition period
from October 7, 7997 through December 37, 7997 (the 'Transition Period") precedes the start of the 1998 fiscal year. "7995",
"7996" and"7997" refer to the respective years ended September 30, and "!998" and "1999" refer to the respective years ended
December 31.
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2) In December 1999, based on an internal review, the Company became aware of several accounting misstatements at one of its

operating divisions. Baker Hughes INTEQ. A subsequent analysis determined that these misstatements amounted to $31.0 mit-

lion, net of tax. As a result, the Company restated its previousty issued consotidated financial statements to reflect the adjust-

ments required to correct these misstatements.

As a result ofthe above, the Company's 1998, Transition Period, 7997,7996 and 1995 financial statements have been restated

from amounts previously reported. .The principat effects of these adjustments on the accompanying financial statements are set

forth in Note 19 ofthe Notes to Consotidated Financial Statements in Item 8 herein.

3) 0n February 16,2OOO, the Company's Board of Directors approved, in principle, a plan to selt the Company's Baker Process divi-

sion, which manufachrres and setls process equipment for separating sotids from liquids and liquids frorn tiquids tfuough filha-
tion, sedimentation, centrifugation and flotation processes. Accordingty, the Company's consolidated financial statements and

related notes thereto have been restated to present the operations of Baker Process as discontinued operations. For further dis-

cussion see Note 3 ofthe Notes to Consotidated Financial Statements in Item 8 herein.

0n October 37, \ggT,lilestern Attas distributed all the shares of IIN0VA, Inc., its then wholly owned industrial automation sys-

tems subsidiary, as a stock dividend to its shareholders. The operations of llN0VA, Inc. for the Transition Period and 1997 are

classified as discontinued operationsin the Company's consolidated financiat statements.

4) 0n August 10, 1998, Baker Hughes completed its Merger with Western Attas. Ttre Merger was accounted for as a pooling of
- 

interests and, accordingty, att prior period consolidated financial statements of Baker Hughes have been restated to include the

results of operations, financial position and cash flows ofWestern AtLas. Certain amounts have been reclassified to conform the

reporting practices of Baker Hughes and Western Atlas.

5) See Note 8 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 herein for a description of the unusual and other non-

recurring charges and gains in the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998 and the year ended September 30, 1997. The

unusual charge in 1996 consisted of the restructuring and reorganization of certain oilfield divisions, write-off of certain oil-

field patents and an impairrnent of a latin America joint venture.

6) See Note 7 ofthe Notes to Consotidated Financial Statements in Item 8 herein for a description of acquisitions and dispositions

made in the year ended December 31, 1998, the tfuee months ended December 37, 1997 and the year ended September 30,

iSgZ. tn 1996, the Company sotd 6.3 million shares ofVarco InternaUonal, Inc. common stock and recognized a pretax gain of

$44.3 miltion

7) In the year ended September 30, 7997, the Company changed its method of accounting for the impairment of long-tived assets

and for long-lived assets held for disposal. In the year ended September 30, 1995, the Company adopted a new accounting

standard related to accounting for post employment benefits.

ITEM 7. I{ANAGEMEM'S DISCUSSION AND ANAIYSIS OF HNANCIAT CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERANONS

Managemenfs Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 0perations ("MD&A") should be read in conjunc-

tion with the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998, the three

months ended Decemb er 37, 7997 and for the year ended September 30, 1997 and the related Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements contained in ltem 8 herein.

FORWARD.TOOKING STAT}ME IITS

MD&A includes forward-tooking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and

Section 21E ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (each a "Forward-Looking Statemenf'). The words "anticipate,"

"betieVe,' "expect," "plan," "intend," l'estimate," "prOjeCt," "fOfeCaStS," "Wi11," "COUld," "ma{' and Similaf eXpreSSiOnS afe intended

to identifu forward-looking statements. Baker Hughes' expectations about its business outlook, customer spending, oil and gas

prices and the business environment for the Company and the industry in general are only its expectations regarding these mat-

ters. No assurance can be given that actual resutti may not differ materiaUy from those in the forward-l.ooking statements herein

for,reasons inctuding the effects of competition; the level of petroleum industry exploration and pioduction expen-ditures, world

economic conditions, prices of, and the demand for, crude oil and natural gas, drilling activity, weather, the legiStative environ-

ment in the United States and other countries, 0PEC poUry, conflict in the Middte East and other major petroteum producing or

consuming regions, the devetopment oftechnology that lowers overall finding and devetopment costs and the condition ofthe
capital and equity markets. See "-Business Environment" for a more detailed discussion of certain of these factors.
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MANAGiMENI,S DISCUSSION AND AI{AIYSIS Or FINANGIAI, coNI,mON AIIID RESUITS OE oPERATIONS (Continued)

Baker Hughes' qryectations regarding its level of capital expenditures and its capital expenditures on Project Renaissance
described in "Investing Activities" below are only its forecasts regarding these matters. trn addition to the factors described in the
previous puagraph and in "Business Environment," these forecasts may be substantially different from actual resutts, which are
affected by the fotlowing factors: the accuracy ofthe Company's estirnates regarding its spending requirements, regulatory, legal
and contractual impediments to spending reduction measures; the occurrence of any or,"nticipated acquisition or research and
devetopment opportunities; changes in the Company's strategic direction; the need to replace any unanticipated tosses in capital
assetsi and the factors tisted in "Item 1. Business-Environmental Matters'..

CIIANGE IN IEAR.END

0n August 27, 1998, the Board of Directors of the Company approved a change in the fiscat year end of the Company from
September 30 to December 31, effective with the calendar year beginning January 1, 1998. A three-month transidon period from
0ctober 7, 7997 through December 37, 1997 (the Transition Period) precedes the start of the 1998 fiscal year. "7997" refers to the
year ended September 30, the Transition Period refers to the three months ended December 31, 1997, and "7998'and "1999" refer
to the respective years ended December 31.

RESIATMEilT

In December 1999, based on an internal review, the Company became aware of severat accounting misstatements at one of its
operating divisions, Baker Hughes INTEQ ("IIfIEA1. A subsequent anatysis determined that these misstatements amounted to
$31.0 milUon, net oftaxes. As a resutt, the Company restated its previousty issued consolidated financial statements to reflect the
adjustments required to correct these misstatements. The adjustments relate to uncollectible accounts receivable, inventory short-
ages, the recognition of inventory pricing adjustments, the impairment of various other current and long-Iived assets and the
recognition of certain previousty unrecorded liabilities, including trade accounts payabte and employee compensation and bene-
fits payable. Atthough the amounts were attributable to several of the INTEQ division tocations, $24.2 million, net of tax, was
retated to IMEQ's Venezuela operations. 0f the amounts pertaining to locations other than Venezueta, no one location accounted
for more than $2.7 million on an after tax basis.

As a resutt of the anatysis of these amoqnts, the Company determined that the specific years affected and the applicable
amounts, net of tax, are as foltows: .

(In miltions)
Increase (decrease)

to l{et Income

1999

third quarter
Second quarter
First quarter

1998

Transition Period
7997

1996

1995

Periods prior to 1995

$ o.r
1.5

7.7

1.3

0.2
(8.s)
(2.8)
(0.6)

(23.e)
Total $ (31.0)

As a result ofthe above, the Company's 1998, Transition Period, 7997,7996 and 1995 financial statements have been restated
from amounts previously reported. Ttre principal effects ofthese adjustments on the accompanying financial statements are set
forth in Note 19 ofthe Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 herein.

Management believes the misstatements were primariiy the result of no-ncompliance with the Company's accounting and oper-
ating procedures and that such noncomptance was isolated prirnarily to Il,lITQ's operations in Venezuela. Ttre Company is in the
process of reviewing the administrative, accounting and operational policies and procedures for its foreign units, and comptiance
therewith, to identify potentiat areas where revisions may be warranted. To the extent that changes to current procedures are
warranted, they will be implemented as quickly as practicable.
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DISCO}MNUED OPERATIONS

1999

0n February 16, Z0OO, the Company's Board of,Directors approved, in principte, a plan to sell the Company's Baker Process divi'

sion, which manufachles and sells pro..r, equipment for separating solids from liquids and liquids from liquids through fiItration;

sedimentation, centrifugation and flotation pioc"sses. Accordingly, the Company's consolidated financial statements and related

notes thereto have beenrestated to present ihe operations of Baker Process (which were separately accounted for as a segment)

as discontinued operations. For further discussion see Note 3 ofthe Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 herein.

1997

0n 0ctober 37, TggT,Western Atlai distributed alt the shares of UN0VA, Inc. ("ull0Vlf'), its then whotly owned industial

automation systems subsidiary, as a stock dividend to its shareholders (the "Spin-off'). Ihe operations of IIN0VA for the Transition

period and 1997 are classifiedas discontinued operations in the Company's consolidated financial statements. For periods prior to

the Spin-off, cash, debt, and the retated net interest expense were allocated based on the capital needs ofIlN0VAs operations.

UERGER

0n August 10, 1998, Baker Hughes completed its Merger with Western Attas. Itre Merger was accounted for as a pooling of

interests and, accordingty, atl prior period consotidated financial statements of Baker Hughes have been restated to include the

results of operations, financial position and cash flows ofWestern Atlas. Certain amounts have been reclassified to conform the

reporting practices of Baker Hughes and Western Attas.

BUSINESS ENVIRONME}{T

OiUieta operations consist of eight divisions - Baker Atlas, Baker Hughes INTEQ, Baker Oil Tools, Baker Petrolite, Centrilift, E&P

Sotutions, Hughes Christensen and Western Geophysical. These companies manufachrre and setl equipment and provide related

seryices used in orptoring for, developing and producing hydrocarbon reserves. In addition, E&P Sotutions explores for, and pro-

duces, oil and natural gas.

The business environment for the Company and its corresponding operating results can be'sigfficantly affected by the ievel of

industry capitat orpendihrres for the exploration and production of oil and gas reserves. Ttrese expendihues are influenced strongly

by oil company orpectations about the supply and demand for crude oil and natural gas products and by the energy price environ-

ment that resutts ftom supply and demand imbalances. Ihese expenditures are further'influenced by a fundamental change in our

customer base and in our:customers' approaches toward relationships with suppliers. Our largest customers have consolidated and

are using their gtobat size and market power to seek economies of scale and pricing concessions.

Key factors currently influencing the worldwide crude oit and gas market are:

. production restraint the degree to which 0PEC nations and other targe producing countries are willing and abte to restrict

production and exports of crude oil.

. Global economic growth: in particular in Japan, China and South Korea, and the developing areas of Asia where the correta-

tion between energy demand and economic growth is strong.

. Oil and gas stonge inventories: relative to historic levels.

. Technologicat progress: in the design and apptication of new products that allow oil and gas companies to drill fewer wetls and

to dritt, complete and produce wells faster and at lower cost.

. Maturity of the resource base: of known hydrocarbon reseryes in the maturing provinces of the North Sea, U.S., Canada and

Latin America.

. The pace of new investment access to capital and the reinvestment of'available cash flow into existing and emerging markets.

. price votatitity the impact of witlety fluctuating commodity prices on the stabitity of the market and subsequent impact on

customer spending.
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II{ANAGEMEIIT',S DISCUSSIoN AND ANATYSIS Or FINANCLAT C0NDmON AnI} RESUTTS OF OPERATIONS (Continued)

Oit and Gas Prices

Crude oil and naturat gas prices and the Baker Hughes rotary rig count are summarized in the tables below as averages for the
periods indicated and are foltowed by the Company's outlook. White reading the Company's outlook set forth below, caution is
advised that the factors described above in "-Forward-Looking Statements" and "-Business Environment" could negativety impact
the company's expectations for oil demand, oil and gas prices and drilling activity.

Year Ended

December 31,

7999 1998

lluee Months Ended

December 37,7997
Year Ended

September 30,7997

West Texas Intermediate Crude ($/bbt)
U.S. Spot Nahrral Gas ($/mcf)

19.37

2.79

74.47

2.07
20.02
2.72

27.83

2.47

Crude oil prices rebounded sbongly from the record lows experienced in 1998. Prices averaged $19.37 for the yeir, ranging
from a low of$11.6S/bbt in February ofthe year lo $27.36/bbt in November. Oil prices increased due to sustained adherence to
production cut agreements in both 0PEC and non-OPEC countries coupled with a resurgence ofwortdwide demand growth ted by a
recovery of Asian markets and a return to colder winter weather. The resulting decrease in gtobat oil inventories (particutarly in
North America) provided increased stabitity in the market and stronger price support.

U.S. natural gas prices stengthened in 1999 compared to the prior year, averaging $2.79/mcf and ranging from a low of
$1.58/mcf in March to a high of $2.94/mcf n 0ctober. The increase is due in part to an apparent reduction in avaitabte gas supply
brought about by the sustained slow down in gas directed drilting in the U.S. experienced from January 1998 to June 1999. The
impact oflower suppty coupled with the return of cotder winter weather has reduced natural gas storage inventories to historicalty
seasonable levels.

RotaryRig Count

The Company is engaged in the oitfietd service industryproviding products and seryices that are used in e:rploring for, devel-
oping and producing oil and gas resewoirs. lThen driting or workover rigs are active, they consume the products and sewices pro-
duced by the oiUield service industry. ltre active rig count acts as a leading indicator of consumption of products and services
used in dritting, completing, producing and processing hydrocarbons.

Rig count trends are governed by the orptoration and development spending by oil and gas companies, which in turn is influ-
enced by current and future price expectations for oil and natural gas. Rig counts therefore reflect ihe relative strength and sta-
bitity of energy prices.

Year Ended

December 31,

7999 1998

Tluee Months Ended

DecembeJ 37,7997
Year Ended

September 30,1997

U.S. - I^and

U.S. - 0ffshore
Canada

579

106

245

703
723
259

873
725
448

788

118

340
North America 870 7,446 7 246

I^atin America
North Sea

Other Europe

Africa
Middte East

Asia Pacific

186

39

42

42

740

139

243
52

46

74

166

773

280
55

56

75

165

773

58

57

80

150

181
International 588 754 804 803

Worldwide 7,458 1,839 2,250 2,049

U.S. Workover Riqs 835 1,088 7,427 7,472

Ihe extreme votatitity experienced in 1999 for oit and gas prices created an uncertain business environment for the Compant's
customers. Consequently, customer expenditures to exptore for and produce oil and gas declined, decreasing the number of active
dritiing and workover rigs and reducing the need for the CompanS/s products and services, which resulted in decreased revenues.
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Reductions or increases in rig eount may or may not have a significant i*pa.t on revenues depending on the prevailing maiket

conditions. Ihere is often a lag between increases or decreases in oil and gas prices and changes in rig count and an additionat

lag between changes in rig count and the impact on the Company's revenues.

0utlook

Oil prices are expected to remain sbong in the fust haU of 2000 but are expected to moderate throughout the balance of the

y"* 
"r 

the gpEC production cuts agreed.to in 1999 expire and additional oit supply becomes availabte to the market. Prices for

[enchmark West iexas Intermediate oil are expected to trade in the range of $20 to $25/bbt by the end of 2000.

U. S. natural gas prices ue expected to remain strong th-roughout 2000 averaging between $2.20 and $2'60 per mcf as lower

storage levels, increased demand and reduced suppty pressure the market in the coming injection searion.

In response to improved energy prices, customer spending is expected to stengthen in 2oo0 with current estimates indicating

increased gtobal spending in the oil and gas industry of approximately 1070 over 1999 levets. North American spbnding is expected

to continue to increase tluoughout the year with both nahrat gas and oil as drivers of increased dritling and production activity.
gutside North America; customer spending is e:rpected to remain depressed in the fust quarter with gradual improvement thereafter.

ACQUISITIONS

No significant acquisitions were made during 1999. In addition to the acquisitions discussed betow, the Company made several

acquisitions to expand its technology base and to increase its presence in key geographic areas in 1998, the Transition Period and

1997. None of these acquisitions individually or in the aggregate are material to the Company's consolidated financial statements.

1998

In Aprit 1998, the Company acquired all the outstanding stock of WEDGE DIA-L0G, Inc. ("I1IEDGE') for 5278.5 miltion in cash.

WEDGE specializes in cased-hole logging and pipe recovery services. Also in April 1998, the Company acquired 3-D Geophysical,

Inc. ("3-D") for $117.5 million in cash. 3-D is a supptier of primarityland-based seismic data acquisition services. The purchase

method of accounting was used to record both of these acquisitions. Ttre operating results of these acquisitions are included in

the consolidated statement of operations from their respective acquisition dates.

1997

In July 1997, the Company compteted the acquisition of Petrotite Corporation ("Petrolite"). Ttre Company issued 19.3 million

shares of its common stock having an aggregate vatue of $730.2 million. AdditionaUy, the Company assumed Petrolite's outstand:

ing vested and unvested employee stock options, which had a fair market value of $21.0 mitlion resulting in total consideration

of $75t.2 million. The Company recorded an unusual charge of $34.5 million related to the combination of Petrolite vtith Baker

Performance Chemicals, the Company's existing oilfietd and industial chemicals operations, forming Baker Petolite, a leading

provider of oilfield chemicals in the major oitfietd markets.

AIso in Juty 1997, the Company acquired Drilex International Inc. ("Drilex"), a provider ofproducts and services used in the

directional and horizontat drilting and workover of oil and gas wells, for ?.7 miltion shares of the Company's common stock. The

acquisition of Drilex, which has been combined with the operations of INIEQ, provided the Company with an increased presence

in the U.S. tand tlirectional and horizontal drilling market. In connection with the acquisition of Drilex, the Company recorded an

unusuat charge of $7.1 million related to transaction and other one-time costs.

RXSULIS OF CO.I.ITINUING OPERATIONS

Revenues

Revenues for 1999 totaled $4,546.7 milUon, as compared to $5,820.6 mitlion for 1998, a decrease of 27.9o/o. The decrease was

due to continued depressed activity levets that started in the second haU of 1998 and continued throughout 1999. Atthough oit

and gas prices improved during 1999, average rig counts fetl 19.8% in North America and. 22o/o outside North America when com-

p"r"d to-tSSA. Substantially 
"il "r..r 

ofthe world experienced revenue dectines in 1999 as compared to 1998. Approximately 58olo

of the Compant's 1999 revenues were derived from sources outside North America. 1999 revenues from production of oil and gas

wells increased over 1998 as certain projects previously in devetopment stage began production during 1999. 0i1 and gas revenues

for 1999 and 1998, were $68.2 mitlion and $5.9 million, respectively.
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l,IAr{AciMEltTs DIscuBsIoN AND ANArysIs or uNAltcIAr coNDmoN am nrswrs oE oPERATIoNS (continued)

Revenues for 1998 were $5,820.6 million, an increase of 77.4o/o over 1997 revenues of $4,957.9 mitlion. the increase was due to
various acquisitions made by the Company in 1998 and in the latter part of 7997, offset by activity level declines as rig counts in
1998 fell 72.9o/o ll North America and 6.1% outside North America when compared to 1997. Ttrese activity dectines were brought
about by the significant drop in the price of oit and natural gas in the second haU of 1998 and the resultant decrease in customer
spending. Approximately 61% of the Compant's revenues were derived from activities outside North America in 1998 and 1997.

Quarterty revenues peaked in the Jr,rne 1998 quarter at $7,532.4 million and dectined $225.7 million, or 74.1o/o, to $1,307.3 mil-
tion by the December 1998 quarter. Xtre impact on the Company's business was most tlramatic in North America tand based activity
and in Venezueta. Excluding acquisidons, Western Geophysical is the onty division that reported revenue increases in the second
haU of 1998 as it benefited from sbong licensing sales of mutticlient seismic data, where customer spending has been tess impacted
by fluctuations in oil prices.

Revenues for the tfuee months ended December 37, 1997 were $1,449.0 mittion, an increase of 20.1% over revenues in the three
months ended December 31, 1996 of $7,206.7 million..The revenue improvement resulted from higher activity levels as the world-
wide rig count increased 74.7oh from the tfuee months ended December 37, 7997, when compared to the three months ended
December 37,7996.

Gross l{argin

Gross margins for 1999, 1998, the Transition Period and 1997, were 79.!o/o, 78.5o/o, 27.0o/o and 27.20/o, respectively. Gross margins
in 1999 and 1998 were adversely impacted by sigfficant activity dectines and the resulting pricing pressue on the Company's prod-
ucts and services. In addition, as discussed in "-Unusuat and fther Nonrecurring Chalges", during 1999 and 1998 nonrecurring
charges recorded in costs of revenue totated $72.1 mitlion and $286.6 million, respectively. Conversely, the higher gross margin
percentages in the Transition Period and 1997 result primarily ftom higher incrementat gross profit or, ir,.r..riog ,*no.r, changes
in the revenue mix and continued emphasis on productivity and cost improvements.

Selling, Geneml anil Ailministrattve

Selling, general and administrative ("SG&A") expense as a percent of consotidated revenues for 1999,1998, the Transition
Period and 1997, were 74.4o/o, 73.4o/o,13.6% and 9.4%, respecLively. Despite significant cost reduction efforts during 1998 and
1999, SG&A did not decline as a percentage ofrevenue due to several factors. As discussed in "-Unusual and 0ther Nonrecurring
Charges," in 1999 credits totaling $20.3 miltion and in 1998 charges totaling $68.7 mittion were recorded in SG&A. In addition,
increased spending on Project Renaissance and Year 2000 computer issue preparations during this period and the fact that SG&A
expenses are generalty more fixed in nature atso contributed to the higher percentages in 1998 and 1999. Significantly higher
activity and revenue levets in 1997 resulted in lower SG&A e:rpenses as a percentage ofrevenue during the period.

Itlerger Relateil CosB

In connection with the Merger, in 1998 the Company recorded merger retated costs of $217.5 million. fire cash pofion of the
charge was $159.3 milton and the noncash portion was $58.2 mitlion. Ihese costs included:

Cash portion:
. Transaction costs including banking, legal and printing fees.

' Employee related costs coniisting o1 palrments made to certain officers of Western Attas and severance benefits paid to termi-
nated employees whose responsibilities were deemed redundant.

' Integration costs including changing legal registations, terminating a joint venhue as a result of the Merger, and changing
signs and logos.

Noncash portion:

' Charges related to the triggering of change in control rights contained in certain Western Atlas and Baker Hughes emptoyee
stock option ptans.

' Charge to record the write-off of the carrying value of a product line that was discontinued as a result of the Merger.

During 1999, the Company reviewed the balances of the accruals for cash merger charges and determined that $1.6 miltion of
the remaining balances in the accruals would not be utitized. This amount was inctuded in the fourth quarter as an adjustment to
merger related costs.
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Ilre cash spent as of December 37, 7999 was $142.9 million. Ttre Company expects that, of the $14.8 mitlion accrual at

December 37, 7999, $2.0 mi[ion witt be spent by June 2000 and $2.4 mitlion witl be spent over a three-year period, with the

remaining accrual being spent over the remaining life of the retated contachral obligations.

Urulsraal anil 0ther Nonreanning Clurges

1999

As a resutt of continuing low activity levels, predominantly for the Company's seismic products and services, the Company

recorded chuges during the fourth quarter of 1999 totaling $722.8 million as summarized below:

TotaI

Amounts
Paid in

1999

Accrued
Balance at

December 31,
. 1999

$ 10.3

34.5
2.2

Cash charges

Severance for approximatety 800 employees

Iease termination and other contractuat obligations
Other cash charges

$ z.z
1.5

Subtotal cash charges 50.7

Noncash charges - write-off or write-down of property and equipment 72.1

Total cash and noncash charges $ 122.8

$ r.z $ 47.0

Tlte employee groups terminated were executive, marketing, field service and support personnet and approximately 200 were

terminated as of December 31, 1999. Ihe amount accrued for severance is based upon the positions eliminated and the Company's

written severance poticy and does not inctude any portion ofthe employees' salarythrough their severance dates. Based upon
current estimates, the Company estimates that all of the accrued severance at December 31, 1999 witl be paid during 2000 when

the emptoyees leave the Company.

The Company accrued $36.0 miltion retated to e:rpected costs to settle contractual obligations based upon managemenfs deci-

sion to reduce or abandon certain operations and based on the terms ofthe applicable agreements. These costs consist primarity

of the cost of terminating leases on certain marine vessels that are being taken out of service and removed from the fleet.

The impairment of property inctudes the write-off or write-down of certain assets utilized in the Company's seismic business.
These assets are being scrapped or otherwise being disposed of and consist of $31.7 miltion of tand and marine recording equip-
ment, $1.6 milUon of data processing equipment and $19.6 mitlion of marine vessels to be sotd or otherwise abandoned. Write-
dovyn amounts were generall11 determined by use of internat appraisal techniques to assess the estimated reatizable value to be
reatized upon disposal 0n an annuatized basis, the effect of eliminating depreciation on assets written down or written off is
approximatety $ f g.a miltion.

During 1999 the Cgmpany realized nonrecurring gains totaling $S4.8 million. Ttre Company sold two large excess real estate
properties and reatized net gains totaling $39.5 million. Ttre Company received net proceeds of $68.1 milIion. In addition, the
Company sotd certain assets related to its previous divestiture of ajoint venture and realized a net gain of $15.3 million.

During 1999 the Company reviewed the remaining batances of the accruals for cash charges and made $7.4 miltion of adjust-
ments to refleet the current estimates of remaining expenditures. Ihese adjustnents inctuded reversals of previously recorded
accruats that witt not be utitized. The adjustments related primarity to severance accruals and lease obtigations. In addition, for
accruats retated to certain terminated lease obligations, revisions were made to increase previously recorded amounts based on
current information and estimates of orpected cash flows related to these leases.

These items were reflected in the fottowing captions of the consolidated statement of operations:

Charges Credits Adjustments Total

$ tz.tCost of revenues
Selling, general and administrative $ (15.3) $ (5.0)

$ 72.7
(20.3)

8.8Unusual

77

722.8 7.4 $

50.7 2.4



Baker Hughes Incorporated

UAIAGEII{ENTS DISGUSSION AI,ID ANAIYSIS 0F FINANCIAI CONDIfl0N AIID RESIILTS 0t 0PERATI0NS (Gontinued)

1998

the Company had e:rperienced high growth levels for its products and services from 1994 through the second quarter of 1998.

During the third and fourth quarters of 1998, the Company experienced a dectine in demand for its products and services as a

result of a significant decrease in the price of oil and natural gas. Ttre decline in customer demand materiatized quickly from the
previous high growth rates.

As d result of this sharp decline in demand and to adjust to the lower level of activity, the Company assessed its overall opera-
tions and recorded charges of $551.9 mitUon as summarized betow:

Amounts
paid in

1998

Amounts
paid in

1999

Adjustinents

Accrued

Balance at
Decemher 31,

1999

Cash charges

Severance for approximately 5,200 employees

Integration costs, abandoned leases and other
contractual obligations:

Abandoned leases

Contractuat obligations
Integration costs

Environmental reserves

TotaI 1999

$ s8.o $ (24.2) $ (31.2) $ (1.3) $ r.:

77.7

13.5

4.6
8.8

27.4

(1.8)
(7.6)
(2.6)
(4.3)

(4.6)
(s.3)
(2.0)
(3.6)

0.6
(0.6)

5.9

0.9
10.1Other cash costs

Subtotal cash charges

4.

118.0 $ 45 $ 52

5

Cost of
Revenues Adminishative

78.2

Unusual
Charge

$

Noncash charges - write-off and write-down of:
Inventory and rental tools
Petro Atliance Services Company Limited
Property and other assets

0i1 and gas properties (ceiting-test)
Intangible assets

Reat estate held for sale

Investments in affiliates

760.2

83.2

75.7
69.3

77,8

77.0

70.7

Subtotal noncash charges 433.9

Total cash and noncash charges $ 551.9

Itre table set forth betow is a reconciliation of the above charges in the cash and noncash tables to the following captions of
the consolidated statement of operations:

Total
Charge

Setting,

General

and
(In miltions)

Cash charges

Severance

Integration costs, abandoned teases, etc.
Environmental reseryes

Oiher cash costs

$ 58.0
29.8
8.8

27.4
$ e.e

11.3 $ 10.1

$ s8.o
29.8

Subtotal cash 118.0 20.7 10.1

760.2

83.2

75.1
69.3
77.8

77.0

70.7

760.2

32.7

65.6

87.8

10.1

69.3
4.5

77.0

7.9

Noncash charges

Inventory and rental toots
Petro Alliance Services Company Limited
Property and other assets

Oit and gas properties (ceiting-test)
Intangible assets

Real estate held for sate

Investnents in affiliates

50.5

8.0 5.3

2.8

Subtotal noncash 433.9 266.5 58.6 108.8

cash
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The amount accrued for severance is based upon the Company's written severance potiry and the positions etiminated. the

accrued severance does not inctude any portion of the employees' salaries through their severance dates. Based upon current sev-

erance dates, the Company orpects that of the accrued severance remaining at December 31, 7999, substantially all will be paid

during 2000.

Ttre Company accrued $29.8 mittion to combine operations and consotidate facilities. Such accrual includes costs to settle

Ieases on idled.facilities based upon tease agreements; to shut-down oil and gas operations in certain countries based upon man-

agemenfs decision to abandon operations; to terminate a rig contact based upon the terms ofthe agreementi and other colloca-

tion costs based upon the estimated exit costs for approved ptans. Ttre accrual does not include any portion ofthe costs before

actual abandonment of the facilities or ceasing of the operations; The remaining accrual of $5.9 miltion retated to abandoned

d;r.,iii;"tf"nt"..oraing to the lease terms.

lhe impairment of inventory and rental toot assets of $160.2 miltion impacted virtua[y all operating divisions and was due to

advances in technology that have obsoleted certain product lines, as well as a dectine in market demand that has resulted in an

excess supply of certain products. Ttre product lines most affected were completion products, dritling and evaluation systems and

tools and [icone and diamond dritt bits. Much of the obsolete and excess inventory will be scrapped and has been written off com-

pletely. ftre remaining assets have been written down to their estimated value based on the Companfs inventory and rental tool

obsolescence poliry.

In the third quarter of 1998, the Company recorded an $83.2 mitlion write-down of PetroAltiance Services Company Limited

("PAS"), a former consolidated joint venture operating in the former Soviet Union. In the fourth quarter of 7997, the price of oil
began to decline. Tttis dectine in connection with deteriorating political and economic conditions in Russia adversely affected

PAS'business in Russia. It also adversely affected PAS'business in other areas ofthe former Soviet Union that are ctosely aligned

with the Russian economy. PAS suffered significant operating lossds in the second, third and fourth quarters of 1998. Revenues

of approximately $50.0 mittion and a net operating loss of approximately $11.0 million were included in the Company's consoli-

dated statement of operations. Due to the continued deterioration of the economy in Russia and other former Soviet Union coun-

tries, PAS' continued losses and the prospect that this situation would likely continue, the Company's interest in PAS was written

down. For this reason, the Company desired to dispose ofits interest in this business.

Itre write-down of the joint venture was based upon the Cornpanfs estimated vatue of assets ultimatety received in considera-

tion of the sate of the PAS investment in November 1998. Ttre Company received as consideration for the sale of PAS a seismic ves-

sel, other seismic and well-logging assets, certain PAS assets in Kazakhstan and Turkmenistan, certain customer receivables and a

$33.0 mitlion note from the purchasers. The write-down included $10.7 million for equipment , $22.0 mitlion of goodwill, and

$50.5 million of net current assets.

Ttre impairment of property and other assets of $75.7 million includes an $18.1 million write-down to reduce the carrying

value of a portion of the Company's tlrilling equipmen! a $12.6 miltion write-off of obsolete soUd and oil-fitted s[eamer sections

used on s"irmic vessels; a $fa.S million write-down of surplus wett-logging equipment; a $9.5 mitlion write-off of prepaid royalties

on an abandoned product line; and $20.6 million of assets written down to fair market value. The write-down of these assets was

determined based on internally devetoped valuations using a variety of methods.

A $69.3 million charge was taken in the third quarter of 1998 related to the Company's oil and gas properties. lltis charge con-

sisted of $25.8 miltion retated to properties in the United States and $7.7 miltion related to properties in Argentina and resutted

from depressed oil and gas prices and reduced future exptoration capital e:rpenditures. Ttre remaining $35.8 million resulted from

the write-off of unproven resewes in other foreign jurisdictions in which management of the Company plans to reduce the amount

of future exploration capital.

lhe write-off of intangible assets of $17.8 million includes $2.7 mitlion for capitalized software costs for product lines abandoned

as a result ofrecent acquisitions; $5.3 mittion for capitatized development costs for software systems that are being replaced bythe
Company's implementation of SAP R/3; and $9.8 million for goodwill associated with a discontinued business and a subsidiary hetd

for sale.

Ttre write-down of real estate held for sale of"$17.0 million is for a specific property and the charge reduces the carrying value

to the proper!y's appraised vatue.

Ttre $10.7 million chuge is to write-off invesEnents in joint ventures in both Russia and Indonesia and also inctudes a loss on

the sate ofTracor Europa, a discontinued subsidiary.
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1997

During 1997, the Company recorded unusual charges of $51.1 million. This included charges in connection with the acquisi-
tions of PeEolite and Dritex of $34.5 million and $7.1 miltion, respectivety, to combine the acquired operations with those of the
Company. An additional $9.5 mittion charge was recorded as a result of the decision to discontinue a low margin, oiUietd product
tine in latin America and to sell the Tracor Europa subsidiary, a computer peripherals operation. Ttris resulted in a write-down of
the investment in Tracor Europa to net realizable value. Cash provisions of the unusual charge total.ed $18.5 million. ltre Company
spent $5.5 million during 7997, $7.6 miltion during the Transition Period and substantiatly alt of the remaining $11.4 million in
1998. Such expenditures relate to specific plans and clearty defined actions and were funded from operations and availabte
credit facilities.

Acqtireil ht-process Researeh anil Dwelopment

ltre acquisition of Petolite in 1997 was accounted for as a purchase. Accordingly, the purchase price was allocated to the assets
acquired and the tiabitities assumed based on their estimated fair market values at the date of the acquisition. Management of the
Company is responsible for estimating the fair vatue of the purchased in-process research and development. In accordance with
generally aceepted accounting principles, the $118.0 miltion allocated to in-process research and development has been recorded as

a charge in the consolidated statement of operations as of the acquisition date because the technologicat feasibitity ofthe projects
in-process had not been established and there was no alternative fuhrre use at that date.

There'were 26 individual research and devetopment projects that were in development at the time of the acquisition that were
classified as in-process research and devetopment. A total of $126.0 million was allocated to Petrolite's existing technotogy that
had an original estimated usefut life of 30 years. This technology, used primarily in energy-related industries, is embedded in
various products of Petrolite designed to inhibit corrosion and scale formation, aid in the oil and water separation process and
enhance the performance, through the use ofchemical additives, ofthe process industry. Ttre products under development were
valued using a discounted cash flow analysis at a 14% discount factor. Ttre cash flows were projected for a 20 year period and
inctuded additionatresearch and development and capitat expenditures required to complete thepiojects. The gross margins used
for these products were generally consistent with those of other products sotd by the Company. the 74o/o discount factor used con-
sidered the time value of money, inflation and the risk inherent in the projects under development. In aggregate, the remaining
completion costs for these products were projected to exceed $7.2 million with comptetion periods varying from 90 days to two
years. As of December 3t, Tggg , seventeen of these products had generated commercial sales, five had product sales on a trial
basis only, and four were determined not to be viable products. During 1999, revenues from these products totaled approximately
$7.6 miltion.

There are risks associated with the projects that may prevent them from becoming viable products that generate revenues.
Ttrese risks include, but are not limited to, the successfut development of the undertying technology and the abitity to economi-
cally produce a product in commercial quantities. In addition, the factors described above in "-Forward-Looking Statements" and
"-Business Environment" create uncertainty that demand for the products utilizing this yet to be developed technotogy witl exist.

Interest fiterue

Interest elryense in 1999 increased $16.3 rnfltion compared to 1998. Interest expense in 1998 increased $54.7 million compared
to 7997. These increases lvere due to higher debt levels that funded acquisitions, capital expenditures and working capital.

Unrealized Gain 0n Ttailing Seruities

the Company currentlyhotds equity securities in Tuboscope, Inc. In 1999, the Company announced its intention to seII its
hotdings in Tuboscope, Inc. and has reclassified these from available for sale securities to trading securities. As a result ofthis
decision, the Company recognized an unrealized gain of $31,5 miltion pre-tax in the fourth quarter of 1999.

Income Tues

The effective income tax rates before merger related costs, spin-off retated costs, unusual and other nonrecurring charges
were 34.7o/o, 35.4o/o,37.8% and 35.3% for the periods ended December 31, 1999, December 37, 7998, December 31, 1997 and
September 30, 7997, respectivety.
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Ttre 1999 effective income tax rate is lower than the 1998 rate due primarity to lower taxes from international operations and a

setttement of the audit of the Companfs 1994 and 1995 U.S. consolidated income tax returns with the Internal Revenue Service.

As a result of the settlement, the Company recognized a tax benefit through the reversal of deferred income taxes previously pro-

vided of $18.1 milUon in the quarter ended June 30, 1999.

A significant portion ofthe Merger retated costs and the unusual and other nonrecurring charges recorded in 1998 were not
deductibte for tax purposes in anyjurisdiction. In addition, the Company operated in certainjurisdictions that assess tax on a

deemed profit or turnover basis. As a result, the Company provided $24.7 mitlion of income taxes on the net toss from continuing

operations of $?56.2 mitlion in 1998.

CAPNAI RESOURCES A![D LIOUIDITY

Operating Adtvities

Net cash inflows ftom opdrating activities of continuing operations were $541.3 million, $794.2 miltion, $137.9 milion and

$770.4 million in 1999, 1998, the Transition Period and 1997, respectivety. Ihe reduction in cash flow from 1998 to 1999 is due to
lower net income, after inctuding the noncash portion of nonrecurring items, payments on acsruals for merger and nonrecurring
retated items of $73.0 million and decreases in accounts payable and other accrued tiabilities caused by lower business tevels. Ttris

was offset by reductions in receivables and inventory resulting from activity declines and additional management focus. Ihe
increase in operating cash flow from 1997 to 1998 resulted from the increasing business levels from period to period.

hvesting Adlvities

Net cash oufflows from investing activities of continuing operations were $481.9 miltion in 1999, $1,658.6 million in 1998,

$317.8 mitlion in the Transition Period and $970.0 million in 1997.

Property additions in 1999 decreased significantty from prior year tevels as the Cornpany responded to the depressed market
conditions for its products and services. The Company currently a<pects 2000 capital expenditures to be approximatety $600.0 mil-
lion excluding acquisitions. Funds provided from operations and outstanding lines of credit are expected to be adequate to meet

future capital expenditure requirements. Property additions in 1998 increased as the Company added capacity to meet increased

market demand and due to an increase in the acquisition of multictient seismic data.

Proceeds from the disposai of assets generated $151.9 million in 1999, $100.0 million in 1998, $20.5 million in the Transition
Period and $61.7 mittion in 1997.

The Company obtained $68.7 million of cash from the two stock acquisitions of Petrolite Corporation and Drilex that occurred
in 1997. In July 1997, the Company sold atl of the marketable securities it obtained from ItVm. S. Barnickel & Company in associa-

tion with the Petolite acquisition for $48.5 million.

In 1998, the Company used short-term borrowings to purchase various businesses including WEDGE for $278.4 miltion, net of
cash acquired, 3-D for $117.5 million and Western Rock Bit for $31.4 million. In the Transition Period the Company used short-
term borrowings to purchase various businesses including 0iUietd DSmamics Inc. for $34.2 mitlion. In 1997, the Company used

edsting cash on hand and short-term borrowings to purchase various businesses inctuding the Environmental Technology Division
of Deutz AG for $52.2 miltion, net of cash acquired.

During the June 1997 quarter, the Company began a multilear initiative designed to redesign certain of its business processes

and to devetop and imptement an enterprise wide software system. Ttre initiative, named "Project Renaissance," witl utilize SAP

R/3 as its software pladorm across the whole ofthe Company and is expected to cost in excess of $300 million over a four year
period of which $192.9 mitUon has been spent as of December 37, 7999.

Ihe words "e:qrected" and "erq)ects" are intended to identiff Forward-Looking Statements in "Investing .A,cLivities". See

"-Forward-Looking Statements" and "-Business Environmenf' above for a desoiption of risk factors related to these Forward-
Looking Statements.

Financtng Acttvities

Net cash inflows (outflows) from financing activities of continuing operations were $(63.1) million, $338.6 million, $173.7 mil-
lion and $462.3 million in 1999, 1998, the Transition Period and 1997, respectively.
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Total debt outstanding at December 37,lgggwas $2,814.1million, compared to $2,770.7 mitlion at December 31, 1998, and
$1.,782.6 million at September 30,7997. The increase in debt is primarity due to increased borrowings from commercial paper and
revolving credit facilities that funded acquisitions, capitat expenditgres, and working capital needs. Itre debt to equity ratio
was 0.92 at December 37,7999 compared to 0.88 at December 31, 1998.

Cash dividends in 1999 increased due to the increase in the number of shares of common stock outstanding as a result of
the Merger.

At December 37,7999, the Company had $1,512.9 million of credit facilities with commerciat banks, of which $1,000.0 mittion
was committed. These facilities are subject to normal banking terms and conditions that do not sigfficantly resEict the
Company's activities.

0n January 74, 7999, the Company issued $400 million of,6.875a/o Notes due January 2029, $325 million of 6.25% Notes due
January 2009, $200 million 6.0% Notes due February 2009 and $100 milUon of 5.8% Notes due Felruary 2003 with effective
interest rates of 7.08o/o, 6.38o/o,6.11% and 6,O4oh, respectively. fire net proceeds of $1,010.7 miltion were used to repay the
$150.0 million of.the 7.625olo Notes due February 1999, commercial paper, and other short-term borrowings.

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Derivative anil Heilge Accounting

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financiat Accounting Standards ('SFAS") No. 133,

Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. SFAS No. 133 establishes accounting and reporting standards for deriv-
ative instruments and hedging activities that require an entity to recognize atl derivatives its an asset or liabiUty measured at fair
value. Depending on the intended use ofthe derivative, changes in its fair value witl be reported in the period of change as

either a component of earnings or a component of other comprehensive income.

SFAS No. 133, as amended, is effective for all quarters offiscalyears beginning after June 15, 2000. Retroactive application to
periods prior to adoption is not altowed. The Company witl adopt the standard in the first quarter of 2001. Ttre Company has not
quantified the impact of the adoption of SFAS No. 133 on its consolidatetl financial statements.

IIEAR 2000 $srrE

Many computer hardware and software products were.not engineered with internat calendars or date-processing logic capabte

of accommodating dates after December 31, 1999. In most cases, the problem was due to the hardware or software application
storing the year as a two-digit field. In applications where this year 2000 (^IzY{) problem exists, the year 2000 will appear as 00,
and current applications could interpret the year as 1900 or some date other than 2000. Ttre same error may exist for years tater
than 2000 because the application cannot distinguish which century the date represents. these probtems had the potential of
negatively affeeting the Company's business application slJstems, manufacturing, engineering and process control s5rstems, prod-
ucts sold to customers, equipment used in providing seryices, facilities equipment and information technotogy inftastucture.
Additionatly, Y2K issues impacting suppliers and customers coutd have had an indirect negative impact on the Company.

The Company did not e:rperience any Y2K problems as a result of the change of year from 1999 to 2000, that, in the opinion of
the Company's management, materially and adversety affected the conso[dated financial condition of the Company. Ttre C,ompany

had approximately 100 futt time equivalent employees ("FIEs") invotved in its effort to address its YzK issues, which the Cornpany

estirnates had an associated annual cost of approximately $7.0 mitlion. Generally, these F'lTs were fu[-time employees who
devoted some portion oftheir schedute to the YZK effort. In addition to the payroll and payrolt-retated costs, Baker Hughes
spent approximately $41.5 mit[on through December 37, 7999 on addressing its Y2K issues. The Company funded these expendi-
tures from cash that it generated from operating activities or existing credit facilities.

EURO CO}IVERIIION

A single European currency (the "Euro") was intoduced on January 7,7999, at which time the conversion rates between the
old, or legacy, currencies and the Euro were set for 11 participating member countries. However, the tegary currencies in those
countries witl continue to be used as legal tender through January 7,2002. Thereafter, the legary currencies wilt be canceled,
and Euro bills and coins wilt be used in the 11 participating countries.
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Most of the Company's products and sewices are essentially priced with reference to U.S. dollar-denominated prices. Because of
this, the Company does not believe that it will be subject to a significant increase in pricing transparenry due to the introduction
of the Euro. The Company's customers may require bitting in two or more currencies. Untit the Company's financiat computer qJs-

tems are modified or replaced to handle Euro-denominated transactions, the Company wi[, in most cases, need to appty a

methodology whereby tegacy currencies are fust converted into Euros according to a legally prescribed fixed exchange ratio and

then, when the customer requires, converted from Euros to a second national curency. Ttre Company does not betieve that this
conversion will materialty affect its conhacts. Most of the Company's contracts are either bids in response to requests for tenders

or purchase orders. These contracts are either priced in purchase and sales orders, which are short term in nature, or in longer
term contracts that are sufficiently flexibte to permit pricing in muttiple currencies. Ttre Euro conversion period is longer than
most ofthe pricing features ofthese contacts, thus permitting a pricing conversion to the Euro as new orders are issued. The

same is true with most of the Company's contracts with vendors.

During the June 1997 quarter, the Company began a multi-year initiative designed to develop and imptement an enterprise-

wide software system. Itre initiative, named "Project Renaissance," witt utitize SAP R/3 as its software plafform across the entire
Company and is expected to cost in excess of $300 million over a four-year period. SAP R/3 is programmed to process in Euros for
most of the Company's accounting, financiat and operationat functions, and the Company orpects that the imptementation of this
qystem will address its Euro issues in these areas. Because the Company has engaged in this implementation for operational pur-
poses and not soletyto address Euro issues, the Companyhas not separatety determined t}te cost ofconverting these qystems for
use with the Euro. Ihese Euro conversion costs are embedded in the cost of Project Renaissance and are not susceptible to separate

quantification. Ttre Company has scheduled implementaUon of SAP R/3 in its mqjor European operations prior to January 7,2002.

Ttre Company may make certain modifications to its legacy computer systems, or replace them, to address certain Euro

conversion issues, pending full implementation of SAP R/3. The Company is presently assessing these conversion modifications
and their costs.

In connection with an internal reorganization of the sbucaue of the Company's subsidiaries and cash management procedures,

the Company has instituted a new cash management Erstem that the Company betieves is able to process Eansactions in Euros. Ihe
Company does not presentty have any interest rate or currency suaps that are denominated in Euro legacy currencies.

The Company has appointed coordinators to address Euro conversion issues in France, Germany, Itaty, The Nethertands,
Denmark, Norway and the United Kingdom, the major centers of the Company's European operations that could be affected by the
Euro conversion. The Company continues to assess the.impact ofthe Euro on its operations and financial, a'ccounting and opera-
tional systems. The Company does not presently anticipate that the transition to the Euro will have a significant impact on its
resutts of operations, financiat position or cash flows.

The word "anticipate" is intended to identifu a'Forward-looking Statement in "Euro Conversion.'Ttre Company's anticipation
regarding the [ack of significance of the Euro introduction on the Company's operations is only its forecast regartling this matter.
This forecast may be substantialty different from actual results, which are affected by factors such as the fotlowing: unforeseen dif-
ficulties in remediating specific computer qystems to accommodate the Euro due to the complexity of hardware and software, the
inability of third parties to adequately address their own Euro s5rstems issues, including vendots, contactors, financial institutions,
U.S. and foreign governments and customers, the delay in completion of a phase of the Company's remediation of a computer qrstem

to accommodate the Euro necessary to begin a later phase, the discovery of a greater number of hardware and software systems or.

technologies with material Euro issues than the Company presentty anticipates, and the lack of alternatives that the Company previ-
ously betieved existed.

ITEIT{ 7A. OUA}IMATIVE AT{D OUATITAUVE DISCTOSURES ABOT'T II{A8KEI RISK

Ttre Company is exposed to:certain market risks that are inherent in the Company's financial instruments which arise in the
normal course of business. The Company may enter into derivative financiat instrument transactions to manage or reduce market
risk; that is, the Company does not enter into derivative financial instrument transactions for specutative purposes. .4, discussion
of the Company's primary market risk exposure in financial instruments is presented below.

Long-term Debt

The Company is subject to interest rate risk on its long-term fixed interest rate debt. Commercial paper borrowings, other
short-term borrowings and variable rate long-term debt do not give rise to significant interest rate risk because these borrowings
either have maturities of less than three months or have variable i4terest rates. All other things being equal, the fair market
value of the Company's debt with a fixed interest rate wilt increase, and the amount required to retire that debt today will.
increase, as interest rates falt and the fair market vatue wiII decrease as interest rates rise. This orposure to interest rate risk is
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managed by borrowing money that has a variabte interest rate or using interest rate swaps to change fixed interest rate borrow-
ings to variable interest rate borrowings. Generally, the Company mahtaihs between 50% and 650lo of totat borrowings at variable
interest rates.

At December 37,7999, the Company had fixed rate debt aggregating $2.0 bitlion and variable rate debt aggregating $0.8 bit-
lion. Itre fotlowing table sets forth, as of December 37, 7999 and 1998, the Companfs principat cash flows for its long-term debt
obligations, which bear a fixed rate ofinterest and are denominated in U.S. doUars, and the related weighted average effective
interest rates by expected maturity dates. Additionally, the tabte sets forth the notional amounts and weighted average interest
rates of the Company's interest rate swaps by e:rpected mahrrity (dolla: amounts in mitUons).

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 Thereafter Total

As ofDecember 31, 1999:
Long-term debt t+l

Weighted average

interest rates

Fixed to variable swaps (5)

Pay rate
Receive rate

As of December 31, 1998:
Long-term dsft t+)

Uleighted average

interest rates

Fixed to variable swaps (s)

Pay rate
Receive rate

$ 152.0

.7.670/o

$ e4.s

8.630/0

$ 93.0
7.640/;(2\

8.59o/o

$ gs.r

8.55o/o

$ r.s

6.77olo

$ s.z

6.77olo

$ o.z $ r.o

70.37o/o 8.00%

$ 100.0 $ 3s0.0

5.80% 7.97o/o

$ 1,460.1tt1

5.90o/o

$ 325.0
4.690/o9)

6.25o/o

$ ges.r(11

6.70Yo

$ 2,006.3

6.690/o

$ 7,742.9

6.57o/o

$ 93.0
7.760/o?)

8.59o/o

(1) Inctudes tIrc Liquid Yield option Notes with il acseted Elue of t285.7 miuion ild 975.5 miltion at December 31, 1999 ild 1998, rcspectirety.

(2) Sir-nonth lJBoR plls 2.01% settled emi-mutly. This mp mhued in Jmua4' m00.
(3) Awraqe six-month IJBOR for the Japilese Yen, Ew md tlrc Swiss kilc plu 3.16%.

(4) FaiI Mket val.ue of tong-tem debt is ,1,796.9 niltion ild t1,114.8 miltion at Dsember 31, 1999 ed 1998, respectivety.

(5) Eair ruket vatue of the intsest rate saps is a 113.8 miltion payable ild a t1.6 miuion rceinble at Dember 31, 1999 ud 1998, resledively,

Included in the table above in the 'Tlrereafte/' column is the Company's Liquid Yietd Option Notes ("LY0NS") which .ue con-

verEble into Company common stock at the option of the holder. As such, the fair vatue of the TYONS is determined, in addition
to changes in interest rates, by changes in the market price ofthe Company's common stock. (Holding interest rates constant, a

20% decline in the market price of the Company's common stock woutd not cause the fair vatue of the LY0NS at December 31,

1999 to decrease by a comparabte percentage amount because the LYONS currently trade more like a debt instrument than an

equity instrument. Ttris occurs because the market price of the Company's common stock at December 31, 1999 of $21.06 was sig-

fficantly below the LYONS conversion price of $40.24.)

hwestments

Ttre Company's investment in common stock and common stock warrants of Tuboscope, Inc. ("Tuboscope") is subject to equity
price risk as the common stock ofTuboscope is taded on the NewYork Stock Exchange. Wurants to buy shares ofTuboscope

common stock derive their value, in part, from the market value of Tuboscope common stock. The Company intends to sell its
hotdings in Tuboscope. Accordingly, securities hetd by the Company in this investment are ctassified as Eading securities and

reported at fair market value, with unrealized gains and losses inctuded in earnings.

At December 37, 7999 and 1998, the fair market value of the Company's investnent in common stock and common stock war-
rants of Tuboscope was $58.7 million and $26.9 million, respectively. The Tuboscope common stock was valued at the ctosing
price at December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively; as reported on the NewYork Stock Exchange, and the warrants were valued
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. No actions have bem taken by the Company to hedge this market risk exposure.

A 20% decline in the market price of Tuboscope common stock woutd cause the fair market value of the investment in common

stock and common stock warrants of Tuboscope to decrease $13.9 million at December 31, 1999.
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Foreigt Cvnency

The Company's qperations are conducted around the wortd in a number of different currencies. As such, fuhrre earnings are

subject to change due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates when transactions are denominated in currencies other than

the Company's functionat currencies - the primary currencies in which the Company conducts its business in various jurisdictions.

As a general rule, the Company hedges all or part of the future earnings exposure when it believes the risk of loss is greater than
the cost ofthe associated hedge.

At December 37, lggg,the Company had Norwegian Krone denominated commitrnents of $39.3 million related to the purchase

of a seismic vessel. At December 37, 7998, the Company had Norwegian Krone denominated commitments of $81.4 million, related

to the purchase of two seismic vessels. The Company had entered into forward exchange contracts with notional amounts of
$39.5 milUon at December 31, 1999 and $88.9 milUon at Decetnber 31,.1998, to hedge these commitments. At December 37, 7999

the fair market value of these contracts was $39.3 million, resulting in an unr€alized loss of $0.2 miltion. In addition, at

December 37, 7ggg, the Company had Austalian Dollar denominated commitments of $7.5 million primarily related to a long-term

equipment purchase commitment for which the Company entered into forward exchange contacts with notional amounts of

$7.1 million to hedge substantiatly alt of this commitnent. The unreatized gain on these forward exchange contracts at

December 37, Tggg was $0.4 million. At December 37, 7999 the Company had Japanese Yen denominated accounts receivable of
$0.8 miltion related to a sales agreement. At December 37, 7999, the Company had entered into a forward exchange contract with
a fair market value of $0.7 miltion as a hedge for this collection. Ihe notional amounts are used to express the volume of these

transactions and do not represent exposure to loss. The carrying value ofthe contracts was not significant. Foreign currency gains

and losses for such purchases are deferred and become put ofthe basis ofthe assets. Ttre counterparties to the Companfs for-

ward contracts are major financial institutions. Ihe credit ratings and concentration ofrisk ofthese financial institutions are

monitored on a continuing basis and, in managemenfs opinion, present no significant credit risk to the Compan!. In the untikety

event that the counterparties fail to meet the terms of a foreign currency contract, the Company's e:(posure is timited to the for-
eign currency spot rate differential.

Certain borrowings of the Company are denominated in currencies other than its functional currency. At December 37, 1999,

these nonfunctional currenqT borrowings totaled $1.9 million where the pdmary exposure was between the U.S. Dotlar and the

Danish Iftone. A 10% appreciation of the U.S. Dottar against these currencies would not have a significant effect on the future earn-

ings of the Company.
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IIEM 8. FINANCIAI. STAIEUEI.TTS AND SUPPTEMEMARY DATA

I,{ANAGEMEM REPORT 0F FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILffiES

The management of Baker Hughes Incorporated is responsible for the preparation and integrity of the accompanying consoli-
dated financial statements and all other information contained in this Annual Report. The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in conformity with generatly accepted accounting principles and include amounts that are based on management's
informed judgments and estimates.

In fulfilling fu responsibilities for the integrity of financiat information, rnanagement maintains and reties on the Company's
,system ofinternal control. Ttris system includes written policies, an organizational structure providing division ofresponsibilities,
the setection and training of qualified personnel and a program of financial and operationat reviews by a professional staff of cor-
porate auditors. The qystem is designed to provide reasonabte assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions are executed in
accordance with managemenfs authorization and accounting records are retiable as a b-asis for the preparation ofthe consolidated
financial statements. Management betieves that, as of December 37, L999, the Company's internal contot system provides reason-
abte assurance that material errors or irregularities will be prevented or detected within a timely period and is cost effective.

Management recognizes its responsibitity for fostering a strong ethical climate so that the Company's affairs are conducted
according to the highest standards of personal and corporate conduct. This responsibitity is characterized and reflected in the
Company's Standards of Conduct which are distributed throughout the Company. Management maintains a systematic program to
assess comptiance with the policies.included in the standards. :

The Board of Directors, through its Audit/Ethics Committee composed solely of nonemptoyee directors, reviews the Company's
financial reporting, accountinE and ethicat practices. The Audit/Ethics Committee recommends to the Board of Directors the
selection of independent pubUc accountants and reviews their fee arrangements. It meets periodicalty with the independent pub-
tic accountants, management and the corporate auditors to review the work of each and the propriety of the discharge of their
responsibitities. The independent public accountants and the corporate auditors have futt and free access to the Audit/Ethics
Committee, without management present, to discuss auditing and financial reporting matters.

Joe B. Foster
Chairman, hesidint and
Chief heattive 0ffier

G. Stephm Finley
Senior Vice hesident -
Finance and Administraion,
and Chief Financial 0fficer
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Vice hesident and
Controller



INDEPENDEM AIIDITONS' REPORT

Stockholders of Baker Hughes Incorporated:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position of Baker Hughes Incorporated and its sub-

sidiaries as of December 31, 1999 .na fSSA, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equitlr and cash

flows for the years ended Decemb er 37, X999 and 1998, the three month period ended December 37, 7997 and the year ended

September 30, tgg1.0ur audits atso inctuded the financial $tatement schedule II, valuation and qualiffing accounts. Ihese

financial statements and financial statement schedute are'the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibiHty is

to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We condtrcted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and

perform the audit to obtain reasonable .uisurance about whether.the financial statements are free of material rnisstatement. An

audit inctuttes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit

also inctudes assessing the accounting principtes used and sigfficant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the

overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consotidated financial statements present fairty, in alt material respects, the financial position of Baker

Hughes Incorporated and its subsidiaries at December 31, 1999 and 1998, and the resutts oftheir operations and their cash flows

for the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998, the three month period ended December 37,7997 and the year ended

September 30, 7gg7 in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement

schedule II, when conisidered in ietation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, present fairty in att

materiat respects the information set forth therein.

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financiat statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for impair- '

ment of long-lived assets to be disposed of effective 0ctober 7, 7996 to conform with Statement of Financiat Accounting

Standards No. 121.

As described in Note 19, the accompanying consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31, 1998 and the

retated consotidated statement of operations, stockhotders' equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 1998, the

three month period ended December 37, !997, and the year ended September 30,7997 have been restated.

,0t^1.,X I d LLp
Houston, Texas

February 16, 2000
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Baker Eughes Incorporated

C0NS0LIDAIED STAEIT{EIfIS 0F OPERATI0NS

Year Ended

December 31, Ttuee lr{onths Ended

December 37,7997
Year Ended

September 30,7997(In mittions, except per share amounts) 1999 1998

(As Restated - See Note 19

Revenues $ 4,s46.7 $ s,820.6 $ 7,449.0 $ 4,957.e

Coste and $eenses:
Costs ofrevenues
Setling, general and administative
Merger related costs

Unusual charge, net

3,677.7

655.0
(1.6)

8.8

4,745,7
778.0
277.5

196.6

7,057.4

797.6

3,907.7

466.7

Acqufued in-Drocess research and development
51.1

118.0
Total 4,339.9 5,937.8 7,255.0 4,543.5

0perating income (toss)

Interest experuie

Interest income
Umealized gain on trading securities
Spin-off retated costs

206.8
(1se.o)

5.0
31.5

(177.2)

(742.7)

3.7

794.0
(23.6)

7.2

474.4

(88.0)
3.6

(8.4)

Income (Ioss) from continuing operations befoie income
taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change

Income taxes
84.3

(32.0)
(256.2)
(24.7)

777.6
(65.1)

327.6
(149;8)

Income (oss) from continuing operations before
cumulative effect of accounting change

Cumutative effect of accounting change:
Impairmdnt of tong-tived assets to be disposed of

52.3 (280.e) 106.5 777.8

of $6.0 income tax 1

Income (toss) from continuinE operadons 52.3 80.e) 106.5

7.7

759.7

734.3Income from discontinued net of tax
Net income 33,3 296. $ 774.2 $ zs.+

Basic earnings per share:

Income (loss) from continuing operations before
cumulative effect of accounting change

Cumulative effect of accounting change
$ .16 $ (.87) $ $ .57

(.04)
Discontinued net of tax .05
Net $ .08

Dituted earnings per share:

Income (loss) from continuing operations before
cumulative effect of accounting change

Cumulative effect of accounting change
$ .ro $ (.87) $ .33 $ .56

(.04)
Discontinued net of tax .02 .44
Net income 10 $

See Notes to Consolidated Financiat Statements

$
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Baker Hughes Incorporated

CONSOLIDAIED STATXMEI{IS OT EINANGIAI POSIIION

lIn millisns, erceot oar value) December 31,7999 December 31, 1998

(As Restated - See Note 19)

Assets
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable - Iess allowance for doubfful accounts:

December 37,7999, $52.6; December 31, 1998, $46.4

Inventories
Net assets of discontinued operations

0ther current assets

$ 16.9 $ rg.s

7,077.4

800.0
278.3

223.2

7,z5B.z
994.3

267.9

273.3

Total current assets 2,329.8 2,753.2

Property-net
Goodwill and other intangibles - Iess accumutated amortization:

December 37,7999, $3ts.+t December 37,7998, $265.1

2,070.2 2,240.7

Multictient seismic data and other assets

1,694.9
7,004.9

7,744.3

894.7

Total assets $ 7,039.8 $ 7,632.9

Liabitities and Stockhotders' Equity
Current Liabitities:
Accounts payable

Short-term borrowings and current portion oflong-term debt

Accrued emptoyee compensation
Other accrued liabilities

$ 380.9
108.1

165.5'
345.7

$ 487.9

44.4
272.2
378.8

Total current tiabiUties 1,000.2 1,183.3

Lonq-term debt 2,706.0 2,726.3

Deferred income taxes 35.1 752.9

Deferred revenue Uabilities 227.4 405.3

Commitments and contingencies

Stockhotders' equiB:
Common stock, $1 par value (shares authorized - 75O.Oi outstanding

329.8 at December 37,7999 and327.1 at December 31, 1998)

Capitat in excess of par vatue
Retained earnings ( deficit)

329.8
2,987.7

(s1.5)

327.1,

2,937.8
66.7

Accumutated other 188.3

stoc}:holders' 3,077.1 3 765.7

tiabilities equitv $ 7,039.8 $ 7,632.9

See Notes to Consotidated Financial Statements



Baker Hughes Incorporated

CONSOTIDAED STATXMEITTS OF STOCKIIOTDERS' EOUITY

Accumutated 0ther Income (Loss)

Unrealized
Capital Foreign Gain (toss)

In Excess Retained Currency on Securities Pension
Common of Earnings Transtation Available Liabitity Treasury

(ln millions, except per share amounts) Stock Par Value (Deficit) Adjustrnent for Sale Adjustment Stock Total
(As Restated (As Restated
See Note 19) See Note 19)

BAIANCE. SEPrEMBER 30, 1996

as previously reported
Prior period adjustnent (See Note 19 )

$ 289.5 $ ?,448.,4 $ (106,3) $ 1e.3 $ $ (2.1) $ 3,1eo.e

(27.3)

i 542.7

(27.3)

BATAI.ICE, SEMMBER 30, 1996

Comprehensive income:
Net income (As Restated - See Note 19 )
Other comprehensive income (loss)

(net of tax of $1.1, $22.3
and $1.9, respectively)

Total comprehensive income
Drilex pooling of interests
Spin-off of IIIIOVA (See Note 3)
Cash dividends ($.46 per share)

Petotite and other acquisitions
Stock issued pursuant to

employee stock plans

289.5

20.2

4.7

2,448.4

46.9

(513.1)

758.4

87.9

514.8

25.4

5.7

(77.e)

(6e.6)

(106.3)

(2e.8)

79.3

47.4

(2.1) 3,763.6

(3.5)

2.7
33.5

55.3

(5ee.8)
(6e.6)

778.6

(8.8)

13.5 105.5
stock

BALANCE, SEPIEMBER 30, 7997

Comprehensive income:
Net income (As Restated - See Note 19 )
0ther comprehensive income (loss)

(net oftax of $1.6 and

$10.3, respectively)
Total comprehensive income
Cash dividends ($.115 per share)

Stock issued pursuant to
employee stock plans

Adjustnent for change in year end

316.5

0.3

2,828.5

5.5

398.4

174.2

(1e.5)

(3.5) 3,455.7

75.0

(1e.5)

(144.9) 60.7

(1s.6) (22.6)

5.8
(34.6) (34.6)

BALANCE, DICEMBER 3t, 7997

Comprehensive incohe:
Net loss (tu Restated - See Note 19 )
Other comprehensive income (toss)

(net oftax of $0.5, $22.5 and

$0.5, respectivety)
Total comprehensive toss

Cash dividends ($.46 per share)

Stock issued pursuant to

316.8

10.3

2,834.0 458.5 (160.5)

(2e6.1)

5.1

(e6.3)

97.8

38.1

(38.2)

(3.5)

(0.e)

3,483.4

(330.1)
(e6.3)

emplovee stock plans 108.1

BAIANCE, DECEMBER 31, 1998

Comprehensive income:
Net income
0ther comprehensive income (loss)

(net oftax of $2.0, $0.04 and

i0.9, respectively)
Total comprehensive income
Cash dividends ($.46 per share)

Stock issued pursuant to
employee stock plans

327.7 2,937.8

2.7 49.3

(15s.4) (0.1) (4.4)

(30.2) 0.1 1.7

66.1

33.3

(1s0.e)

3,765.7

4.9
(150.e)

52.0

BAI,ANCE, DECEUBER 31, 1999 t 329.8 J2,981.1 $ (s1.5) $ (185.6) t t (2.7) $ $ 3,071.1

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Gash flows from operating activities:
Income (toss) from continuing operations

Adjustments to reconcile income (toss) ftom
continuing operations to net cash flows from
operating activities:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Benefit for deferred income taxes

Noncash portion of nonrecurring charges

Acquired in-process rese;uch and development

Unrealized gain on trading securities

Gain on disposal of assets

Cumulative effect of accounting change

.1999 1998

$ s2.3 $ (280.e)

December 31,

Restated: See Note 19

$ roo.s

139.0
(4.2)

(12.0)

$ tsg.z

778.4
(47.2)
70.3

(31.5)
(47.0)

745.4
(107.0)

492.7

(32.0)

546.3
(3.e)
32.5

118.0

(1e.5)

72.7

Baker Hughes IncolBorated

CONSOLII}ATTD STAIEMENIS OT CASH FTOWS

Year Ended

December 31, Three Months Ended Year Ended

September 30,7997

in assets and liabilities
547.3 794.2

77.2

97.4

9Net cash flows operations 770.4

13.9Net cash flows frorn discontinued
Net cash from 1

(633.8)

151.9

817.4

(1,301.0)

100.0

(457.6)

77.9

749.8 724.3

Gash flows from investing activities:
Expenditures for capital assets and multiclient

seismic data
Proceeds from disposal of assets

Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired

Cash obtained in stock acquisitions
Proceeds from sate of investments

(zes.2)
20.5

(43.1)

(1,041.3)
67.7

(107.6)

68.7

48.5

Net cash flows from continuing operations (481.e) (1,658.6) (317.8) (e70.0)

Net cash flows from discontinued
Net cash flows from

Cash flows from financing activities:
Net borrowings (paynrents) from commercial

paper and revolving credit facilities
Repayment of indebtedness
Borrowings of long-term debt
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Divitlends

4.3
486.

(820.5)
(150.0)

7,070.7

47.6
(150.e)

2

675.

7,282.3
(374.s)

27.7
(e6.3)

(2e.0)
(21.4)

408.
7,378.

477.0
(128.7)

80.0
(6e.6)

73.6

(1e.s)
230.0from LN0VA,Inc.

Net from continuing operations
Net cash flows from discontinued
Net activities
Adjustment in year

Effect of

4.5
838.6

838.6

773.7

13.1

462.3

270.4

672.7

2.7rate on cash

equivatents (2.6)

19.5

186.8
(17.3)

(2.0)
45-7

16.8

28.3

1.1

Increase decrease

Cash and cash of
Cash and cash

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

9

43.7

79.5 $ +g.r $ 45.7
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Baker Bughes Incorporated
NOTXS TO CONSOTIDAIED FINANCIAI STAIEMENIS

NOT T. BASIS OF PRESEMATIONAITD NESTATMEIIT

,Itre Consolidated Financial Statements inctude the accounts of Baker Hughes Incorporated and atl majority owned subsidiaries
(the "Compan/ or "Baker Hughes"). In the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, att ttotlar amounts in tabulations are in
millions of dollars unless otherwise indicated.

Ghange in Year-end

0n August 27, !998, the Board of Directors of Baker Hughes approved a change in the fiscal year-end of the Company from
September 30 to December 31, effective with the calendar year beginning January 1, 1998. A three month transition period from
October 7, 7997 through December 37, 7997 (the 'Transition Period") precedes the start of the 1998 fiscal year. ":rgg7' refers to
the year ended September 30, the Transition Period refers to the three months ended December 31, 1997, and "1rgg}" and'1999"
refers to the twelve months ended December 31, 1998 and 1999, respectively.

Restatement

As more fuIty described in Note 19 "Restatemenf, the financial statements and related disclosures as of and for the periods
ended December 31, 1998, the Transition Period and the year ended September 30, 7997 have been restated to correct accounting
errors identified in the Company's accounting records.

Discontinued Operations

0n February 76, 2000, the Company's Board of Directors approved, in principle, a ptan to sell the Company's Baker Process div!
sion. Accordingty, att prior period consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto have been restated to present the
operations of Baker Process (which were separatety accounted for as a segment) as a discontinued operation. See Note 3 for further
discussion of discontinued operations

I,[erger

0n August 70, 7998, Baker Hughes completed a merger (the "Merge/') with Western Atlas Inc. ("Western Atlas"). The Merger
was accounted for as a pooting of interests and, accordingly, alt prior period consolidated financial statements of Baker Ilughes
have been restated to include the results of operations, financiat position and cash flows ofWestern Atlas. Certain amounts have
been rectassified to conform the reporting practices ofBaker Hughes and Western Atlas.

In connection with the Merger, in 1998 the Company recorded merger related costs as summarized below:

Totat

Charge

Amounts
paid in

1998

Amounts
paid in

1999

Adjustnents
1999

Accrued
Balance at

December 31,

1999

Cash costs
Transaction costs

Employee costs
$ 51.5

87.2

20.6

$ (46.e)
(66.2)

$ r.s
10.8

2.7

$

Other costs

74.8
Noncash

Totat $ 277.5

Transaction costs of $51.5 mitlion inctude banking, legal and printing fees and other costs directty related to the Merger.

Emptoyee related costs of $87.2 miltion primuity consist of payments made to certain officers of Western Attas and Baker
Hughes pursuant to change in conbot provisions, $60.3 miltion, and severance benefits paid to terminated emptoyees whose
responsibilities were deemed redundant as a result of the Merger, $15.4 million. The remaining accrued employee costs represent
retirement benefits of certain employees that will be paid, in accordance with the terms of their agreements, over the lives of the
covered emptoyees.
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gther integration costs inctude the costs of changing legal registrations in various jurisdictions, terminating a joint venture as

a result of the Merger, changing signs and logos at the Company's major facitities around the world and other integration costs.

The noncash charge of $58.2 million consists of a charge of $45.3 mi[ion related to the triggering of change of control rights

contained in certain Western Atlas employee stock option plans that were not converted to Baker Hughes options concurrent with
the Merge4 a chuge of $3.9 million for the issuance of the Company's common stock pursuant to certain stock plans as a resutt

of the change in controt; and a $9.0 million charge recorddd to write-off the carrying value of a product line that was discontin-

ued as a result of the Merger.

During 1999 the Company reviewed the remaining balances of the accruals for cash merger charges and made $1.6 million of

adjustments to reflect the current estimates of remaining expendihues. These adjustments inctuded reversals of previous$ recorded

accruals that will not be utilized. Ttre adjustments related primarity to other integration costs.

Ttre Company expects that, of the $14.8 mitUon accrual at December 3!, 7ggg, $2.0 miltion wilt be spent by June 2000 and

$2.4 mittion will be spent by December 37,2007, with the remaining accrual being spent over the remaining tife of the related

contrachral obligations.

NOTX 2. SUM}IARY OF SIGMHCAITf AGGOUIITING POLICIES

Principtes of consolidation: the consolidated financial statements include those of the Company anil all majority owned sub-

sidiaries. Investments in which the Company owns 2(ts/o to 500/o and exercises significant influence over operating and financiat
policies are accounted for using the equity method. AtI significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated

in consolidation.

Use of estimates: Ttre preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires.

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of con-

tingent assets and tiabilities at the date ofthe financial statements and the reported amounts ofrevenues and expenses durinE

the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Revenue recognition: Revenue from product sales are recognized upon detivery ofproducts to the customer. Revenue from ser-

vices and rentals are recorded when such services are rendered.

Cash equivatents: Ttre Company considers att highty liquid investments with an originat maturity of three months or less at the
time of purchase to be cash equiratents.

Inventories: Inventories are stated primarily at the lower of average cost or market.

Property: Property is stated principally at cost less accumulated depreciation, which is generally provided by using the straight-
line method over the estimated useful lives of individual items. ltre Company manufactures a substantial portion of its rental
tsols and equipment, and the cost of these items includes direct and indirect manufacturing costs.

The Company is devetoping and implementing SAP R/3 as an enterprise-wide sofhuare system. External direct costs of consult-
ing services and payroll related cost of employees who work full-time on implementation of the enterprise-wide software qJstem

are capitalized. Costs associated with business process reengineering are erpensed as incurred.

The Company uses the fult-cost method of accounting for its investment in oil and gas properties. Under this method, the
Company capitalizes atl acquisition, exploration, and development costs incurred for the purpose of finding oit and gas reserves.

Depreciation, depletion, and amortization of oil and gas properties is computed using the unit-of-production method based upon
production and estimates of proved resewes. Due to ceiling test limitations, the Company had write-downs of $69.3 mitUon and

$12.5 million during 1998 and 1997, respectively.

MulficUent Seismic Data: Costs incu-rred in the creatiort of Company owned multiclient seismic data are capitalized and amor-

tized over the estimated revenue that the Company expects to receive from the licensing of such data. Cash prepaynents received

from customers for specific contracts are included in deferred revenue until earned.

Impairment oJ assets: The Company adopted Statement ofFinancialAccounting Standards (SFAS") No. 121, Accounting for fhe

Impairment of lang-Liveit Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed 0J. effective October 1, 7996. The statement sets forth
guidance as to when to recognize an impairment of long-tived assets, inctuding goodwill, and how to meazure such an impair-
ment. The methodology set forth in SFAS No. 121 is not significantly different ftom the Company's prior policy and, therefore, the
adoption of SFAS No. 121 did not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements as it relates to impairment of
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long-lived assets used in operations, Ihe accounting for tong-lived assets to be disposed of requires these assets to be carried at
the lower of cost or fair market value as determined by a discounted cash flow analysis, rather than the lower of cost or net real-
izable value, the method that was previously used by the Company. Ihe Company recognized a charge to income of $12.1 miltion
($.04 per share-diluted), net of a tax benefit of $6.0 million, in 1997 as the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principte.

At December 37, 7999 , the Company had long-tived assets held for disposat of approximatety 50 real properties with a carrying
vatue of $37.5 miltion, ranging in size from a few hundred square feet to 2OO,0OO square feet and located primarity in the United
States. this porffolio of real property inctudes tand and offices, manufacturing, repair and warehouse space in various tocations
where oilfietd activity takes place. The makeup. ofthe porffolio changes over time as properties are sold and as properties that are
surplus to operation's needs are added. Baker Hughes employs two ftrl1-time real estate professionals whose responsibitities
include the marketing, Ieasing, management and sale of these facitities. Ttre methodology trsed in determining the fair market
value of the properties includes comparison to recent sales and listing of simitarly situated facilities and discussions with real
estate brokers and agents concerning e:rpectations about current and future reat properlry prices and rental rates.

Investments: Investnents in debt and equity securities, other than those accounted for bythe equity method, are classified as

either trading securities and reported at fair vatue with unrealized gains or losses included in earnings or as available for sale and
reported at fair value with unreatized gains and tosses, net of tax, recorded as a separate component of accumulated other com-
prehensive income within stockholders' equrty. The Company currentty holds equity securities in Tuboscope, Inc. In 1999, the
Company announced its intention to dispose ofits hotdings'in Tuboscope, Inc. and has reclassified it accordingty. As a result of
this decision, the Company recognized a pre-tax unusual gain of $31.5 miltion in 1999.

Goodwitt and 0ther Intangibtes: Goodwilt arising ftom acquisitions is amortized using the straight-tine method over the lesser of
its expected useful life or 40 years. Other intangibles are stated at cost and are amortized on a straight-tine basis over the assefs
estimated usefuI life. The carrying amount of unamortized goodwill and other intangibles is reviewed for potential impairment
loss when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recorded in the period in which it is determined that the carrying amount is not recoverable. The determination of recoverability
is rnade based upon the estimated undiscounted future net cash flows, excluding interest expense, of the business unit to which
the goodwill or other intangibtes retate.

Income tores: Deferred i4come taxes are determiried utitizing an asset and tiabitity approach. This method gives consideration to
the future tax conseguences associated with differences between the financial accounting and tax bases of assets and tiabilitiei.

Environmental matters: Remediation costs are accrued based on estimates of known environmental remediation e:<posure. Such
accruals are recorded even if significant uncertainties exist over the ultimate cost ofthe remediation. 0ngoing environmental
compliance costs, including maintenance and monitoring costs, are expensed as incurred. Where the Company has been identified
as a potentialty responsible parly in a Federat Superfund site, the Company accrues its share of the estimated remediation costs of
the site based on the ratio that the estfunated votume of waste contributed to the site by the Company bears to the total volume
of waste at the site.

Stock based compeneation: fire intrinsic value method of accounting is used for stock based employee compensation whereby no
compensation expense is recognized when the exercise price of al employee stock option is equal to or greater than the market
price of the Company's common stock on the grant date.

foreign orrrenry translation: Gains and losses resulting from balance sheet tr.anstation of foreign operations where a foreign cur-
rency is the functional currency are included as a separate component of comprehensive income within stockholders' equity. Gains

and losses resulting from balance sheet kanslition of foreign operations where the U.S. Doltar is the functional currenry are

included in the consotidated statements of operations.

Financiat instruments: The Company uses forward exchange contracts and currency swaps to hedge certain firm commitments and
transactions denominated in foreign currencies. Gains and losses on forward contacts are deferred and offset against foreign
exchange gains or losses on the underlying hedged item. Ttre Company uses interest rate swaps to manage interest rate risk. Ttre

interest differentials from interest rate swaps are recognized as an adjustnent to interest expense. Ihe Company's policies do not
permit financiat instrument transactions for speculative purposes.
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1999

0n February 76,2000, the Company's Board of Directors approved, in principle, a plan to selt the Company's Baker Process divi-
sion. Baker Process manufachrrers and selts process equipment for separating solids from tiquids and liquids from liquids through
filtration, sedirnentation, centrifugation and flotation processes. Accordingly, the Company's consolidated financial statements and

related notes thereto have been restated to present the operations of Baker Process (which were separatety accounted for as a seg-

ment) as a discontinued operation. The Company has retained an investnent-banking fum to manage the sate process. Income

(loss) from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 7ggg, includes the estimated results of operations of Baker

hocess for 2000 of $(1.4) million, net of $.7 tax, including allocated interest expense. Income (loss) from discontinued operations

for atl respective periods presented includes interest expense allocated on the basis ofthe net assets of Baker Process compared to
the Company's stockholders' equity and consolidated debt. Corporate, general and administative costs ofthe Companywere not
allocated to Baker Process for any ofthe periods presented.

Certain information with respect to discontinued operations of Baker Process is as foltows:

Year Ended

December 31,

1999 1998

Ttuee Months Ended

December 37,7997

Year Ended

September 10,7997

Revenue $ 389.8 $ 490.1 $ 123.9 $ 385.7

Altocated interest

Income (Ioss) before income taxes
Provision for income taxes

7.6 6.2

(26.2)
7.2

(21.5)
6.3

0.9

7.8

3.2

31.5

10

Income (toss) from discontinued
operations of Baker Process $(19.0) $ (1s.2) $ 4.9 $ 20.6

Income (loss) before income taxes from discontinued operations includes merger, unusual and nonrecurring charges of
$(a.O) milUon in 1999 and $39.2 miltion in 1998. Ihe 1999 amount results from adjustments to the remaining accrual balances for
items that wilt not be utilized. Ttre adjustments relate primarily to terminated leases and severance costs. The 1998 amount con-

sists of integration costs of $10.2 million, severance of $6.3 million, impairment of inventory of $13.0 miltion, impairment of
proper\r, equipment and other assets of $8.1 mitlion and merger related costs of $f .0 mitlion.

Net assets of Baker Process are as follows:

As of December 31,

1999 1998

Current assets

Noncurrent assets
$ 234.9

185.8
$ 227.3

242.7

Total assets 420.7 423.4
Current Uabilities
Noncurrent tiabilities

732.0

70.4

742.4

742.0

73.5

755.5

Net assets of Baker Process $ 278.3 $ 267.9

7997

In May 1997, the Western Atlas Board of Directors approved, in principal, a plan to distribute (the "Spin-off') to Western Atlas

sharehotders all of the outstanding common stock of t NOVA, Inc. ("lIN0Vff), a whotly owned subsidiary of Western Atlas, orga-
nized to conduct Vrlestern Atlas' industrial automation systems business. fursuant to the Spin-off, on 0ctober 31, 1997, each
Western Atlas shareholder received an equivalent number of shares of UN0VA common stock in a tax-free transaction. As

e:rptained in Note 1, the fiscal year financial information for Baker Hughes for the year ended September 30, 7gg7 includes
Western Atlas' results for calendar year 1997. Hence, on the statements of consotidated stockholders' equity, the Spin:off of
IIN0VA is included in the year ended September 30, 1997.

Income (Ioss) from discontinued operations inctudes interest expense attocated on the basis of debt levets assumed in the
Spin-off. Corporate, general and administrative costs ofWestern Atlas were not allocated to IIN0VA for any ofthe periods pre-

sented. Concunent with the Spin-off, IIN0VA repaid Vtlesterrt Atlas for intercompany indebtedness totating $230.0 million.

35



Baker Ilughes Incorporated

NOIES T0 C0NSOIIDAIED FINANCIAI STAIIMENTS (Gontinued)

Discontinued operations of IIN0VA are as follows:

Three Months Ended

December 31,7997
Year Ended

September 30,7997

Revenue $ 107.0 $ 1,201.1

Allocated interest expense 7.7 77.2

Alocated interest income

Income (loss) before income taxes
Provision for income taxes

2.7

$ +.t
(1.e)

$ (122.7)
(32.2)

Income (toss) from discontinued operations of UN0VA $ z.a $ (154.e)

NOTE 4. EARNTNGS PER SHARE

A reconciliation ofthe numerators and denominators ofthe basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS") computaUons for
income (loss) from continuing operations is as follows:

Year Ended

December 31,

1999 1998

three Months Ended

December 37,7997

Year Ended

September 30,7997

(As Restated - See Note 19 )

Numerator:
Income (Ioss) from continuing operations
Effect of ditutive securities, net oftax:

Liquid Yietd Option Notes

$ 52.3 $ (280.e) $ 106.5

7.7

$ 171.8

Adjusted income (Loss) from continuing
operations for dituted EPS $ 52.3 $ (280.e) $ 108.2 $ 171.8

Denominator:
Weighted average common shares outstanding
Effect ofdilutive securities, net oftax:

Stock plans

Liquid Yield 0ption Notes

328.2

7.7

327.7 376.2 299.5

5.26.2

7.?

Adjusted weighted average common shares

outstanding for diluted EPS 329-9 327.7 329-6 304.7

Securities excluded from the computation of diluted EPS for the year ended December 31, 1999 that could potentia[y dilute basic

EPS in the future were options to purchase 10.2 mittion shares and Liquid Yietd 0ption Notes convertible into 7.2 mittion shares.
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Inventories are comprised of the following:

December 31, 1999 December 31, 1998

Finished goods

Work in process

Raw materials

$ 651.0

62.3

86.7

(ts Restat€d - See Note 19)

$ 808.6
67.9

777.8

$ 800.0 $ 994.3

NOIE 6. PROPEBTY, GOODWItI AITD OIHER NIANGIBTES

Property, plant and equipment is comprised of the following:

AmortizationPeriod December37,1999 December 31. 1998

(As Restated - See Note 19)

tand
Buitdings and improvements
Machinery and equipment
Rental tools and equipment
Oil and qas proDerties, fuIt cost method

5 - 40 years

2 - 15 years

1 - 10 years

67.2

533.6
2,,079.8

838.1
270.3

81.8
580.2

2,247.9

89s.0
225.7

$

Total property 3,789,0 4,030.0

Accumulated depreciation and deptetion (1,778.8) (1,789.3)

Property-net $ 2,070.2 $ 2,240.7

Goodwilt and other intangibles are as follows:

AmortizationPeriod December37,7999 .December 31, 1998

Goodwitl
Other intangible assets

5 - 40 years

3 - 30 years
$ 1,696.0

374.3

(As Restated - See Note 19)

$ 1,688.3
327.7

Total goodwill and other intangibles
Accumulated amortization

2,070.3 2,009.4

Goodwitl and other - net $ 1,694.9 $ 7,744.3

N01E 7. ACot,ISmoNS AND DTSPoSmoNS

In addition to the acquisitions discussed separately below, the Company made several sma[er acquisitions in each respective
year with an aggregate purchase price of $119.2 million during 1998, $74.3 million during the Transition Period and $98.4 miltion
tn 7997. No significant acquisitions were made during 1999. Ttrese acquisitions were accounted for using the purchase method of
accounting. Accordingly, the cost of each acquisition has been alloeated to assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their
estimated fair market values at the date of the acquisition. The operating resutts of these acquisitions are included in the consoli-
dated statements of operations from their respective acquisition date. Pro forma results of these acquisitions have not been pre-

sented as the pro forma revenue, income before accounting change and earnings per share would not be materially different from
the Company's actual resutts.

1998

WEDGE and 3-D

In Aprit 1998, the Company acquired all the outstanding stock of WEDGE DIA-L0G, Inc. ("I1IEDGE") for $218.5 mitlion in cash.
WEDGE specialized in cased-hole togging and pipe recovery services. Atso in April 1998, the Company acquired 3-D Geophysical,
Inc. ("3-D") for $117.5 million in cash. 3-D was a supptier of primarily land-based seismic data acquisition services. Ttre purchase

method of accounting was used to record both of these acquisitions. Pro forma results of these two acquisitiens have not been
presented as the pro forma revenue, net income and earnings per share would not be materialty different from the Company's

acfual results
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1997

PetroUte

In JuIy 1997, the Company acquired Petolite Corporation ("Petrolite") and Wm. S. Barnickel & Company ("Barnicket"), the
holder of 47.Loh of Petrolite's common stock, for 19.3 mitlion shares of the Company's common stock having a value of $730.2 mit-
tion in a three-way business combination. Ttre purchase method of accounting was used to record these acquisitions. Additionalty,
the Company assumed Petrolite's.outstanding vested and unvested employee stock options, which were converted into the right to
acquire 1.0 million shares of the Companls common stock. Such assumption of Petrolite options by the Company had a fair market
value of $21.0 million resulting in total consideration in the acquisitions of $751.2 million. Petrolite, the shares of which rvere pre-

viousty publicty traded, was a manufacturer and marketer of specialty chemicals used in the petroleum and process industies.
Barnickel was a privatety held company that owned marketable securities, which were sold after the acquisition, in addition to its
investment in Petrolite.

The acquisition of Petrolite in 1997 was accounted for as a purchase. Accordingty, the purchase price was allocated to the
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair market values at the date ofthe acquisition. In accor-
dance with genera\ accepted accounting principles, the $118.0 million allocated to in-process research and development has

been recorded as a charge in the consolidated statembnt of operations as ofthe acquisition date because the technotogicat feasi-
bility of the projects in-process had not been estabtished and there was no alternative future use at that date.

There were twenty-six individual research and development projects that were in devetopment at the time of the acquisition that
were classified as in-process research and development. The producB under devetopment were valued using a discounted cash flow
analysis ata74o/o discount factor. The cash hows were projected for a 20 year period and inctuded additional research and develop-
ment and capital expenditures required to comptete the projects. The gross rnargins used for these products were generalty consis-

tent with those of other products sotd by the Company. T\e 74o/o discount factor used considered the tjme value of money, inflation
and the risk inherent in the projects under development. In aggregate, the remaining completion costs for these products were pro-
jected to exceed $z.Z mitlion with completion periods varying from 90 days to two years. As of December 31, 1999, seventeen of
these products had generated commerciat sates, five had product sales on a trial basis only, and four were determined not to be

viable products. During 1999, revenues from these products totaled approximately $7.6 million.

Ihe Company incurred certain liabitities as part of the ptan to combine the operations of Petrolite with those of t}te Company. I1rcse

liabilities relate to the Petrolite operations and include severance of $13.8 mittion for redundant marketing, manufachrring and admin-
istrative personnel, retocation of $5.8 million for moving equipment and tansferring marketing and technology personnel, primarity
from St. louis to Houston, and environmental remediation of $16.5 million for redundant properties and facitities that were to be sold.

Cash spent during 1999, 1998, the Transition Period and 1997 totaled $6.0 million, $12.9 miltion, $2.1 miltion and $7.7 million,
respectively. 0f the remaining accrual of $7.4 mitlion, $6.8 mil[on relates to environmental remediation, and will be spent as the prop-

erties are remediated.

Drilex

In JuIy 1997, the Company acquired Drilex International Inc. ("Drilex"), a provider ofproducts and senrices used in the direc-
tional and horizontal dritting and workover of oil and gas wetls, for 2.7 mitlion shares of the Company's common stock. The acqui-

sition was accounted for using the pooling of interests method of accounting. Under this method of accounting, the historical
cost basis ofthe assets and liabilities ofthe Company and Drilex are combined at recorded amounts and the resutts of operations

ofthe combined companies for 7997 are included in the 1997 consolidated statement of operations. Ttre historical resutts ofthe
separate companies for years prior to 1997 are not combined because the retained earnings and results of operations of Dritex are

not material to the consolidated financial statements ofthe Company.

Nonnd and United Barcode lndustries

Ttre Company acquired Norand Corporation ('ltlorand") on March 3, 7997, and United Barcode Industries ("UBI1 on April 4,

1997. These companies were integrated into the Company's industrial automation Erstems operations and included in the Spin-off
of IINOVA. The purchase method of accounting was used to record these acquisitions; and, accordingly, the acquisition costs of
$280.0 million and $107.0 million for Norand and UBI, respectively, were allocated to the net assets acquired based upon their
retative fair vatues. In accordance with generalty accepted accounting principles, such aUocation assigned a combined value for
the two acquisitions of $203.0 million to in-process research and development activities, which was e:tpensed in 1997 because its
technotogicat feasibility had not been established and it had no alternative future use at the date of acquisition.
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NOTT 8. UNUSUAI AI{D OIHER CIIARGES

1999

As a result of continuing low activity levels, predominantly for the Company's seismic products and services, the Company

recorded charges during the fourth quarter of 1999 totaling $722.5 million as summarized below:

Charqe

Amounts
Paid in

1999

Accrued
Balance at

December 31,

1999

Total

Cash charges

Severance for approximatety 800 employees

Lease termination and other contractual obUgations
$ 72.5

36.0
2.2

$ z.z
7.5

$ 10.3

34.5
2.2Other cash es

Subtotal charges 50.7 $ S.Z $ 47.0

Noncash charges - write-off and write-down of property and equipment 72.1

Totat cash and noncash charges $ 722,8

The employee groups terminated were executive, marketing, field service and support personnel of which approximately 200

were terminated as of December 31, 1999. Ihe amount accrued for severance is based upon the positions eliminated and the
Company's written severance policy and does not inctude any portion ofthe employees' salarythrough their severance dates.

Based upon current estimates, the Company estimates that att of the accrued severance at December 37, 7999 witt be paid during
2000 when the employees leave the Company.

The Company accrued $36.0 miltion related to expected costs to settle contactual obtigations based upon managemenfs deci-

sion to reduce or abandon certain operations and based on the terms ofthe applicable agreements. These costs consist primuily
of the cost of terminating leases on certain marine vessels that are being taken out of service and removed from the fleet.

The impairnent of property includes the write-off or write-down of certain assets udtized in the Company's seismic business.

these assets are being scrapped or otherwise being disposed of and consist of $31.7 million of tand and marine recording equipment,

$1.6 million of data processing equipment and $19.6 mil[on of marine vessels to be sold or otherwise abandoned. Write down
amounts were generalty determined by use ofinternal appraisal techniques to assess the estimated fair vatue to be realized upon
disposal. 0n an annuatized'basis, the effect of etiminating depreciation on assets written down or written off is approximately

$19.4 mi[ion.

During 1999 the Company reatized nonrecurring gains totating $54.8 million. Ttre Company sold two large excess real estate
properties and realized net gains totaling $39.5 million. Ihe Company received net proceeds of $68.1 miltion. In addition, the
Company sold certain assets retated to its previous divestiture of aJoint venture and realized a net gain of $15.3 miltion,

During 1999 the Company reviewed the remaining balances of the accruals for cash charges and made $7.4 miltion of adjust-
ments to reflect the current estimates of remaining expenditures. These adjustments included reversals of previousty recorded
accruats that will not be utitized. Ttre adjustments related.primarity to severance accruals and lease obligations. In addition, for
accruats related to certain terminated lease bbligations, revisions were made to increase previously recorded amounts based on
current information and estimates of expected cash flows related to these leases.

Tfrese items were reflected in the fo[owing captions of the consolidated statement of operations:

Charges Credits Adjustrnents Total

Cost of revenues
Setting, general and administrative

$ 72.7 $ tz.t
(20.3)

8.8
$ (15.3) $ (s.o)

Unusual
722.8 60.6

1998

Ihe Company had experienced high growth levels for its products and services from 1994 through the second quarter of 1998.

During the thiid and fourth quarters of 1998, the Company experienced a decline in demand for its products and seryices as a

result of a significant decrease in the price of oil and naturat gas. fire decline in customer demand materialized quickly from the
previous high growth rates.
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As a result of this sharp decline in demand and to adjust to the lower tevel of activity, the Company assessed its overatt opera-
tions and recorded charges of $551.9 million as summarized below. Substantialy all of the charges originate from the Company's

oiUield operating segment.
Accrued

Amounts Amounts Balance at
Total paid in paid in Adjustnents December 31.

Charge 1998 1999 1999 1999

Cash charges

Severance for approximatety 5,200 employees

Integration costs, abandoned teases and other
contactual obligations :

Abandoned teases

Contractual obtigations
Integration costs

Environmental res erves

0ther cash costs (inctudes litigation reserves)

$ s8.0 $ (24.2) $ (31.2) $ (1.3)

77.7

13.5

4.6
8.8

27.4

(1.8)
(7.6)
(2.6)
(4.3)
(4.7)

(4.6)
(5.3)
(2.0)
(3.6)
(s.5)

5.90.6
(0.6)

(1.1)
0.9

10.1

Subtotal cash charges 118.0 $ 45 52.2 $$ $ 18.2
Noncash charges - writiyoff and write-down of:

Inventory and' rental tools
Petro Atliance Services Company Limited
Properlry and other assets

0i1 and gas properties (ceiting-test)
Intangible assets

Real estate held for sale

Investments in affiliates

760.2

83.2

75.7
69.3
77.8

77.0

70.7

Subtotai noncash 433.9

Totat cash and nonrash 557.9

Ttre above charges were reflected in the following captions of the consolidated statement of operations:

Cost of revenues
Setling, general and administrative
Unusual charge

$ 286.6
68.7

196.6
Total $ 5s1.9

The employee groups terminated were marketing, manufacturing, fietd service personnel, engineering and administrative sup-
port. Substantially atl emptoyees were terminated as of December 31, 1999. The amount accrued for severance is based upon the
Company's written severance policy and the positions eliminated. The accrued severance does not include any portion ofthe
employees' salaries through their severance dates. Based upon current severance dates, the Company e:rpects that ofthe accrued

severance remaining at December 37, 7999, substantially atl witl be paid during 2000.

The Company accrued $29.8 million to combine operations and consotidate facilities. Such accrual includes costs to settle
leases on idled facilities based upon lease agreements; to shut-down oit and gas operations in certain countries based upon man-

agemenfs decision to abandon operations; to terminate a rig contract based upon the terms ofthe agreement; and other colloca-

tion costs based upo4 the estimated exit costs for approved plans. Ihe accrual does not include any portion ofthe costs before

actual abandonment of the facilities or ceasing of the operations. the remaining accrual of $5.9 million retated to abandoned

leases will be spent according to the lease terms.

The accrual for environmentalreserves relates to additional costs to remediate properties obtained in the Juty 1997 Petrotite

acquisition. Ttre Company completed a thorough review of substantially alt the Petrolite properties in September 1998 and deter-
mined that arlditionat costs would be incurred in remediating the properties. The Company started the remediation in 1999 and

e:rpects it to be substantially completed during 2000.

0ther cash costs of $21.4 million include costs to settle certain titigation, $10.9 million, costs to settle contrachral obtigafions,

$2.9 million, and costs to dispose of obsotete inventory, $2.9 miltion. Ttre remaining accrual of $10.1 million retates to contac-
tual obligations and anticipated legat settlements; The Company expects to spend the majority of the remaining accruat by the
end of 2000.
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ltre impairment of inventory and rentat tool assets'of $160.2 miltion was due to advances in technotogy that have obsoteted

certain product tines, as wetl as a dectine in market demand that has resulted in an excess supply of certain products. Virtuatly all
operating divisions recorded an impairment charge. Ihe product tines most affected were completion products, dritling and erralu-

ation Erstems and toots and tricone and diamond driU bits. Substantially all the obsolete and stow-moving inventory and rental '

tools were comptetely written-off and will be scrapped.

In the third quarter of 1998, the Company recorded an $83.2 million write-down of PetroAlliance Services Company Limited
("PAS"), a former consolidated joint venture operadng in the former Soviet Union ltre write-down of the joint venture was based

upon the Company's estimated vatue of assets ultimatety reieived in consideration of the sate of the PAS investment in November
1998. The Company received as consideration for the sale ofPAS a seismic vessel, other seismic and wetl-logging assets, certain
PAS assets in Kazakhstan and Turkmmistan, certain customer receivables and a $33.0 million note from the purchasers. The

write-down included $10.7 miltion for equipment , $22.0 million of goodwilt, and $50.5 million of net current assets.

The impairment of property and other assets of $75.7 mitlion ineludes an $18.1 million write-down to reduce the carrying
value of a portion of the Company's drilling equipment; a $12.6 million write-off of obsolete solid and oil-fitted sbeamer sections
used on seismic vessels; a $14.9 miltion write-down of surplus welt-toggrng equipment; a $9.5 mitlion write-off of prepaid royalties
on an abandoned product line; and $20.6 mittion of assets writtm down to fair market vatue. Ihe char,ges described as write-offs
resulted in the carrying vatue of the items being written down to zero. Charges described as write-downs resulted in the carrying
value of the items being written down to estimated faii value. Estimated fair vatue was genera[y determined by discounting the
estimated future cash flows at a rate of 72o/o a\d by appraisat techniques. 0n an annualized basis, the effect of eliminating depreci:
ation for properties and assets written down and written off is approximatety $12 miltion.

Ttre write-off of intangibte assets of $17.8 mitlion includes $2.7 million for capitalized software costs for product Lines aban-
doned as a resutt of recent acquisitions; $5.3 million for capitatized developmerrt costs for software qystems that are being
replaced by the Company's implementation of SAP R/3; and $9.8 million for goodwill associated with a discontinued business and
a subsidiary held for sale. Ttre goodwill resufted from small acquisitions, the businesses of which had suffered from the downturn
in the market conditions resulting in the Compant's decision to discontinue the business and sell the subsidiary. Ttre write-off
represented the entirety ofthe goodwitt for these acquisitions. In the case ofthe subsidiary held for sale, the urrite-down was
based on discussions with potential buyers. Ihe impact of the results of operations of the businesses in 1999 is not significant.

Ttre write-down of real estate held for sate of $17.0 mittion is for a specific property and the charge reduces the carrying value
to the properns appraised vatue. In September 1998, foltowing the Merger, the Company decided to sell the facitity in order to
generate cash to pay down debt. Prior to the decision to sell the property, the expected future rental income ftom a long-term
tease was e:rpected to recover the carrying value ofthe property. During 1999 the Company sotd the property.

fire $10.7 million charge is to write-off investnents in joint ventures in both Russia and Indonesia and due to the deteriorating
market and economic conditions in these two countries. lhe write-off represents the entire amount of the Company's investment in
these two joint ventures. Ttre charge also includes a $2.8 million loss on the sale of Tracor Europa, a discontinued subsidiary

1997

During the year ended September 30, 7997, the Company recognized a $51.1 miltion unusual charge consisting of the following

Baker Petrotite:
Severance for 140 employees
Relocation ofpeopte and equipment
Environmental
Abandoned leases

Integration costs

Inventory write-down
Write-down of other assets

Dritex:
Write-down ofproperty and other assets

Banking and legal fees

Discontinued product tines:
Severance for 50 employees

$ z.t
3.1

5.0
7.4

2.5

11.3

9.1

4.7
3.0

7.5

8.0Write-down of
Total

and.other assets

51.1
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NOTES T0 C0NSOLIDAIED FINANCIAI STATEMEI{TS (Continued)

In connection with the acquisitions of Petrotite, accounted for as a purchase, and Drilex, accounted for as a pool.ing of interests,

the Company recorded unusual charges of $34.5 million and $7.1 million. respectively, to combine the acquired operations with
those ofthe Company. The charges include the cost of closing redundant facilities, etiminating or relocating personnel and equip-

ment and rationalizing inventories which required disposat at amounts less than cost. A $9.5 miltion charge was recorded as a

result ofthe decisions to: (1) discontinue a low margin, oitfietd product line in Latin America; and, (2) sell the Tracor Europa sub-

sittiary a computer peripherals distributor, which was written down to net reatizable value. Cash provisions of the unusual charge

totated $18.5 mittion. Ihe Company spent $5.5 milUon during 1997, $1.6 mil[on during the Transition Period, and substantialty att

of the remaining $11.4 mittion in 1998.
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Short-term debt with an average interest rate of 6.290/o at
December 37,7999

Commercial Paper with an average interest rate of 5.81% at
December 37,7999

7,625% Notes due February 1999 with an effective interest rate
of. 7.73o/o

Debentures with an effective interest rate of 8.59%, due January 2000

5.8% Notes due February 2003 with an effective interest rate of 6.04o/o,

net of unamortized discount of $.7 at December 37, 7999

8% Notes due May 2004 with an effective interest rate of 8.08%,

net of unamortized discount of $.6 at December 31, 1999

($.4 at December 31, 1998)

7.875% Notes due June 2004 with an effective interest rate of 8.73%,
net of unamortized discount of $1.8 at December 31, 1999

($2.2 at December 31, 1998)

Liquid Yietd Option Notes due May 2008 with a yietd to maturity
of 3.5o/o per annum, net of unamortized discount of $99.4 at
December 37,7999 ($109.6 at December 31, 1998)

6.25% Notes due January 2009 with an effective interest rate of 6.38o/o,

net ofunamortized discount of $2.8 at December 37,7999

6% Notes due February 2009 with an effective interest rate of 6.770/o,

net of unamortized discount of $1.5 at December 31, 1999

8.55% Debentures due June 2024 with an effective interest rate of 8.80%,
net ofunamortized discount of $2.7 at December 37,7999
($2.8 at December 31, 1998)

6.875o/o Notes due January 2029 with an effective interest rate of 7.08%,

net of unamortized discount of $9.9 at December 37, 7999

0ther debt with an effective interest rate of 9.59%

$ 166.s $ 943.3

760.0 759.7

150.0

93.0 93.0

99.3

99.4 99.2

248.2 247.8

285.7 275.5

322.2

198.5

1.47.3 747.2

390.1

3.9 55.6

NOE 9. INDEBTEDNESS

Total debt consisted ofthe following:

December 31, 1999 December 31, 1998

Total debt

Less short-term debt and current mahrrities

2,874.7

108.1

2,770.7

44.4

Long-term debt $ 2,706.0 $ 2,726.3

At December 37, 7999 , the Company had $1,512.9 million of credit facilities with commercial banls, of which $1,000.0 miltion
was committed. Ttre committed facitities mature as foltows: $250.0 million in 2OO1 and $750.0 million in 2003. Ihe Company's
policy is to classifu commerciat paper and short-term borrowings as tong-term debt, to the extent of its committed facilities and to
the extent of its intent to refinance the short-term obtigations, since the Company has the ability under certain credit agree-

ments, and the intent, to maintain these obligations for longer than one year.
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NOIES T0 C0NSOIII)ATED HNANCIAI STAIEMEI{TS (Gontinued)

Ihe Liquid Yield 0ption Notes ('LY0NS") are convertible into the Company's common stock at a conversion price of $40.24 per
share, calculated as of December 37, 7ggg, which increases at an annual rate of 3.5%. At the option ofthe Company, the LYONS

may be redeemed for cash at a redemption price equal to the issue price plus accrued original issue discount through the date of
redemption. At the option of the holder, the LYONS may be redeemed for cash on May 5 , 2003, for a redemption price equal to the
issue price plus accrued originat issue discount through the date ofredemption.

0n January 74, 7999, the Company issued $400 million of,6.875o/o Notes due January 2029 and $325 miltion of 6.25% Notes

due January 2009 with effective interest rates of 7.08o/o, 6.380/o, respectively. 0n Fei,ruary 4, lggg, the Company issued $200 mil-
tion of 6.0% Notes due February 2009, and on February 70, Tggg the Company issued $100 miltion of 5.8o/o Notes due 2003, with
effective interest rates of 6.11% and 6.040/o, respectively. Ihe proceeds were used to repay the 7.625% Notes due February 1999,

commercial paper and other short-term borrowings. Accordingly, such amounts are presented as tong-term in the accompanyms
consolidated statements of financial position.

Maturities of debt at December 37, 7999 are as foltows: 2000-$108.1 mitlion; 2007-$764.2 million, 2002-$1.0 million, 2003-
$849,4 miltion; 2004-$347.6 million and $1,343.8 million thereafter.

NOIE 10. FINANCIAI INSIRUUEIITS

Interest Rate Swaps

At December 37, 7999 , the Company was party to an interest rate swap agreement for a notional amount of $93.0 miltion on
which the Company paid interest at a rate of IJB0R plus 2.010/o and received interest at a rate of,8.59o/o. The interest rate swap

settled semiannualty and terminated on January 27,2000,

0n February 4,7ggg,the Company entered into an interest rate swap with a notional amount of $325.0 miltion. The Company

receives interest at a rate of 6.25oh dnd pays interest at a rate equal to the average of 6 month IJBOR for the Yen, Euro and Swiss

Franc plus a3.160/o spread. The interest rate swap settles semi-annually and terminates in January 2009. In the unlikely event
that the counterparly faits to meet the terms of the interest rate swap agreement, the Company's exposure is limited to the inter-
est rate differentiat.

Foreign Currency Gontracts

At December 37, 7999, the Company had entered into foreign curency forward contracts with notionat amounts of $39.5 mit-
Iion to hedge the commitment to purchase a seismic vessel, $7.1 million to hedge equipment purchases under a long-term pur-
chase agreement and $0.7 miltion to hedge an orpected collection under a long term sales agreement. The fair value of these
forward conEacts, based on year-end quoted market prices for contracts with similar terms and maturity dates, was $39.3 milUon,

$7.5 million and $0.8 million, respectivety. Foreign curency gains and losses for such purchases are deferred and wilt become part
ofthe cost ofthe assets. Ihe counterparties to the Company's forward contracts are major financiat institutions. Ttre credit ratings
and concenEation of risk of these firranciat institutions are monitored on a continuing basis and, in managemenfs opinion, pre-

sent no significant credit risk to the Company.

Fair Value of Einancial Instruments

The Company's financiat instuments include cash and short-term investments, receivables, investments, payabtes, debt and
interest rate and foreign currency contracts; Except as described below, the estimated fairvalue ofsuch financial instuments at
December 37, 7999 and 1998 approximate their carrying value as reflected in the consotidated statements of financial position. The

fair value ofthe Company's debt and interest rate and foreign currency conhacts has been estimated based on quoted market prices.

The estimated fair value of the Company's debt at December 37, 7999 and 1998 was $2,723.9 million and $2,818.7 miltion,
respectively, which differs ftom the carrying amounts of $2,874.7 miliion md. $2,770.7 miltion, respectively, included in the con-
solidated statements of financial position. fire fair value of the Company's interest rate swap contracts at December 31, 1999 and
1998 was a $13.8 million payabte and a $1.6 million receivable, respectively.
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Concentration of Credit Risk

Ttre Company sells its products and services to various companies in the oil and gas industy. Although this concentration
coutd affect the Company's overall exposure to credit risk, management believes that the Company is exposed to minimat risk
since the majority of its business is conducted with major companies within the indusky. The Company performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers' financial condition and generally does not require collaterat for its accounts receivables. In some

cases, the Companywitl require payment in advance or security in the form of a letter of credit or bank guarantee.

Ttre Company maintains cash deposits with major banks which from time to time may exceed federatly insured limits. Ihe
Company periodicaUy assesses the financial condition of the institutions and betieves that the risk of any loss is minimal.

NOE 11. EMPTO)TEE STOCK PTANS

lhe Company has stock option plans that provide for granting of options for the purchase of common stock to officers and
other key employees. These stock options may be granted subject to terms ranging from one to ten years at a price equal to or
greater than the fair market vatue of the stock at the date of grant.

Stock option activity for the Company was as follows;

(Shares in thousands)
Number

of Shares

Weighted Average

Exercise Price

Per Share

Outstanding at September 30, 1996 72,193 $ 16.30

Granted
Options a$sumed in acquisitions
Spin-off adjustment
Exercised

Forfeited

3,237
2,324
2,387

(3,590)

30.15

76.04

76.04

27.32

30, 7997

04

76,347

3,773
76.54

47.87Granted
Exercised (818) 72.26

Forfeited (4) 30.83
Adjustnent for change in year end 528

0utstanding at December 37, 7997 79,226 27.66

Granted
Exercised

Forfeited
Chanqe in controt rights converted

6,233
(1,661)

(655)
(9,811)

27.29

10.90

28-30

0utstanding at December 31, 1998 73,332 27.24
Granted
Exercised

Forfeited

557
(1,0e6)

2?.07
77.42

33.03
0utstanding at December 31, 1999 71,735 39

The Merger with Western Atlas triggered change in conEol rights contained in certain Western Atlas employee stock option
plans. Conversion of 9.8 million options with these change in control rights resulted in the issuance of 7.5 million shares ofthe
Company's common stock.

In connection with the Spin-off, all employee and director options of Western Atlas outstanding immediately prior to the Spin-
offwere adjusted by increasing the number of shares subject to the option and decreasing the exercise price per share so as to
preserve the difference between the aggregate exercise price ofthe option and the aggregate market value of the shares subject
to the option
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Ttre foltowing table summarizes information for stock options outstanding at December 37, 7999 (shares in thousands)

Outstanrling Exercisable

Range of
Exercise Prices

ltleighted
Average Remaining

Weighted

Average

Exercise Price

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

$ 0.61

$ 76.74

$ 21.00

$ ze.zs
$ 43.63

$ 13.68

$ 20.s0

$ 26.07

$ 40.25

$ 47.87

Shares

523
7,758
6,522
1,010

2,522

$ 1q.32

79.20

27.75

34.98
47.87

Shares

363

1,138

2,274

922
2,522

$ 10.s3
79.23

27.40
35.27
47.81,

Contractuat Life

5.81

5.47

8.34
6.47

7.78

Total 77,735 7.65 $ 27.39 7,279 $ 31.51

Under the terms ofthe Baker Hughes and Illestern Atlas stock option ptans, atl outstanding options at August 10, 1998 vested

asaresu1toftheMerger.AtDecember37,7999,5.2miI[ionShareswereavaitabIeforfutureoptiongrants

Ttre fair market value of the options granted in 1999, 1998, the Transition Period and 1997 was $77.77 per option, $7.79 per

option, $74.47 per option and $11.18 per option, respectively, using the fotlowing assumptions for those respective years in the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model: dividend yield of 2.2%,2.2o/o,0.96% and 1.5%; expected volatitity of 55.4%, 49.4oh, 36.4Y,

and 33.5%; risk-free interest rate of 6.50/o, 4.2o/o,5.6% and 6.2o/oi and enpected life of each opdon of 5.0 years, 4.3 years, 3.2 years

and 4.6 years.

The fotl.owing table summarizes pro forma disclosures assuming the Company had used the fair value method of accounting for
its stock based compensation plans.

Year Ended December 31, Ttrree lIonths Ended

December 37,7997
Year Ended

1999

$ o.z
.02

-02

30, 1997

(As Restated - See Note 19 )

Pro forma net income (Ioss)

Pro forma EPS - basic
Pro forma EPS - dituted

(3$ 7.7

.03

.03

76.1)
.e8)
.e8)

$ 99.3
.31

.31

$

Ihe effects of apptying the fair market value method of accounting in the above pro forma disctosure may not be indicative of
future amounts since the pro forma disclosure does not apply to options granted prior to 1996 and additional awards in future
years are anticipated.

NOIE 12.INCOUE TNGS

The geographic sources of income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes and cumulative effect of accounting
changes are as follows:

Year Ended December 31, Three Months Ended Year Ended

1999

$ 74.7

70.2

1998 7997

(As Restated - See Note 19 )

30,1997

United States $ (271.6)
75.4

$ 36.1
135.5

$ 39.0
282.6

Totat 84.3 $ (2s6.2) $ 171.6 $ 321.6
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The provision for income taxes is comprised of:

Year Ended December 31,

1999 1998

Three Months Ended

December 37,7997
Year Ended

September 30,7997

(As Restated - See Note 19 )

Current:
United States

current

$ :.0
78.2

$ :r.r
87.4

$ 30.3
38.8

87.2 118.5 69.7

$ 47.3

108.5

155.8

Deferred:
United States 1.3(2e.7) (73.6)

19.5 2

(14.5)

10.5

Total deferred 49.2

Provision for income taxes $ 32.0 $ Z+.t $ 65.1 $ 149.8

Tax benefits of $4.2 million, $16.1 mittion, $1.4 miltion and $11.0 million, associated with the exercise of employee stock
options were allocated to equity in the years ended December 31, 1999 and December 31, 1998, the Transition Period and the year
ended September 30, 1997, respectively.

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount computed by applyrng the U.S. statutory income tax rate to income
before income taxes and cumulative effect of accounting changes for the reasons set forth below:

Year Ended December 31,

1999 1998

Three Months Ended

December 37,1997
Year Ended

September 30, 7997

(tu Restated - See Note 19 )
Statutory income tax at 35%

Merger and acquisition related costs
IRS audit agreement and refund ctaims
Nondeductibte goodwilt amortization
State income taxes - net of U.S. tax benefit
Incremental effect of foreign operations
Foreign losses with no tax benefit
Utilization of operating loss carrlrforwards
0ther-net

Provision for income taxes

(i8.1)
9.3

2.0
(41.4)

52.0

2.0

2.7

6.2

$ ?e.s $ (8e.6)
55.8

(18.4)
72.4
4.0

?4.0
36.0

$ oo.r $ 772.6

47.3

(11.4)

6.7

4.6
(5.4)
7.7

(4.2)

4.5

$ 149.8

1.3

$ 32.0
0.5

24.7

(0.6)
4.7

$ 6s.1

Ihe effective tax rates before rnerger related costs, spin-offrelated costs, unusual and other nonrecurring charges were
34.7o/o,35.4o/o,37.8% and 35.3o/of,or the periods ended December 31, 1999, December 37,7998, December 31, 1997 and
September 30, 7997, respectivety.
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and tiabili-
ties for financial reporting for income tax purposes, and of operating toss and tax credit carryforwards, The tax effects ofthe
Company's temporary differences and carrtrrforwards are as fotlows:

December 31, 1999 December 31, 1998

Deferred tax liabilities :

Property
Other assets

Excess costs arising from acquisitions
Undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries

0ther

$ 141.0

110.3

722.9

39.3

36.4

(& Restated - see Note 19)

$ 90.4
55.6
72.5
39.3
37.6

Total

Deferred tax assets:

Receivables

Inventory
Emptoyee benefits
0ther accrued expenses

0perating loss carryforwards
Tax credit carryrforwards
0ther

449.9 295.4

75.9

101.3

77.6

77.7

258.0
745,0

30.5

72.4

726.7

26.7

75.6
79.7

55.3
8.6

Subtotal
Valuation allowances

639.4 323.8

557.7

.3

297.5
7

Net deferred tax liability $ (107.8) $ 3.e

A valuation allowance is recorded when it is more tikety than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be

reatized. The ultimate reatization of the deferred tax assets depends on the abitity to generate sufficient taxable income of the
appropriate character in the future. The Company has provided a vatuation atlowance for operating toss carryrforwards in certain

non-U.S. jurisdictions where its operations have decreased, currently ceased or the Company has withdrawn entirely.

Provision has been made for U.S. and additional foreign taxes for the anticipated repatriation of certain earnings offoreign
subsidiaries ofthe Company. The Company considers the undistributed earnings of its foreign subsidiaries above the amount

already provided to be permanently reinvested. These additional foreign earnings coutd become subject to additional tax if remit-

ted, or deemed remitted, as a dividend; however, the additional amount of taxes payable is not practicable to estimate.

At December 37, 7ggg, the Company had approximatety $94.4 million of foreign tax credits, $40.9 miltion'of general business

credits, and $9.7 million of alternative minimum tax credits availabte to offset future payments of federal income taxes, expiring

in varying amounts between 2004 and 2020. ltre alternative minimum tax credits may be carried forward indefinitety under cur-

rent U.S. law.

NOIT 13. SEGMEI.ITAI.ID RETAED IMORII{AIION

fire Company's eight business units have separate management teams and infrastructures that offer different products and ser-

vices. The business units have been aggregated into one reportabte segment (oiUietd) since the long-term financial performance

of these eight business units is affected by similar economic conditions and the oilfield segment consotidated resutts are evalu-

ated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in decidihg how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.

The oiUietd segment consists of the following business units - Baker Atlas, Baker Hughes IMEQ, Baker Oit Tools, Baker

Petrolite, Centrilift, E&P Solutions, Hughes Christensen and Western Geophysical - that manufacture and sell equipment and pro-

vide services used in the drilling, completion, production and maintenance of oil and gas wells and in resewoir measurement and

evaluation. Ttre principal markets for this segment include all major oil and gas producing regions of the world including North

America, Latin America, Europe, Africa, the Middte East and the Far East. Customers include major mutti-national, independent

and national or state-owned oil companies.
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The accounting policies ofthe oilfietd segment are the same as those described in Note 2 ofNotes to Consolidated Financiat

Statements. Ttre Company evaluates the performance of its oiUietd segment based on income before income ta:res, accounting

changes, nonrecurring items and interest income and expense.

Summarized financial information is shown in the fotlowing table. Ttre "Other" column inctudes corporate related items, results

ofinsignificant operations and, as it retates to segment profit (loss), income and orpense not allocated to reportable segments.

Total0iUietd 0ther

(As Restated - See Note 19 )

1999

Revenues

Segment profit (Ioss)

Total assets

Capitat expenditures
Depreciation, depletion and amortization

1998

Revenues

Segment profit (loss)

Total assets

Capitat expenditures
Depreciation, depletion and amortization

Transition Period
Revenues

Segment profit (loss)

Total assets

Capital expenditures
Depreciation, deptetion and amortization

7997

Revenues

Segment profit (Ioss)

TotaL assets

Capital expenditures
Depreciation, depletion and amortization

$ 4,546.7
360.8

6,297.7

572.7

769.5

$ 5,800.5
747.0

6,946.8
7,258.5

729.7

$ 7,447.6

275.3

6,292.6
279.0
735.7

$ 4,942,3
665.6

6,200.7
1,013.0

529.9

(276.s)

463.8

67.7

8.9

$ 4,546.7
84.3

6,767.5

633.8
778-4

$ 5,820.6
(256.2)

7,365.0

1,301.0
745-4

$

$ 7.4

(43.7)

542.7
76.2

3.3

$ 7,449.0
777.6

6,835.3
295.2

139.0

$ 15.6
(344.0)

506.6
28.3

16.4

$ 4,957.9
327.6

6,706.7
7,047.3

546.3

Net assets of discontinued operations, which are excluded from total assets in the table above, totaled $278.3.million,

$267.9 million, $205.0 million and $190.4 miltion for 1999, 1998, the Transition Period and 1997, respectively.

For the year ended December 31, 1998, oiUield revenues attributable to one customer totated $629.8 million or 10.9%.

Ttre following table presents the detaits of"0thef segment profit (loss).

1999 1998

Transition
Period 7997

Corporate expenses

Interest - net
Unusual charge
Acquired in-process research and devetopment
Nonrecurring charges to costs of revenues and SG&A

Unreatized gain on Tuboscope securities
Merger retated costs
Spin-off retated costs

fther

$ (es.o) $

(1s4.0)
(8.8)

(51.8)

31.5

7.6

(88.e)
(13e.0)
(1e6.6)

(355.3)

(217.s)

0.1

$ (21.6) $ (61.8)
(22.4) (84.4)

(51.1)
(118.0)
(21.e)

(8.4)
7.6

Total
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Ihe fotlowing table presents consolidated revenues by country based on the location of the use of the product or service.

Year Ended December 31, Ttuee Months Ended Year Ended

$ 7,698.4
390.0
227.2

273.6
224.7

7,733.4

1998

(As Restated

See Note 19)

$ 2,034.7
542.3
342-7

266.5

?37.8

2,397.2

December 31, 1997

$ 509.0
109.8
105.9

60.8
82.7

587.4

$ 1,701.6
405.5

376.7

277.0

243.3

1999 30,7997

United States

United Kingdom
Venezuela

Norway
Canada

0ther countries
Total $ 4,s46.7 $ 5,820.6 7,449.0 $ 4,957.9

The following table presents long-lived assets by county based on the location of the asset.

December 31,

1999 1998 7997 September 30,7997

United States

United Kingdom
Nigeria
Venezuela

Norway
0ther countries
Western mobite assets *

$ 974.4

777.8

91.9

53.6

43.0

360.5
369.0

Restated - See Note 19)

$ 849.4
198.1

47.4

70.2
37.2

313.3

426.6

$ 794.4
186.3

38.9
54.2

32.0
334.2
426.6

890.0
235.5
86.9
69.5
s0.0

362.4
546.4

Total $ 2,070.2 2,240.7 7,936.2 $ 1,866.6

tries where thse useB de located.

NOIE 14. EUPTOY'EE BEIIEfN PTANS

Defined Benefit Pension Ptans And Postretirement Benefits 0ther Than Pensions

Itre Company adopted SFAS No. 732, Employers' Dtsclosures about Pensions and 0ther Postretirement Benefifs, which is effective
for the Company for theyear ended December 31, 1998. The statement revised the required disclosures about pensions and
postretirement benefit plans.

the Company has several noncontributory defined benefit pension plans covering various domestic and foreign empioyees.
Generatly, the Company makes annual contributions to the plans in amounts necessary to meet minimum governmentat
funding requirements.
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The Company has a defined benefit postetirement plan that provides certain health care and life insurance benefits for sub-

stantially atl U.S. employees who retire having met certain age and service requirements.

Pension Benefits

Postetirement Benefits

0ther Ttran Pensions

Year Ended Year Ended

December 37,7ggg December 31, 1998
Year Ended :

December 31, 1999

Year Ended

December 31, 1998

Ghange in benefit obUgation:
Benefit obligation at beginning ofyear
Service cost
Interest cost
Plan participants' contributions
Amendments
Actuarial (gain)/loss
Curtailment (gain) Ioss

Settlement gain

$ zt.a
6.2

73.7

1.3
0.5

(13.3)
(1.0)

$ 184.6

5.0
13.3

7.7

24.5

2.5
(6.7)

$ 113.9

1.8

7.5

(1.6)
(8.3)

$ 106.9

7.5

7.8

( 1.e)

5.6

2.7

Change in ptan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 262.2 269.3

Actuat return on plan assets 45.9 2.0

Emptoyer contribution 3.4 3.6

Setttement (1.0) (6.7)
Plan participants'contributions 1.3 7.7

ueneiits paia (10.3) (e.0)
Exchange rate adjustment (2.5) 1.9

Fair value of ptan assets at end of year 299.0 262.2 - -

Funded status
Unrecognized actuarial (gain)/toss
Unrecognized prior service cost

89.0
(2.2)

.7

(104.1)
(14.1)
(3.3)

44.4
23.0

.7

(113.e)
(6.4)
(1.e)

119. $ 779.6

Net amount recognized
Benefits paid - October to December

87.5

.1

68.1
0.5

(121.5)

2.3

(122.2)
2.6

Net amount $ 87.6 68.6 119 $ 779.6

Pension Benefits
Postetirement Benefits

0ther lhan Petrsions

Yeu Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31, 1999 December 31, 1998 December 37,7ggg December 31, 1998

financial position consist of:
Prepaid benefit cost
Accrued b enefit tiability
Intangible asset

$ (11e.2) $ (11e.6)

Accumulated other intome
Net amount

$ 115.9
(32.7)

.3

4.7

$ e6.2
(34.e)

.5

6.8

51



Bater llughes Incorporated

NOUS T0 C0NS0LIDATED FINAI{CIAL STAT}MENIS (Gontinued)

Pension Benefits

Year Ended December 31, Ttuee Months Ended

December 37,7997
Year Ended

September 30, 19971999 1998

Weighted-average assumptions:
Discount rate
Expected return on plan assets

Rate of compensation increase'

Components of net periodic benefit cost:
Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on ptan assets

Amortization of transition (asset)/ obligation
Recognized actuarial (gain)/toss

$ a.z
73.7

(22.5)

$ s.o
13.3

(2?.5)

$ 7.2

3.3
(5.4)

$ :.s
7.7

(e.e)
(.1)
.3

6.95o/o

8.68%
3.92o/o

5

6.54o/o

8.68%

3,950/o

(.1)

7.57o/o

8.92o/o

3.89o/o

(.2)

7.560/o

8.92o/o

3.73o/o

Net periodic benefit cost (2.1) (4.3) (1.1) 7.e

2.5Curtailment effect
Totat net

Postetirement Benefits
0ther Than Pensions

Year Ended December 31. lluee Months Ended

December 37,7997

$ 1.9

' Year Ended

September 30,1997

7

1999 1998

Weighted-average assumptions:
Discount rate

Components of net periodic benefit cost
Senrice cost $ 1.8 $ f.S $ .: $ 1.2

Interest cost 7.4 7.8 1.8 7.0

Amortization of prior service cost (.3)
Recognized actuarial (gain)/loss .3 .1
Net per-iodic benefit cost $ 8.9 $ 9.6 $ 2.1 $ 8.3

Itre projected benefit obligation, accumutated benefit obligation, and fair value of plan assets for the pension plans with accu-
mulated benefit obligations in excess of ptan assets were $36.6 million , $32.3 miltion and $7.5 million as of December 31, 1999,

and $43.8 million, $39.0 mitlion and $11.0 million as of December 31, 1998. Assumed health care cost trend rates have a signifi-
cant effect on the amounts reported for the heatth care plan.

The assumed health care cost trend rate used in measuring the accumulated benefit obtigation for postretirement benefits
other than pensions as of December 31, 1999 was 6.0% for 2000 declining gradualty each successive year untit it reaches 5% in
2003. A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates woutd have the foltowing effects:

7,500/o 6.75% 7.50o/o

1-Percentage

Point Increase

7.48o/o

1-Percentage

Poiirt Decrease

Effect on total service and interest cost components
Effect on postetirement benefit obligation

$.r
4.7

$ (.4)
(4.2)

Defined Contribution P.lans

During the periods reported, generally all Baker Hughes' U.S. employees (other than (1) those employees that Western Attas
emploled prior to the Merger and (2) those who were covered under one of Baker Hughes' pension ptans) were eligibte to partici-
pate in the Baker Hughes sponsored Thrift PIan. Prior to 1999, those employees that Western Atlas employed prior to the Merger ,

were etigible to participate in a separate Western Atlas defined contribution ptan. In 1999, those employees that Western Atlas

employed prior to the Merger who worked for any of the Company's divisions, other than Western Geophysical, became eLigible to
participate in the Baker Hughes sponsored Thrift Ptan rather than the Western Atlas defined conhibution ptan.

Ttre Baker Hughes sponsored Ttrift Ptan allows eligibte employees to elect to contribute fu,om 2o/o to 15% of their salaries to an
investment trust. Emptoyee contributions are matched by the Company at the rate of $1.00 per $1.00 emptoyee contribution for the
first 2% and $.50 per $1.00 employee contribution for the nert 4% of the employee's satary. In addition, the Company contributes
for alt etigibte emptoyees between 2o/o and 5% of their salary depending on the emptoyee's age as of January 1 each year. Such

contributions become fully vested to the emptoyee after five years of employment. Baker Hughes' contribution to the lhrift Plan
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and other defined contribution plans amounted to $57.5 million, $51.0 million, $10.6 million and $35.9 mitUon in 1999, 1998, the

Transition Period and 1997, respectively.

With respect to the Western Atlas defined contribution plan, Baker Hughes contributed an amount based on its consolidated

pretax earnings ofthe participating businesses in accordance with the provisions of such plan. This plan includes a votuntary

savings feature that is intended to qualifu under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code and is designed to enhance the

retirement programs of participating employees. Under this feature, Baker Hughes matches ap to 670/o of a certain portion of par-

ticipants' contributions. There were no employer contributions to this ptan in 1999. The contributions to this ptan in 1998, the

Transition Period and 1997 were $31.4 million, $10.5 miltion and $39.0 miltion, respectively.

Postemployrnent Benefits

During the periods reported, the Company provided certain postemployment disability and medical benefits to substantially all
qua[ffing former or inactive Baker Hughes U.S. employees (other than those employed at the time by Western Atlas) foltowing

employment but before retirement. Stuting on January 7,7999, these same benefits were provided to substantially all quatified

and former and active Western Atlas employees. Disability income benefits ("Disability Benefits"), available at the date of hire, are

proviiled through a quatified plan which has been funded by contributions from the Company and employees. Ttre primary asset of
the plan is a guaranteed insurance contract with an insurance company which currently earns interest at 6.50/o. The actuarially

determined obligation is calculated at a discount rate of 7.25%. Disabitity Benefits expense was $1.3 mitlion, $2.9 mitlion, $.5 mil-
lion and $1.1 mittion in 1999, 1998, the Transitjon Period and 1997, respectively. The continuation of medical, tife insurance and

ltuift Ptan benefits while on disability and the service related salary continuance benefits ("Continuation Benefits") were provided

through a nonquatified, unfunded plan until Aprit 1997. Itre continuation of the medical benefit portion of the plan was merged

into the disabitity income benefits plan beginning in Aprit 1997. Expense for Continuation Benefits, which is primarity interest cost

on the projected benefit obligation, was $5.7 million, $3.6 miltion, $.6 mi[ion and $3.1 mitlion for 7999,1998, the Transition

Period and 1997, respectivety.

ltre following table sets forth the funded status and amounts recognized in the Company's consotidated statements of financial
position for Disability Benefits and Continuation Benefits:

December 31, 1999 December 31, 1998

Actuarial present vatue of accumulated benefit obligation
Plan assets at fair value

$ (3e.0)
74.9

$ (44.7)
75.7

Accumulated benefit obligation in excess ofplan assets

Prior service costs

(2e.6)

net loss

Health care cost assumptions used to measure the Continuation Benefits obligation are similar to the assumptions used in deter-
mining the obligation for postetirement health care benefits. AdditionaL assumptions used in the accounting for Continuation
Benefits were a discount rate of 7.25% n 1999, 6.5%'in 1998, and increases in compensation of 5% for all periods presented.

NOIT 15. UNGATION

The Company is sometimes named as a defendant in litigation relating to the products and services it provides. The Company

insures against these risks to t}te extent deemed prudent by its management, but no assurance can be given that the nature and

amount of such insurance wilt in every case fully indemniff the Company against tiabilities arising out of pending and future [ega[
proceedings relating to its ordinary business activities. Many of these policies conttrin self insured retentions in amounts the
Company deems prudent

The Company has been named as a defendant in a number of shareholder ctass action securities fraud suits following the
Company's announcement on December 8, 1999 regarding the accounting issues it discovered at its INTEQ division. See Note 19.

These suits wilt be consolidated into one lawsuit pursuant to the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Ihe Company

believes the allegations in these suits are without merit, and the Company intends to vigorously defend the suits. Even so,

an adverse outcome in this class action litigation coutd have an adverse effect on the Company's resutts of operations or

financial condition.

NOIE 16. E}{VIRONMEI{TAI MAITERS

Ihe Company's past and present operations include activities which are subject to extensive federal and state environ-
mentat regulations.

(24.1)
(1.8) .1

9.3
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Baker Hughes Incorporated

NOTES TO CONSOLIDAIED TINAI.ICIAT STAITME}{TS (Gontinued)

Ttre Company has been identified as a potentiatly responsible party ('PRP") in remedial activities related to various "Superfund"
sites. Applicable federal law imposes joint and several tiability on each PRP for the cleanup of these sites leaving the Company
with the uncertainty that it may be responsible for the remediation cost attributable to other PRPs who are unabte to pay their
share of the remediation costs. Generally, the Company has estimated its share of such total cost based on the ratio that the num-
ber of gallons of waste estimated to have been contributed to the site by the Company bears to the total number of gallons of
waste estimated to have been disposed at the site. The Company has accrued what it believes to have been its pro rata share of
the total cost ofremediation ofthese Superfund sites based upon such a volumetric calcutation. No accrual has been made under
thejoint and several tiabitity concept since the Company believes that the probabitity that it wiU have to pay material costs above
its volumetric share is remote. The Company believes there are other PRPs who have greater invotvement on a volumetric calcula-
tion basis, who have substantial assets and who may be reasonally expected to pay their share of the cost of remediation. In
Some cases, the Company has insurance coverage or contractual indemnities from third parties to cover the ultimate tiability.

At December 31., 7999 and 1998, the Company had accrued $22.8 mitlion and $26.4 miltion, respectively, for remediation costs,
including the Superfund sites referred to above. The measurement of the accruals for remediation costs is subject to uncertaintlr,
including the evolving nature of environmental regulations and the difficulty in estimating the extent and type of remediatjon activ-
ity that wilt be utitized. ltre Company betieves that the liketihood of material losses in excess of those amounts recorded is remote.

NOIE 17. OIIIER SUPPTEMEIITAI TNFORMATION

Supptemental consolidated statement of operations information is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

7999 1998

Ttuee Months Ended

December 37,7997
Year Ended

September 30,7997

Rental orpense (generally transportation
equipment and warehouse facilities)

Research and development
$ 167.0 $ 189.4

98.3 725.7

Ttuee Months Ended

December 31, 1997

$ 75t.4
776.7

Year'Ended

September 30,7997

$ 39.7
29.7

Supplemental consolidated statement of cash flows information is as fotlows:

Year Ended December 31,

1999 1998

(As Restated - See Note 19)

Change in accounts receivable
Change in inventories
Change in accounts payabte

Change in accrued emptoyee compensation
and other current tiabilities

Change in deferred revenue and other
tong-term tiabitities

Changes in other assets and liabitities

$ 227.2

191.8
(e4.s)

(1ss.6)

(172.2)
(230.7)

$ 106.2
(36.0)
(3e.2)

$ (7e.e)
(57.4)
11.0

(27.s)

$ (185.0)
(84.4',)

45.9

11.6

725.0
(47.e)

26.6

13.9
(e4.e)

(s.e)
68.7

Total changes in assets and tiabilities $ (234.0) $ (23.4) $ (e1.4) $ (134.8)

Income taxes paid
Interest paid

$ 118.7

148.8
$ rsa.s

750.2
$ 64.7

33.1
$ 748.7

92.2

NOIE 18. COUMITMEI'ITS AI{D GONTTNGENCIES

At December 37,7999, the Company had commiEnents outstanding for capital expenditures under purchase orders and con-
tacts of approximately $724.7 million. 0f this amount, $95.2 million retated primarily to construction of a seismic vessel. The cost
of the vessel and related equipment is currently estimated to be $98.8 million, excluding capitalized interest. Final completion of
the vessel, including the instaltation of all related seismic equipment, is not orpected until the Company determines market con-
ditions allow for the opportunity to achieve an acceptable utitization rate.

In the normal course of business with customers, vendors and others, the Company is contingently liabte for performance under
letters of credit and other financial guarantees totating approximatety $136.8 million at December 37, 7999, In addition, at
December 37,7999, the Company has guaranteed debt ofthird parties totaling $89.2 milion. It is not practicable to estimate the
fair value of these financial instruments and management does not expect any materiat losses from these financiat insbuments.
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At December 31, 11ggg, the Company had long-term operating leases covering certain facitities and equipment on which mini-

mum annual rental commitrnents for each of the five years in the period ending December 37, 2004 are $68.6 miltion, $56.5 mil-

lion, $44.0 million, $34.4 mituon and $108.1 miltion, respectivety-and $38.3 mituon in the aggregate thereafter. The Company

has not entered into any significant capital leases.

NOIE 19. RESIAIEMEM

In December 1999, based on an internal review the Compiny became aware of severat accounting misstatements at one of its

operating divisions, A subsequent analysis determined these mjsstatements amounted to $31.0 miltion, net of taxes. As a resutt,

the Company restated its previously issued consolidated financiat statements to reflect the adjustments required to correct these

misstatements. Ttre atljustrnents relate to uncotlectibte accounts receivable, inventory shortages, the recognition ofinventory
pricing adjustments, the impairment ofvarious other current and long-lived assets and the recognition ofcertain previously

umecorded Uabilities, including tade accounts payabte and employee compensation and benefits payable.

As a resutt ofthe above, the Company's 1998, Transition Period and 1997 financial statements and retated disctosures have

been restated from amounts previously reported. In addition, a prior period adjustment of $27.3 million related to operating

resutts for periods prior to 1997 decreased retained earnings at September 30, 1996. As described in Note 1, Basis of Presentation

and Restatement, the Company plans to dispose of Baker Process which is presented in the consolidated financial statements as

"Discontinued 0perations.; fne capUon "As Previously Reported'in the foltowing summarized financial information reflects Baker

Process as a discontinued operation for all periods presented. The principat effects ofthese adjustments on the accompanying

financial statements are set forth below:

Consotidated Statementb of 0p6rations

1998 Transitiirn Period 1997

As

Restated

As

Freviously
Reported

tu
Restated

Previously As

Restated

As

Previousty

Reported

As

millions, share amounts)

Revenues

Gosts and er(penses:
Costs of revenues
Selting, general and administrative
Merger related costs

Unusual charge, net

$ 5,820.6 $ 5;821.8 $ .a $7,449.0 $+ 9s7.9 $ 7.9

4,745.7
778.0
277.5

196.6

4,749.5
778.7
277.5

196.6

7,057.4

797.6

7,057.?

797.9

3,907.7

466.7

57.7

118.0

3,890.4
472.8

51.1

118.0research arld
5,937.8 5,942.3 7,255.0 7,255.7 4,543.5 4,532.3

0perating income (toss)

Interest expense

Interest income

Spin-off related costs

794.0
(23.6)

7.2

193.9

(23.6)
7.2

425.6
(88.0)

3.6
(8.4)

(777.2)

(742.7)

3.7

(120.5)
(742.7)

3.7

474.4

(88.0)
3.6

(8.4)

Income (loss) from continuing operations before

income taxes and cumulative effect of
accounting change

Income taxes

(256.2)
(24.7)

(259.5)
(22.7)

777.6
(65.1)

177.5
(65.2\

327.6
(14e.8)

332.8
(752.5)

Income (Ioss) from continuing operations before

cumulative effect .of accounting change

Cumulative effect of accounting change:

Impairrnent oflong-lived assets to be disposed of

(280.e) (282.2) 106.5 106.3 777.8 180.3

of $6.0 income tax
Income (Ioss) from continuing
Income (toss) from discontinued operations,

net oftax

72.7 72.

(280.e) (282.2) 106.5 106.3 759.7 768.2

7.7 7.7 734.3

Net
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Baker Eughes Incorporated

N0TES T0 CONSOLIDAIED FINANCIAI STAIEMEI{IS (Gontinued)

1998

As Previously

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Transition Period 7997

AsAs

AsAs

As

Previously
Reported

Previously
(In millions, share Restated Restated Restated

per

Income (toss) from continuing operations before
cumulative effect of accounting change $ (.87) $ (.88) $ .:a $ .:a $

Cumulative effect of accounting change
.57

(.04)
.60

(.04)
$

Discontinued erations, net oftax
Net income

Dituted earnings per share:

Income (toss) from continuing operations before
cumulative effect of accounting change $

Cumulative effect of accounting change
Discontinued oDerations, net of tax

.0 .02 .45

$ .36 .36$.08$.rr
.45.02

$ $

(.87) $

(.05)

(.88) $

(.05)

.s6 $
(.04)
(.44)

.59
(.04)
(.44\

.33 $ .ES $

.02 .02
Net income (Ioss) $ (.e2) $ (.e3) $ .rs $ .ss $.os$.11
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(In miltions, except par value)

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

December 31, 1998

As

Previously
Reported

As

Restated

Assets
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivatents
Accounts receivable - less allowance for doubtful accounts:

December 37, 7998, $46.4
Inventories
Net assets of discontinued operations
Other current assets

$ 19.s

7,258.2
994.3
267.9

273.3

$ 20.0

1,260.9
7,005.7

267.9

276.7

Total current assets

Property-net
Goodwilt and other intangibles - less accumulated amortization:

December 31, 1998, $265.7
Multiclient seismic data and other assets

2,753.2

2,240.7

7,744.3

894.7

2,777.2

2,244.8

1.,744.3

895.0
Total assets $ 7,632.e $ 7,655.3

LiabiEdes and Stockhotders' Equityr
Gurrent LiabiUties:
Accounts payable

Short-term borrowings and current portion oflong-term debt
Accrued employee compensation
0ther accrued liabilities

$ 487.9

44.4
272.2
378.8

$ 476.8

44.4
268.6

378.7

current 1,183.3 7,767.9

Long-term debt 2,726.3 2,726.3
Deferred income taxes 752.9 756.4

Deferred revenue and other long-term tiabitities 405.3 405.3

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders' equity:
Common stock, $1 par value (shares authorized - 400.0;

outstanding - 327.7 at December 31, 1998)

Capital in excess of par value
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

327.7

2,937.8
66.1

(1se.e)

327.7

2,937.8
700.4

(1se.e)
Total stockholders' equity 3,765.7 3,799.4
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NOIES T0 CONS0IIDAIED FINANCIAI SIAIEI,IENIS (Continued)

N01E 20. QUARTERTY DATA (trNAUDmD)

The caption "As Previousty Reported" in the following summarized financial information reflects Baker Process as a discon-
tinued operation for all periods presented.

First Quarter Second Ouarter Third 0uarter

Restated

As

Previousty

Reported Restated

As

Previously
Reported Restated

As

Previously
Reported

Fourth

0uarter
AsAsAs

(Per share amounts in dotlars)

FiscalYear 1999 *

Revenues $ 7,274.4
Gross profit ** 277.3

Income (oss) from continuing
operations 45.8

Net income (Ioss) 44.4
Basic earnings (toss) per share from:

Continuing operations .74

$ 1,1108 $ 1,110.8 $ 7,777.6

240.5 B7.A 227.2
$ t,tt+.r,

275.7

44.7
42.7

76.6

73.2

16.5

13.1

$ 7,777.9 $ 1,103.9

220.5 729.9

77.4
68.5

.22

69.9
67.0

(81.s)
(e2.s)

.2713 (.25).05

.01

.05

.01Discontinued
Net income

Diluted earnings (toss) per share from:
Continuing operations

.74 .13 .20

.27 .05
.01

.22

.01

$ $.04.04
.03

.05

.01

(.25)1314

.04$ .ttr $ .rE $ .zr $ .20 $ .04
Discontinued
Net income

Dividends per share

Common stock market prices:

High
Low

$ 2s.s0 $

$ 15.75 $

3s.00 $

22.00 $

$ .rr$ .u$ .p$ .tz $ .fl$ .fl$ .rz

3s.00 $

22.00 $

36.25 $

27.00 $

36.25 $

27.00 $

.03

30.00
15.00

$ 2s.50

$ ts.ts

First Quarter Second Ouarter lhird Ouarter Fourth Quarter

As As As As

As Previously As Previously As Previousty As Previously

Restated Reported Restated Reported Restated Reported Restated Reported

Revenues $7,523.9 $1,524.6 $7,532.4 $7,532.4 $7,457.0 $7,457.3 $ 1,307.3 $1,307.5
Gross profit ** 378.9 380.0 373.6 373.4 46.7 45.7 276.3 273.8

Income (toss) from continuing
operations

Net income (loss)

Basic earnings (toss) per share from:

Continuing operations .34
.02

.36

.01

(1.57) (1.s8) .02 .02

105.8
777.9

106.8
772.9

113.3

118.3

113.1

118.1

(s07.e)
(s33.6)

(508.8)
(534.s)

7.9

7.3

6.7

6.7

.36

.01

.33

.02Discontinued
Net income

Diluted earnings (oss) per share from:

Continuing operations .33

.3s $ .r0 $ .:z $ .:z $

33

02

08

.02 $ .oz

.35 (1.57) (1.58) .02 .025.3

Discontinued
Net

Dividends per share $ .77

Common stock market prices:

High $ +rr.tl
Low $ 34.88

.02 .02 .02

.35 $ .SS $ .37 $ .:Z $ 65 $ $ .oz $ ,02

44.00 $ 44.00 $ 34.94$ 34.94 $ 23.88$ 23.88

33.13$ 33.13$ 77.7s$ 77.75 $ 15.00$ 15.00

$ .rr$ .12$ .72 $ .fl$ .fl$ .p $ .rz

$ 44.73 $

$ 34.88 $

* * Represerts wmues le$ costs of rsenues.
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IIEM 9. CIIANGES IN AND DISAGRXEI{E}ITS WITH ACCOUMANTS ON ACCOU}ITING AND TINANGIAI DTSGLOSURE

None.

PART III

IITM 10. DIRESIORS AI{D EXECT'TIVE OFFICERS OT fiIE REGISM,ANT

Information concerning the directors ofthe Company is set forth in the section entitled "Etection of Directors" in the Pro:ry
Statement ofthe Company for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be hetd Aprit 26, 2OOO, which secdon is incorporated herein
byreference. For information regarding executive officers ofthe Company, see "Item 1. Business : Executive.0fficers." Additjonal
information regarding compliance by directors and execttive officers with Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; as

amended, is set forth under the section entitled "Comptiance with Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Ac.. of 1934" in the Pro:ry
Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockhotders to be held on April 26, 2000, which section is incorporated herein by reference.

IIEM 11. EXECT'TTVE COMPENSATION

Information for this item is set forth in the section entitled "Executive Compensation" in the Pro:ry Statement of the Company
for the Annual Meetinq of Stockhotders to be held April 26, 2000, which section is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SEfi,ruTY OWNERSHIP Of CERTAIN BENEFICIAI OWNERS AND II{ANAGEUENI

Information concerning security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is set forth in the sections entitled
"Voting Securities" and "securitlr Ownership of Managemenf in the Pro:<y Statement of the Company for the Annual Meeting of
Stockhotders to be held April 26, 2000, which sections are incorporated herein b3r reference.

I1T},I 13. CERTAIN RETATIONSHIPS AND REIAIED I?ANSAGTIONS

Information concerning certain relationships and related transactions with management is set forth in the section entitted
"Certain Relationships and Related TransacLions" in the Pro:ry Statement of the Company for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders
to be hetd April 26, 2000, which section is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV

ITEM 14. DGIIBNS, F-INANCIAI STAIEUE}{T SCHEDUTES AI{D REPORTS ON FORI{ 8.K

(a) tist of Documents filed as part of this Report

(1) Financial Statements

All financiat statements ofthe Registrant as set forth under Item 8 ofthis Anaual Report on Form 10-K.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules:

Schedule II Valuation and Qualiffing Accounts

(3) Exhibits:

3.7 Restated Certificate of Incorporation (fited as Exhibit 3.1 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K
for theyear ended December 31, 1998 and incorporated herein by reference)

3.2 By-Laws.
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3.3 Certificate ofAmendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation (fited as Exhibit 4.2 to Baker Hughes Incorporated

Registration Statement on Form S-3 dated September 27, 7999 and incorporated herein by reference).

3.4 Certificate of Designation of Series L Preferred Stock of Bakef Hughes Incorporated (filed as Exltibit 3.3 to Annual

Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1996 and incorporated herein

by reference)

4.t Rights of Holders of the Company's toflg-Term Debt. Ihe Company has no tong-term debt instuument with regard to which

the securities authorized thereunder equal or exceed 10% of the total assets of the Company and its subsidlaries on a con-

solidated basis. lhe Company agrees to furnish a copy of its tong-term debt instuments to the SEC upon request.

4.2 Restated Certificate of Incorporation (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K

for the year ended December 31: 1998 and incorporated herein by reference)

4.3 By-laws (filed as Exhibit 3.2 hereto)

Certificate of Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Baker Hughes Incorporated

Registration Statement on Form S-3 dated September 27, 7999 and incorporated herein by reference).

4.5 Certificate of Designation of Series L Preferred Stock of Baker Hughes Incorporated (filed as Exhibit 3.3 to Annual

Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1996 and incorporated herein

by reference).

4.6 Indenture dated as of May 75, 7994 between Western Atlas Inc. and The Bank of Nbw York, Trustee, providing for the
issuance of securities in series.

10.1 Severance Agreement between Baker Hughes Incorporated and G. Stephen Finley dated as ofJu$ 23,7997 (fiIed as

Exhibit 10.6 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1997 and

incorporated herein by reference).

lO.2 Severance Agreement between Baker Hughes Incorporated and fuidrew J. Szescita dated as of July 23, 7997 (filed as

Exhibit 10.13 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1997 and

incorporated herein by reference).

10.3 Form of Amendment 1 to Severance Agreement between Baker Hughes Incorporated and each of G. Stephen Fintey and

Andrew J'. Szescila effective November t1., 7998 (fited as Exhibit 10.7 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated

on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 and incorporated herein by reference).

70.4 Amended and Restated 1991 Employee Stock Bonus Plan of Baker Hughes Incorporated (fited as Exhibit 10.15 to

Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, L997 and incorporated

herein by reference).

10.5 Amendment No. 1997-1 to the Amended and Restated 1991 Employee Stock Bonus PIan (fited as Exhibit 10.16 to

Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 7997 and incorporated

herein by reference).

10.6 Amendment No. 1999-1 to the Amended and Restated 1991 Employee Stock Bonus PIan (filetl as Exhibit 10.11 to

Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 and incorporated

herein by reference).

tO.7 Restated 1987 Stock 0ption Plan of Baker Hughes Incorporated (amended as of October 24, TggO) (filed as Exhibit

10.17 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1997 and incor-
porated herein by refurence).

10.8 1987 Convertible Debenture Plan of Baker Hughes Incorporated (amentled as of October 24, TggO) (filed as Exhibit

10.18 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1997 and incor-

porated herein by reference).

10.9 Baker Hughes Incorporated Supplemental Retirement Ptan (filed as Exhibit 10.14 to Annuai Report of Baker Hughes

Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1997 and incorporated herein by reference).
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10.10 Amendment No. 7997-7 to the Baker Hughes Incorporated Supptemental Retirement Ptan (filed as Exhibit 10.20 to
Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K f6r the year ended September 30, !997 and incorporated

herein by reference).

10.11 Amendment No. 1999-1 to the Baker Hughes Incorporated Supplemental Retirement Ptan (fited as Exhibit 10.16 to

Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 and incorporated

herein by reference).

10.12 Executive Severance Poliry.

10.13 1993 Stock 0ption Plan (fited as Exhibit 10.18 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 1998 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.14 Amendment Nq. 7997,1. to the 1993 Stock Option Ptan (filed as Exhibit 10.23 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes

Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1997 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.15 Amendment No. 1999-1 to the 1993 Stock 0ption Plan (fiIed as Exhibit 10.20 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes

Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.16 1993 Ernployee Stock Bonus Pl.an (filed as Exhibit 10.21 to A:rnuat Report ofBaker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K

for the year ended December 31, 1998 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.17 AmendmentNo. TggT-Ttothelgg3EmployeeStockBonusPIan(fitedasExhibit10.25toAnnualReportofBaker
Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1997 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.18 Amendment No. 1999-1 to the 1993 Employee Stock Bonus Plan (fited as Exhibit 10.23 to Annual Report of Baker

Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.19 Amended and Restated Director Compensation DeferralPlan (filed as Exhibit 70.24to Annual Report ofBaker Hughes

Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 and incorporated herein by reference).

70.20 7gg5 Employee Annual lncentive Compensation Plan.

10.21 Amendment No. 1997-7 to the 1995 Emptoyee Annual Incentive Compensation Plan (fited as Exhibit 10.25 to Annual
Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10.K for the year ended September 30, 1997 and incorporated herein by
reference).

10.22 Amendment No. 1999-1 to the 1995 Employee Annuat Incentive Compensation Plan (fited as Exhibit 70.27 to Annual
Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 and incorporated herein by
reference).

10.23 Long Term Incerttive PIan. (fiIed as Exhibit 10.31 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the
year ended September 30,7997 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.24 Amendment No. 1999-1 to Long Term Incentive Ptan (fited as Exhibit 10.32 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes
Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.25 1998 Employee Stock Option Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.33 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K

for the year ended December 31, 1998 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.26 Amendment No. 7999-7 to 1998 Employee Stock 0ption H.an (fited as Exhibit 10.34 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes

Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.27 Form of Credit Agreement, dated as of 0ctober 1, 1998, among Baker Hughes Incorporated and fourteen banks for
$750,000,000, in the aggregate for all banks (fited as Exhibit 10.35 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.28 Form of Credit Agreement dated as of 0ctober 1, 1998 among Baker Hughes Incorporated and fourteen banks for
$250,000,000, in the aggregate for all banks (fited as Exhibit 10.36 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 anil incorporated herein by reference).
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10.29 Form of First Amendment of Credit Agreement dated as of Septernber 29, 7999 among Baker Hughes Ineorporated and
fourteen banks for $250,000,000, in the aggregate for att banks.

10.30 Form ofNonqualified Stock 0ption Agreement for emptoyees effective February 3, 2000.

10.31 Form of Nonquatified Stock Option Agreement for employees effective January 26, 2OOO.

10.32 Form of Nonqualifietl Stock Option Agreement for executive officers effective October 1, 1998 (filed as Etftibit 10.37 to
Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 and incorporated
herein by reference).

10.33 Form of Nonqualified Stock 0ption Agreement for emptoyees effective 0ctober 1, 1998 (fited as Exhibit 10.38 to
Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 and incorporated
herein by reference).

10.34 Form ofNonqualified Stock 0ption Agreement for executive officers effective 0ctober 1, 1998 (fited as Exhibit 10.39 to
Annual Report ofBaker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended Decernber 31, 1998 and incorporated
herein by reference).

10.35 Form of Incentive Stock 0ption Agreement for executive officers effective 0ctober 1, 1998 (fiIed as Exhibit 10.40 to
Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 and incorporated
herein by reference).

10.36 Form ofNonqualified Stock 0ption Agreement for directors effective October 25,7995 (filed as Exhibit 10.16 to
Annual Report of Baler Hughes Incorporated on Forrn 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1996 and incorporated
herein by reference).

10.37 Form ofNonquatified Stock 0ption Agreement for employees effective 0ctober 25, 1995 (fited as Exhibit 10.16 to
Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1996 and incorporated
herein by reference).

10.38 Form oflncentive Stock Option Agreement for employees effective October 25, 7995 (filed as Exhibit 10.16 to Annual
Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-R for the year ended September 30, 1996 and incorporated herein
by reference).

10.39 Agreement and Ptan of Merger among Baker Hughes Incorporated, Baker Hughes Missouri, Inc., Baker Hughes
Delaware, Inc., Petrolite Corporation and Wm. S. Barnickel & Company, dated as ofFebruary 25,7997 (filed as Exhibit
2.1 to Form 8-K dated March 5, 1997 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.40 Agreement and Plan of Merger among Baker Hughes Incorporated, Baker Hughes Detaware I, Inc. and Western Atlas Inc.
dated as of May 10, 1998 (fited as Exhibit 2.1 to Form 8-K dated May 20, 1998 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.41 Tax Sharing Agreement dated October37,7997, betweenWesternAtlas Inc. and IIN0VA, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.19 to
Western Atlas Inc.'s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1997 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.42 Emptoyee Beaefits Agreement dated 0ctober 37, 7997, between Vfestern Atlas Inc. and t N0VA, Inc. (fiIed as Exhibit 10.21

to Western Atlas Inc.'s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septemb er 30, 7997 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.43 Corporate Executive Loan Program (fiIed as Exhibit 10.50 to Annual Report of Baker Hughes Incorporated on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 1998 and incorporated herein by reference)

27.7 Subsidiaries of Regishant

23.7 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

27.7 Financial Data Schedule (for SEC purposes only)

(b) Reports on Form 8-K:

None.
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STGNATTIRES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has

duly caused this report to be signed on its behaU by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on the 16th day of March, 2000.

BAIGR HUGHES INCORPORATED

By /s/ JOE B. F0STER

(Joe B. Foster, Chief Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behaU ofthe registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Siqnature

/s/ J0E B. F0STER

(Joe B. Foster)

/s/ G.s. FINLEY

(G. S. Fintey)

/s/ A,J.!JN J.IGIFER
(Alan J. Keifer)

/s/ LESTER M. ALBERTHAL, JR.

Lester M. Atberthal, Jr.)

/s/ VICT0R G. BEGHIM
(Victor G. Beghini)

/s/ JOSEPH T. CASEY

(Joseph T. Casey)

TitLe

Chairman ofthe Board, President
and Chief Executive 0fficer
(principal executive officer)

Senior Vice President -
Finance and Administration
and Chief Financial 0fficer
(principat financial officer)

Vice President and Controlter
(principat accounting officer)

Director

Director

Director

Date

March 16, 2000

March 16, 2000

March 16, 2000

March 16, 2000

March 16, 2000

March 16, 2000
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/s/ EINICE M. EILIER Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

March 16, 2000

March 16, 2000

March 16, 2000

March 16, 2000

March 16, 2000

March 16, 2000

March 16, 2000

(Eunice M. Filter)

/s/ CLAIRE w. GARGAIII
(Ctaire W. Gargatti)

/sl RICHARD D. KINDER
(Richard D. Kinder)

/s/ JAMES F. MCCALL

(James F. McCall)

/s/ H. J0HN RILEY, JR.
(H. John Ritey, Jr.)

/s/ CHARLES L. WATSON

(Chartes L. Watson)

/s/ MALP. WATSON, JR.
(Max P. Watson, Jr.)

64



BAKER IIUGIIES TNCORPORAIED

SCHEDULE II - VALUATION AND QUAIIMNG ACCOUI.ITS

(In miltions)

Batance at
Beginning of

Period

Chuged to
Cost and
Expenses

Chuged to
fther

Accounts Deductions

Balance at
End of
Period

Year ended December 31, 1999:

Reserve for doubfful accounts receivabte
Reserve for inventories

Year ended December 31, 1998:

Reserve for doubfful accounts receivabte
Resenre for inventories

three months ended December 37,1997:
Reserve for doubtfr.rl accounts receivable
Reserve for inventories

Year ended September 30,7997:
Reserve for doubtfirt accounts receivable
Reserve for inventories

2.0
10.6

1.6

4.6

(2.2)
(7.0)

$ 46.4

216.0

50.1
740.9

48.7

732.7

40.7

720.5

$ 22.4
30.3

74.4

153.1

22.9
39.3

(18.1)
(78.0)

$ s2.6
768.7

46.4

276.0

50.1
740.9

48.7

732.7

$ (16

(77
$ 2

6

1.9

7.7

(16.2)
(28.8)
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Joe B. foster
Chairman, President and

Chief Executive 0fficer

Lester M. Alberthal, Jr.
Retired Chairman ofthe Board,

EDS

Transfer Agent and Registrar
ChaseMelon Sharehotder Services, L.L.C

85 Challenger Road

Ridgefietd Park, New Jersey 07660

1 (888) 216-8057G. Stephen Finley
Senior Vice President,
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and Chief Financial 0fficer

Victor G. Beghini
Retired Vice Chairman,

Marathon Group, USX Corporation
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Marathon Oil Company
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Houston, Texas

Andrew J. Szescila
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President, Baker Hughes

0ilfield 0perations

Joseph T. Casey

Retired Vice Chairman

and Chief Financial 0fficer,
Western Atlas Inc.

Ticker Symbol "BHI"
NewYork Stock Exchange, Inc.
Pacific Exchange, Inc.
The Swiss Stock ExchangeDouglas C. Doty
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Director Investor Relations
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P.0. Box 4740

Houston, Texas 7 7 210-47 40
gary.fl aharty@bakerhughes. com

Alan J. Keifer
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Additional copies ofthe Company's Annual
Report to the Securities and Exchange

Commission (Fom 10-K) are avaitabte by
writing to Baker Hughes Investor
Relations.
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Houston, Texas.

!,t. Glen Bassett
Vice President and President,
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Chief Executive Officer.
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